e-ISSN: 2149-3189 Volume 1 Issue 3 November 2015 http://www.eurj.org

The European Research Journal







1- Tissue eosinophilia: a histopathological marker associated with stromal invasion but not histopathological grade in cutaneous squamous neoplasia

- 2- Training to prevent healthcare associated infections
- 3- Relationship between fibroblast growth factor and

arrhythmogenesis in normotensive patients with polycystic kidney disease

4- Evaluation of healthcare providers' approach towards pandemic influenza and their vaccination ratio

5- Diabetic foot infections: effective microorganisms and factors affecting the frequency of osteomyelitis and amputation

6- Relationship between internet addiction, psychopathology and self-esteem among university students

7- Evaluation of headache in children: a retrospective study

8- Nora's disease: a series of six cases

9- Surgical removal of an embolized Amplatzer septal occluder device from the right ventricle

10- Conglutinatio cervicis ut<mark>eri orifici externi: a rare disorder of</mark> uterine cervix

- 11- West syndrome and autism: a case report
- 12- Spontaneous ejaculation; caused by venlafaxine, reverted by mirtazapine

13- Fifteen-year treatment of metastatic thyroid medullary carcinoma: a case report

14- Popliteal artery injury due to blunt trauma: delayed diagnosis and treatment

The Association of Health Research & Strategy | www.eurj.org

The European Research Journal

Editorial Board

OWNER

The Association of Health Research & Strategy

EDITOR -IN-CHIEF

Rustem ASKIN, MD Professor & Chairman, Department of Psychiatry Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Reseach Hospital Head of Bursa Association of Public Hospitals Bursa, Turkey

ASSOCIATE EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Senol YAVUZ, MD Associate Professor & Chairman, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital Bursa, Turkey

ASSOCIATE EDITORS

Davut AKDUMAN, MD Evren DILEKTASLI, MD Hakan DEMIRCI, MD Ibrahim TAYMUR, MD Nizameddin KOCA, MD Rahmi DUMAN, MD Soner CANDER, MD Cuma Bulent GUL, MD

ASSISTANT EDITOR & WEB DESIGN

Riza EROKSUZ, MD

BIOSTATISTIC EDITOR

Gokhan OCAKOGLU, PD

LANGUAGE EDITOR

Nazmi ZENGIN

Contact Information The European Research Journal (EuRJ) Bursa Association of Public Hospitals 75. Yil Bulvari, Park Caddesi, No:1 Nilufer/BURSA -TURKEY

Tel: +90(224) 600 33 98 / 99

e-mail: info@eurj.org web: http://www.eurj.org

The Association of Health Research & Strategy

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Original Articles

Tissue eosinophilia: a histopathological marker associated with stromal invasion but not histopathological grade in cutaneous squamous neoplasia <i>Nilay Duman, Nilay Sen Korkmaz, Zafer Erol</i>	88-93
Training to prevent healthcare associated infections Nebahat Dikici, Onur Ural, Fadime Ertap, Sua Sumer, Fatih Kara	94-105
Relationship between fibroblast growth factor and arrhythmogenesis in normotensive patients with polycystic kidney disease <i>Kemal Karaagac, Abdulmecit Yildiz, Osman Can Yontar, Erhan Tenekecioglu, Fahriye Vatansever, Mehmet Demir</i>	106-112
Evaluation of healthcare providers' approach towards pandemic influenza and their vaccination ratio Ali Asan, Sukran Kose, Suzan Sacar, Yusuf Polat, Dogac Ugurcan, Binali Catak, Huseyin Turgut	113-118
Diabetic foot infections: effective microorganisms and factors affecting the frequency of osteomyelitis and amputation <i>Meliha Cagla Sonmezer, Necla Tulek, Metin Ozsoy, Fatma Erdinc, Gunay Ertem</i>	119-127
Relationship between internet addiction, psychopathology and self-esteem among university students <i>Ersin Budak, Ibrahim Taymur, Rustem Askin, Buket Belkiz Gungor, Hakan Demirci, Almila Ikra Akgul, Zeynep Anil Sahin</i>	128-135
Evaluation of headache in children: a retrospective study Arzu Ekici, Sevgi Yimenicioglu, Kursat Bora Carman, Ozan Kocak, Coskun Yarar, Ayten Yakut	136-140
Nora's disease: a series of six cases Mahmut Kalem, Ercan Sahin, Kerem Basarir, Huseyin Yusuf Yildiz, Yavuz Yener Saglik	141-145
Case Reports	
Surgical removal of an embolized Amplatzer septal occluder device from the right ventricle <i>Faruk Toktas, Kadir Kaan Ozsin, Emre Kaymakci, Senol Yavuz</i>	146-150
Conglutinatio cervicis uteri orifici externi: a rare disorder of uterine cervix Safak Hatirnaz	151-153
West syndrome and autism: a case report Emel Sari Gokten, Nagihan Duman	154-156
Spontaneous ejaculation; caused by venlafaxine, reverted by mirtazapine <i>Mehmet Akif Camkurt</i>	157-159
Fifteen-year treatment of metastatic thyroid medullary carcinoma: a case report Ozen Oz Gul, Soner Cander, Pinar Sisman, Erdinc Erturk, Canan Ersoy	160-164
Popliteal artery injury due to blunt trauma: delayed diagnosis and treatment Deniz Demir; Mustafa Abanoz, Kadir Ceviker; Yalcin Yontar, Burak Erdolu, Nail Kahraman	165-168



The European Research Journal Original Article

http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.88

Tissue eosinophilia: a histopathological marker associated with stromal invasion but not histopathological grade in cutaneous squamous neoplasia

Nilay Duman¹, Nilay Sen Korkmaz², Zafer Erol²

¹Department of Dermatology, Afyon Kocatepe University, School of Medicine, Afyonkarahisar, Turkey ²Department of Pathology, Afyonkarahisar State Hospital, Afyonkarahisar, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. The literature does not include any comparative study on the eosinophil count in premalignant and malignant cutaneous squamous neoplasias. Our aim was to compare the tissue eosinophilic count in actinic keratosis (AK) and cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (SCC). **Methods.** The study included 20 AK and 20 invasive SCC patients. Age, gender, and lesion location were retrospectively evaluated as clinical parameters. Histopathological parameters included density of inflammation score, lesion grade, and the lesion-associated eosinophil count per 10 high-power ($40\times$) microscopic fields, all of which were compared between groups. **Results.** In all, 65% of the AK group had lesions with moderate inflammation, whereas 85% of the SCC group had lesions with dense inflammation (p=0.001). The mean eosinophil count in the SCC group was significantly higher than that in the AK group, independent of the density of inflammation (p=0.000). In addition, lesion grade was not associated with the eosinophil count in either group (AK group: p=0.601; SCC group: p=0.416). **Conclusions.** Cutaneous SCC lesions had higher eosinophil counts than AK lesions, indicating the role of the eosinophil count as a histopathological marker of stromal invasion.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3):88-93

Keywords: Eosinophilia; actinic keratosis; squamous cell carcinoma; invasion

Introduction

Tumor-associated tissue eosinophilia was first described in 1896 in cervical carcinoma and is defined as eosinophilic infiltration in a tumor that is not associated with necrosis or ulceration. Its functional role remains unclear [1]. Eosinophilic infiltration has been reported in carcinomas located in the oral cavity, larynx, pharynx, gastrointestinal tract, lungs, cervix, and external genitalia; however, the literature includes limited data on eosinophilic infiltration in cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) [1, 2].

Address for correspondence:

Nilay Duman MD, Department of Dermatology, Afyon Kocatepe University, School of Medicine, Afyonkarahisar, Turkey Email: nilybayram@hotmail.com Received: 25.02.2015; Accepted: 12.04.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015

Currently, it is thought that cutaneous SCC manifests as a spectrum, ranging from precursor actinic keratosis (AK) to SCC in situ (SCCIS), invasive SCC, and metastatic SCC [3]. Very few studies have evaluated the role of eosinophils in such premalignancies as oral leukoplakia, and larvngeal, vulvar, and cervical carcinoma in situ, and it has been suggested that an elevated tissue eosinophilia count is a histopathological marker of stromal invasion; however, to the best of our knowledge no study has compared the eosinophil count in AK and invasive cutaneous SCC [1]. As such, the present study aimed to evaluate the eosinophil count in different grades of AK and SCC, and to elucidate the role of the eosinophil count as a histopathological marker of lesion grade and/or stromal invasion in cutaneous squamous neoplasias.

Methods

The study included 20 histopathologically proven AK patients and 20 histopathologically proven invasive cutaneous SCC patients that were diagnosed between January 2013 and March 2014. Clinical data were obtained from pathology reports and included age, gender, and lesion location. Lesion locations were grouped as follows: scalp, forehead, periorbital region, malar region, ear, nose, and other regions (neck, trunk, and extremity). Histopathological parameters were determined via hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) stained sections that were microscopically re-examined. Diagnosis, lesionassociated inflammation, and lesion grade were evaluated as histopathological parameters, and the number of eosinophils was enumerated. As lesionassociated inflammation, in SCC; perilesional stromal inflammation and in AK; dermal inflammation underlying the lesion was evaluated.

The density of inflammation was scored, as follows:

• 0: no inflammation;

• 1: mild inflammation; scattered clusters of inflammatory infiltrate involving < 25% of the lesion;

• 2: moderate inflammation; inflammatory infiltrate involving 25%-75% of the lesion;

• 3: dense inflammation; thick clusters or sheets of inflammatory infiltrate involving > 75% of the lesion.

To minimize interobserver variability standard grading systems were used and lesion grading was based on the agreement of 2 of 3 observers. For dysplasia grading of AK lesions a 3-tiered classification scheme proposed by Cockerell et al. was used, and the lesions were subgrouped as AK-I, AK-II, and AK-III [4]. AK-I was defined as cellular atypia of basal and suprabasal keratinocytes confined to the lower 1/3 of the epidermis. AK-II was defined as atypia involving the lower 2/3 of the epidermis, and AK-III represented carcinoma in situ with full thickness atypia involving the epidermis.

Broder's classification was used to grade SCC and lesions were graded on the basis of the degree of differentiation and keratinization [5]. SCCs were graded, as follows:

• Grade I: Well-differentiated lesion; 75%-100% of cells are differentiated.

• Grade II: Moderately differentiated lesion; 50%-75% of cells are differentiated.

• Grade III: Poorly differentiated lesion; 25%-50% of cells are differentiated.

• Grade IV: Anaplastic lesion; 0%-25% of cells are differentiated.

Eosinophils were enumerated under high-power (40×) microscopic fields in regions with lesionassociated inflammation. A high-power field (HPF) with the maximum number of eosinophils was identified first, and then eosinophils in that field and in 9 adjacent contiguous HPFs were enumerated and recorded as eosinophils10 HPFs-1. Areas of necrosis or ulceration were not included. Only intact nucleated cells with intense red granules in cytoplasm were accepted as eosinophils-eosinophils in lymphovascular spaces were not included. In addition, the eosinophil counts in the AK and SCC groups were compared, and the effect of density of inflammation on differences in the count was determined. Furthermore, the association between lesion grade and the eosinophil count was evaluated in both groups. The study has been carried out in accordance with Declaration of Helsinki and research protocol was approved by Institutional Review Board.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS v.18.0 for Windows (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Continuous variables are presented as mean \pm SD, and categorical variables as frequency and percentage. The chi-square test was used to determine associations between categorical variables. The normality of the distribution of numeric variables was evaluated using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. For normally distributed variables between-group differences were determined using the independent samples t-test, and the Mann-Whitney U test was used for variables not distributed normally. Eosinophil counts were categorized as < 10 eosinophils 10 HPFs-1 and > 10 eosinophils 10 HPFs-1. To compare eosinophil counts

according to lesion grade AK lesions were grouped as AK-I and AK-II + AK-III, and SCC lesions were grouped as SCC-I and SCC-II + SCC-III due to the small number of samples. In addition, the eosinophil counts in AK-II/III lesions and SCC grade I-IV lesions were compared. The association between the eosinophil count and the density of inflammation in each group was evaluated using Spearman's correlation coefficient. Linear regression was performed to identify the effect of the density of inflammation on the difference in the eosinophil count between the AK and SCC groups. The level of statistical significance was set at p=0.05.

Feature	AK (n=20)	SCC (n=20)	р
Mean±SD age (years)	59.5±15.3	68.4±10.5	0.038
Gender (female/male) (%)	10/10 (50/50)	2/18 (10/90)	0.014
Lesion Location (%)			
Malar	4 (20)	5 (25)	
Periorbital	3 (15)	3 (15)	
Ear	3 (15)	4 (20)	
Nose	2 (10)	5 (25)	0.756
Forehead	3 (10)	1 (5)	
Scalp	2 (10)	1 (5)	
The other	3 (15)	1 (5)	
Density of Inflammation (%)			
Mild	0 (0)	1 (5)	
Moderate	13 (65)	2 (10)	0.001
Dense	7 (35)	17 (85)	
Mean±SD Eosinophil Count	2±1.6	45±26.3	<0.001
Eosinophils 10 HPFs-1 (%)			
< 10 eosinophils 10 HPFs ⁻ 1	20 (100)	0 (0)	<0.001
< 10 eosinophils 10 HPFs⁻1	0 (0)	20 (100)	

Table 1. Comparison of the clinical and histopathological features in the AK and SCC groups.

Bold *p* value denotes significant difference (p < 0.05).

Group (n)	Mean±SD Eosinophil Count	р
AK (n=20) SCC (n=20)	$2\pm 1.6 \\ 45\pm 26.3$	<0.001
AK-II/III (n=11) SCC (n=20)	2.18 ± 1.8 45 ± 26.3	<0.001
AK-I (n=9) AK-II/III (n=11)	$1.78{\pm}1.48$ $2.18{\pm}1.8$	0.601
SCC-I (n=8) SCC-II/III (n=12)	39±27.5 49.1±25.9	0.416

Table 2. Comparison of the eosinophil count, according to group and histological grade.

Bold p values denote significant difference (p < 0.05).

Results

The study included 20 AK patients and 20 invasive cutaneous SCC patients. In the AK group the female-male ratio was 10:10, whereas in the SCC group, 18 (90%) of the patients were male (p=0.014). Mean age in the AK group was 59.5±15.3 years, versus 68.4±10.5 years in SCC group (p=0.038).

Lesions in the AK group were located, as follows: malar region (n=4, 20%), periorbital region (n=3, 15%), forehead (n=3, 15%), ear (n=3, 15%), nose (n=2, 10%), scalp (n=2, 10%), and other regions (n=3, 15%). Lesions in the SCC group were located, as follows: malar region (n=5, 25%), nose (n=5, 25%), ear (n=4, 20%), periorbital region (n=3, 15%), forehead (n=1, 5%), scalp (n=1, 5%), and other regions (n=1, 5%). The distribution of lesion location did not differ significantly between the 2 groups (p=0.756).

In 13 (65%) of the AK group lesions exhibited moderate inflammation, whereas in 17 (85%) of the SCC group lesions exhibited dense inflammation (*p*=0.001).The eosinophil count in all the lesions in the AK group was < 10 eosinophils10 HPFs-1, versus \geq 10 eosinophils 10 HPFs-1 in the SCC group (*p*<0.001). Furthermore, the mean eosinophil count 10 HPFs-1 was 2±1.6 in the AK group, versus 45±26.3 in the SCC group, and the difference was significant (*p*<0.001); when the effect of the density of inflammation was adjusted for, the difference remained significant (p<0.001). In the AK group the density of inflammation and the eosinophil count were not correlated, whereas in the SCC group there was a moderate positive correlation between the density of inflammation and the eosinophil count (Spearman's correlation coefficient: 0.58; p= 0.007). In the AK group histopathological grade of the lesions was, as follows: AK-I in 9 (45%); AK-II in 10 (50%); AK-III/SSCI in 1 (5%) lesions. In the SCC group histopathological grade of the lesions well differentiated/grade I in 8 (40%); moderately differentiated/grade II in 11 (55%): poorly differentiated/grade III in 1 (5%) lesions.

The mean eosinophil count 10 HPFs-1 in AK-I, II and III lesions was 1.78 ± 1.48 , 1.8 ± 1.4 , and 6, respectively. The mean eosinophil count 10 HPFs-1 in AK-I and AK-II/AKIII lesions did not differ significantly (1.78 ± 1.48 vs. 2.18 ± 1.8 , p=0.601). The mean eosinophil count 10 HPFs-1 in SCC-I, II and III lesions was 39 ± 27.5 , 42.8 ± 14.8 , and 118, respectively. The mean eosinophil count 10 HPFs-1 in SCC-I and SCC-II/III lesions did not differ significantly (39 ± 27.5 vs. 49.1 ± 25.9 , p=0.416). Additionally, the mean eosinophil count 10 HPFs-1 in AK-II/AK-III and SCC lesions differed significantly (2.18 ± 1.8 vs. 45 ± 26.3 , p<0.001).

A detailed comparison between the AK and SCC groups is shown in Table 1, and a comparison of the eosinophil count between the various lesion grades and the 2 groups is shown in Table 2.

Discussion

The literature includes limited data on eosinophilic infiltration in cutaneous SCC. In 1984, Lowe *et al.* published a study on tissue eosinophilia in keratoacanthoma (benign category), and early and late stage cutaneous SCC [6]. They suggested that lesions are more likely to be malignant when there is tissue eosinophilia, and recommended that eosinophilic infiltration be added to the criteria for differentiating the 2 types of lesions.

The role of eosinophils in premalignancies has been examined in a few studies; however, none included cutaneous pre-invasive neoplasias. In 2002 Spiegel et al. reported that eosinophils may be used as a marker of invasion in cervical squamous neoplasias and recommended that ≥ 5 eosinophils HPF-1 and/or \geq 10 eosinophils10 HPFs-1 in biopsy specimens should prompt a search for focal invasion in patients with high-grade intraepithelial neoplasia [7]. Agarwal et al. [8] reported findings similar to those of Spiegel et al. and suggested that the presence of stromal eosinophils should result in a search for invasion in deeper sections in lesions of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia II and III Alrawi et al. [2] reported higher eosinophilic counts in laryngeal SCC lesions than in SCCIS, concluding that tissue eosinophilia might be a pathological feature associated with stromal invasion. Similarly, Said et al. [9] reported that an elevated eosinophil count in squamous neoplasia of the larynx is associated with stromal invasion, and recommended a thorough search for invasion when the number of infiltrating eosinophils is > 10 eosinophils HPF-1 and/or 20 eosinophils 10 HPFs-1. More recently, Jain et al. [1] observed higher eosinophil counts in oral SCC than those in oral dysplasia, suggesting they play a role in stromal invasion. In addition, they recommended that determination of the eosinophil count should be included in the routine histopathological evaluation of oral precancer and SCC.

As previously reported, in the present study the eosinophil count was higher in patients with invasive cutaneous SCC than in those with AK. Furthermore, the difference in the eosinophil count remained significant when it was compared between the SCC group and AKII/III lesions. In all the patients in the AK group-including 1 with SCCIS-the eosinophil count in all the lesions was < 10 eosinophils 10 HPFs-1, whereas in the SCC group the eosinophil count was > 10 eosinophils 10 HPFs-1 in all the lesions. As such, we recommend-as did Spiegel et al.-that an eosinophil count > 10 eosinophils 10 HPFs-1 should prompt a search for invasion, especially in patients in which differentiating between pre-invasive neoplasia and invasive SCC is difficult [7].

In the present study, an evaluation of the relationship between the eosinophil count and AK lesion grade showed that they weren't strongly correlated. To the best of our knowledge, there is only one study that examined the relationship between dysplasia grade and the eosinophil count in patients with premalignancies [1]. In the present study there were not any significant differences in the eosinophil count according to dysplasia grade confirming that study.

The present study also evaluated the relationship between SCC grade and the eosinophil count, but the eosinophil count did not differ significantly according to SCC grade. The relation between SCC grade and the eosinophil count remains contentious; in some earlier studies an elevated eosinophil count was associated with non-keratinizing carcinomas [10, 11], whereas in others there wasn't a significant difference between keratinizing and non-keratinizing carcinomas [7]. In a more recent study Joshi *et al.* [12] reported that there was not a correlation between different grades of oral SCC and eosinophilic infiltration, which is in agreement with the present findings.

Eosinophil counts might have been higher in the present study's SCC group because the density of inflammation was higher; most of the AK lesions had moderate inflammation, whereas inflammation was dense in most of the SCC lesions. In the AK group there wasn't a correlation between the density of inflammation and the eosinophil count, whereas in the SCC group there was a moderate positive correlation; however, when the effect of the density of inflammation on the eosinophil count was adjusted for via regression analysis the difference in the eosinophil count between the AK and SCC groups remained significant. In most of the earlier published studies the effect of the density of inflammation on the eosinophil count was not analyzed. Joshi *et al.* [12] suggested that there isn't an association between overall inflammatory response and the eosinophil count in their study on oral SCC, as all their patients had dense inflammation; however, they did not score the density of inflammation as in the present study, making a comparison of the findings difficult.

The mechanisms underlying eosinophilic accumulation in invasive SCC are not fully known [9]. It was suggested that lesion-derived eosinophil chemotactic factors induce eosinophilic infiltration.

Furthermore, lesion-associated eosinophils release eotaxin, which induces further eosinophil chemotaxis to the lesion. Similarly, mast cells in lesional infiltration release histamine and eosinophil chemoattractant factor, causing further eosinophil accumulation [1].

The functional role of eosinophils in stromal invasion is not known. Eosinophils produce several angiogeneic factors and may promote lesion angiogenesis [1, 13]. Furthermore, they can break down basement membrane and extracellular matrix via the release of several matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors [1]. The exact mechanisms by which eosinophils induce stromal invasion need to be elucidated via additional research.

The limitations of the present study are its retrospective design and the small number patients included.

In conclusion, the eosinophil count was higher in the patients with invasive cutaneous SCC than in those with AK. Additionally, lesion histological grade and the eosinophil count in the AK group and SCC group were not correlated. The present findings show that an elevated eosinophil count (especially ≥ 10 eosinophils 10 HPF-1) might be indicative of stromal invasion in cutaneous squamous neoplasias. As such, we think that quantitative evaluation of eosinophils should be included in routine histopathological examination of such lesions, and that additional sections should be obtained and examined thoroughly for focal invasion in pre-invasive cases with high eosinophilic infiltration.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Jain M, Kasetty S, Sudheendra US, Tijare M, Khan S, Desai A. Assessment of tissue eosinophilia as a prognosticator in oral epithelial dysplasia and oral squamous cell carcinoma-an image analysis study. Patholog Res Int. 2014;2014:507512.

[2] Alrawi SJ, Tan D, Stoler DL, Dayton M, Anderson GR, Mojica P, et al. Tissue eosinophilic infiltration: a useful marker for assessing stromal invasion, survival and locoregional recurrence in head and neck squamous neoplasia. Cancer J. 2005 May-Jun;11(3):217-25.
[3] Ratushny V, Gober MD, Hick R, Ridky TW, Seykora JT. From keratinocyte to cancer: the pathogenesis and modeling of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma. J Clin Invest. 2012 Feb;122(2):464-72.
[4] Cockerell CJ. Histopathology of incipient intraepidermal squamous cell carcinoma ("actinic keratosis"). J Am Acad Dermatol. 2000 Jan;42(1 Pt 2):11-7.

[5] Bhargava A, Saigal S, Chalishazar M. Histopathological grading systems in oral squamous cell carcinoma: a review. J Int Oral Health. 2010 Dec;2(4):1-10.

[6] Lowe D, Fletcher CD, Shaw MP, McKee PH. Eosinophil infiltration in keratoacanthoma and squamous cell carcinoma of the skin. Histopathology. 1984 Jul;8(4):619-25.

[7] Spiegel GW, Ashraf M, Brooks JJ. Eosinophils as a marker for invasion in cervical squamous neoplastic lesions. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2002 Apr;21(2):117-24.

[8] Agarwal S, Wadhwa N, Gupta G. Eosinophils as a marker for invasion in cervical squamous neoplastic lesions. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2003 Apr;22(2):213.

[9] Said M, Wiseman S, Yang J, Alrawi S, Douglas W, Cherey R, et al. Tissue eosinophilia: a morphologic marker for assessing stromal invasion in laryngeal squamous neoplasms. BMC Clin Pathol. 2005 Jan 7;5(1):1.

[10] Kapp DS, LiVolsi VA. Intense eosinophilic stromal infiltration incarcinoma of the uterine cervix: a clinicopathologic study of 14 cases. Gynecol Oncol. 1983 Aug;16(1):19-30.

[11] Lowe DG. Carcinoma of the cervix with massive eosinophilia.Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1988 Apr;95(4):393-401.

[12] Joshi PS, Kaijkar MS. A histochemical study of tissue eosinophilia in oral squamous cell carcinoma using Congo red staining. Dent Res J (Isfahan). 2013 Nov;10(6):784-9.
[13] Pereira MC, Oliveira DT, Kowalski LP. The role of eosinophils and eosinophil cationic protein in oral cancer: a review. Arch Oral Biol. 2011 Apr;56(4):353-8.



The European Research Journal Original Article

http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.94

Training to prevent healthcare associated infections

Nebahat Dikici¹, Onur Ural², Fadime Ertap³, Sua Sumer², Fatih Kara⁴

¹Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Bursa Cekirge State Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

²Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Selcuk University, Faculty of Selcuklu Medicine, Konya, Turkey

³Department of Infection Control Nurse, Selcuk University, Faculty of Selcuklu Medicine, Konya, Turkey

⁴Department of Public Health, Selcuk University, Faculty of Selcuklu Medicine, Konya, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. Aim of this study was to investigate pre-education information level, efficiency of training, persistence of acquired information, and factors affecting information level of recently employed nurses about healthcare associated infections. **Methods.** One hundred and thirty-two nurses who have just started work were trained about "healthcare associated infections and infection control measures". Tests were performed pre, post training and one year after training. Factors affecting test success were investigated. **Results.** Nurses who continued education after high school were more successful (p=0.002). Duration of work-hours, unit where they work and presence of previous training didn't affect test success (p=0.705, p=0.040, p=0.105; respectively). Test results were assessed over 100 points. Mean score before the training was 67.95±10.5 and it increased to 85.06±7.6 after the training (p=0.000). Mean test score at test repeated one year later was 80.04±8.77. Unit where they have worked during previous year, application of isolation in their unit and presence of training didn't affect general success in the test (p=0.344, p=0.316, p=0.259; respectively). **Conclusions.** Training programs using individualized, regularly repeated and approved training methods should be conducted in accordance with needs determined by these studies. Next target after knowledge increase will be reflection of this increase to daily practice and behaviour change.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3):94-105

Keywords: Healthcare associated infections; education; nurse

Introduction

Hospital infections which are commonly referred to as "Healthcare associated infections (HCAI)" recently are the most frequent complications in hospitalized patients [1]. HCAI is an important indicator of the quality in healthcare services and patient safety [2]. HCAI which increases length of hospitalisation, cost, morbidity and mortality is still observed amid improved healthcare [3-6]. At least one infection occurs in 5 to 10% of hospitalized patients [1-7]. Some of HCAIs occur due to transmission of pathogens by healthcare staff [3]. At least 20% of

Address for correspondence:

Nebahat Dikici MD, Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Bursa Cekirge State Hospital, Bursa, Turkey Email: nebahatdikici@yahoo.com Received: 12.03.2015; Accepted: 07.08.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015

HCAIs may be prevented by complying with infection control measures during daily activities in hospitals [8]. Therefore appropriate infection control measures should be applied to decrease HCAIs [3-9].

Training of healthcare staff about infection control measures are among basic preventions that should be used to decrease HCAI [10-12]. Lack of information about HCAI and infection control measures negatively affect the compliance with infection control measures [3, 4, 9, 13]. Inadequate placement of appropriate measures results in increased incidence of hospital infections [3]. Well-informed and skilled staff is required. To achieve this training is important. Training will also increase motivation of the employees and help them to work more efficiently [4]. Application of regular training programs and preparation of guidelines decrease HCAI incidence and healthcare costs [6, 10, 15-20].

Aim of this study was to investigate pre-education information level, efficiency of training, persistence of acquired information and factors affecting information level of recently employed nurses about HCAI.

Methods

In 2010 a training program was organized to 132 recently employed nurses about "HCAI and Infection Control Measures" under the scope of orientation to hospital. A questionnaire including demographic data, education level of participants, unit where they work and duration of workhours and whether they were trained about nosocomial infections was applied to participants (Appendix 1). A preliminary test including 30 questions about definition and prevention of HCAI, hand hygiene, use of gloves, blood borne diseases, hospital cleaning, disinfection and waste management was performed (Appendix 2). Knowledge level of participants about HCAI was evaluated. Efficiency of the training was also evaluated by performing a final test with same questionnaire applied after the training. One year after, same questionnaire was applied to 91 nurses who continued to work in our hospital and unit in which they have worked during

previous year, whether patient isolation was applied in their unit and whether they were trained about HCAI were noted (Appendix 3). By applying same questionnaire after a year, persistence of acquired information was investigated. Test success was assessed over 100 points.

Effects of education level, unit where participants have worked, length of their workhours and training of participants about nosocomial infections to success from the first test were determined. One year later, effect of education level, the unit where participants have worked during this period, whether patient isolation is applied in the unit of the participants, and whether they were trained during this period to the success of the test were investigated.

Statistical analysis

Data was computerized and preanalysis controls and groupings were performed. Wilcoxon Signed Ranks Test was used for repetitive measurements. Comparison of samples involving more than two groups was performed with Kruskal-Wallis analysis of variance. Significant parameters were also compared using Mann Whitney U test with Bonferroni correction. Comparison of two groups was performed with Mann Whitney U test. Significance level was accepted as p<0.05

Results

Totally 132 nurses including 37 males and 95 females with a mean age of 27.12 (19-42 years) were involved in training program. Among nurses who participated in training, 47 (35.6%) of them were high-school graduates, 85 (64.4%) of them had associate's graduate, bachelor or master's degree. Sixty-six (50%) nurses were working in patient follow-up clinics, 27 (29.5%) were working in ICU and 39 (20.5%) were working in other units. Professional experience of 132 nurses who participated in this study was as follows; 70 (53.0%) 1 to 5 years, 40 (30.3%) less than 1 year and 22 (16.7%) more than 5 years. Sixty-three (47.7%) nurses reported that they were previously trained about nosocomial infections.

Table 1. Test results before the training

	Score	General information	Hand hygiene	Gloves	Blood borne infection	Isolation measures	Invasive device	Cleaning	Waste management
General average	67.95	90.15	66.67	68.94	70.15	79.36	62.88	58.48	83.84
Education High school (n=47) Other*(n=85) <i>p</i> value	63.69 70.31 0.002	82.98 94.12 0.000	61.70 69.41 0.059	61.70 72.94 0.081	67.23 71.76 0.287	76.06 81.18 0.353	57.45 65.88 0.036	56.60 59.53 0.255	79.43 86.27 0.214
Experience Clinic (n=66) ICU (n=27) Other (n=39) <i>p</i> value	67.68 69.74 66.05 0.401	91.41 88.03 90.12 0.702	65.53 71.15 62.96 0.302	66.67 76.92 62.96 0.089	71.82 66.15 71.85 0.635	79.17 83.97 75.00 0.277	62.12 70.51 53.70 0.005	57.88 57.95 60.74 0.532	82.32 85.47 85.19 0.756
Period < 1 year (n=40) 1-5 years (n=70) >5 years (n=22) <i>p</i> value	67.67 68.48 66.82 0.705	92.50 88.10 92.42 0.455	61.87 70.71 62.50 0.059	76.25 68.57 56.82 0.092	68.50 71.43 69.09 0.802	80.63 79.29 77.27 0.910	60.63 63.57 64.77 0.669	59.50 57.71 59.09 0.861	82.50 84.29 84.85 0.660
Previous Training Yes (n=63) No (n=69) <i>p</i> value	69.10 66.91 0.105	91.53 88.89 0.168	71.03 62.68 0.208	73.02 65.22 0.312	72.70 67.83 0.227	78.97 79.71 0.191	64.29 61.59 0.210	55.87 60.87 0.170	84.13 83.57 0.207

* Associate's graduate, bachelor or master's degree

Mean score in pre-training test was 67.95 ± 10.5 . Effects of previous training and education level, the unit where participants work, length of their workhours and whether they were previously trained about nosocomial infections to the test success were summarized in Table 1. Mean score in post-training test increased to 85.06 ± 7.6 .

Same test was was applied for the third time to 91 nurses who continued to work in our hospital (132 nurses answered first test). Mean score from this test was 80.04 ± 8.77 . Among nurses who were tested for third time, 34 (37.4%) were high-school graduates, 57 (62.6%) had associate's graduate, bachelor or master's degree. During previous year 51 (56.0%) nurses worked in in-patient clinics, 26 (28.6%) worked

in ICU and 14 (15.4%) worked in other units; patient isolation was applied in units of 63 (69.2%) nurses and 64 (70.3%) were trained about nosocomial infections during surveillance efforts. Contact isolation was applied to all isolated patients and additionally 3 of them were subject to droplet isolation.

Effects of patient isolation, HCAI training and education level to success from the third test were summarized in Table 2.

Mean scores in 3 tests are shown in Figure 1. Comparison of pre-training test result with post training test result and 1st year test result with pre and post training test results are summarized in Table 3.

Table 2. Results of the third test

	Score	General information	Hand hygiene	Gloves	Blood borne infection	Isolation measures	Invasive device	Cleaning	Waste management
General average	80.04	94.51	77.75	76.37	79.56	84.89	75.27	64.84	97.07
Education High school (n=34) Other* (n=57) <i>p</i> value Experience Clinic (n=51) ICU (n=26) Other (n=14)	75.78 82.57 0.001 78.63 82.31 80.95	 89.22 97.66 0.002 92.81 96.15 97.62 	69.12 82.89 0.010 78.43 74.04 82.14	70.59 79.82 0.152 77.45 86.54 53.57	77.65 80.70 0.598 78.04 82.31 80.00	79.41 88.16 0.026 82.35 88.46 87.50	74.26 75.88 0.885 72.06 81.73 75.00	58.24 68.77 0.003 63.53 63.85 71.43	98.04 96.49 0.210 95.42 100.00 97.62
<i>p</i> value	0.344	0.320	0.526	0.001	0.642	0.356	0.202	0.267	0.188
Isolated patient (follow- up) Yes (n=63) No (n=28) <i>p</i> value	68.73 70.12 0.316	93.65 89.29 0.325	77.38 78.57 0.809	81.75 64.29 0.003	80.32 77.86 0.731	85.32 83.93 0.448	76.19 73.21 0.685	63.49 67.86 0.297	96.83 97.62 0.882
Training Yes (n=64) No (n=27) <i>p</i> value	81.09 77.53 0.259	94.79 93.83 0.735	77.73 77.78 0.803	79.69 68.52 0.110	80.94 76.30 0.423	87.50 78.70 0.022	76.17 73.15 0.741	65.00 64.44 0.869	97.92 95.06 0.408

* Associate's graduate, bachelor or master's degree

	Score	General information	Hand hygiene	Gloves	Blood borne infection	lsolation measures	Invasive device	Cleaning	Waste management
12. test <i>p</i> value	0.000	0.067	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.038	0.000	0.000	0.000
13. test <i>p</i> value	0.000	0.157	0.002	0.035	0.002	0.115	0.000	0.063	0.000
23. test <i>p</i> value	0.000	0.670	0.004	0.003	0.000	0.730	0.000	0.080	0.796

Table 3. Statistical comparison of the tests performed before, after and 1 year after the training.

Discussion

Infection control trainings are difficult and time consuming. Therefore every opportunity should be used to get the highest efficiency from trainings. Training programs should be individualized according to the group of healthcare staff [12]. Participation of all healthcare staff and hospital companions in infection control measures should be provided [2, 9, 21]. Nurses who have the closest contact with the patient play an important role in application of infection control measures. Therefore it is important to increase knowledge level of nurses about HCAIs and improve their attitudes and behaviours. This will be possible with in-house trainings [9-11, 22, 23]. Most of the nurses reported in questionnaires that they want to improve their knowledge level and trainings have increased their interest to work [14, 22]. Nurses request that training programs should be organized to complete their knowledge deficiencies, should include professional developments, and training topics should be determined taking into account opinions of participants [14]. We organized our training program, chose topics and test questions considering knowledge and practice deficiencies detected during surveillance studies. Our purpose was to convey information about determined topics in the light of up to date and scientific data.

It is difficult to determine the most efficient training model to prevent HCAIs [10]. Video images, oral presentations, brochures, infection control bulletins, user guides and electronic media are among tools that may be used during training studies [2, 9, 13, 24]. Our training program involved seminars in which visual materials were also used.

Mean age of the nurses participated in our training program was 27.12 (19-42 years) and professional experience of 83.3% (n=110) were less than 5 years.

We can say that we had a young nurse group. Some studies investigating relation between professional experience and knowledge, attitude, and behavioural compliance of nurses detected a positive correlation [2, 3, 9]. Yamazhan et al. [21] in their studies where they have measured knowledge levels of cleaning personnel, has not detected any correlation between professional experience and knowledge level. In our study there wasn't a significant difference between professional experience and success in prepost training tests and 1st year test. No statistically



Figure 1. Comparison of test scores

significant difference was observed between professional experience and success from the test (p=0.401). Our nurses were recently employed and they had achieved professional experience in different organizations and working conditions. Therefore they didn't have same knowledge background. In previous studies a significant relation between education level of the nurses and their knowledge level about infection control measures was observed [2-22]. From our nurses who participated in the training 47 (35.6%) were high school graduates, 85 (64.4%) had associate degree, bachelor degree or master degree after the high school. Among nurses who were tested third time, 34 (37.4%) were highschool graduates, 57 (62.6%) had associate's graduate, bachelor or master's degree. Nurses who continued education after high school were more successful on all 3 tests performed before the training, after the training and at 1st year (p=0.002, p=0.001, p=0.001; respectively).

In studies using questionnaires, nurses who were trained about HCAIs were better in awareness of nosocomial infections and compliance with nosocomial infection control measures [2, 4, 9, 25]. In Indonesia, McDermott et al. [26] investigated effect of previous training of midwifes in their practices related with delivery. Success of midwives were 71% in those who have taken in-service training, 62% in those who have taken an internship program and 51% in those who were not trained at all. Studies suggest giving occupational information to the employees through intensive training programs [2, 4, 9, 25]. However, Yamazhan et al. [21] found no effect of previous training on knowledge level of cleaning personnel. They suggested that inadequacy or discontinuity of training might be the cause. Sixty three (47.7%) nurses who participated in our training reported that they were previously trained about nosocomial infections. Although test success of the group previously trained was higher, this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.105) (Table 4). Our nurses came to our hospital after working in different institutions. We didn't have sufficient information about content and form of their previous trainings other than their personal accounts. Parameters we have measured might not include topics they have trained before.

In literature, target group in most training studies

performed to prevent HCAIs were intensive care unit staff [6, 10, 14-16, 25]. However considerable part of HCAIs appear in general hospital units and units where long term care is provided. There are only a few studies which determine effect of trainings to the employees who work in these units [10]. We planned to train nurses working in all units. Among nurses who participated in training, 66 (50%) were working in in-patient clinics, 27 (29.5%) were working in ICU and 39 (20.5%) were working in other units. No statistically significant difference was observed on general success from the test between ICU staff, inpatient clinic staff and other units' staff (p=0.401). Nurses having ICU experience were more successful on questions about invasive devices and waste management than nurses who do not have ICU experience in the first test (p=0.005). Nurses with ICU experience were more successful in questions related with waste management in the second test than those who work in other units. Although general success was similar, observing a difference in more specific practices show that working areas affect knowledge level.

In Taiwan, Lin et al. [2] trained patient companions and non-relative caregivers about HCAI. Awareness of participants about infection control measures showed a statistically significant increase after training. Suchitra et al. [3] Detected a significant difference in correct answer rates in questionnaires applied before and after the training. Aytac et al. [25] detected mean 13.45 correct answers in their 20 item questionnaire. They recommended continued training efforts on topics which participants were lacking information. Results of the test which included 30 questions applied before and after our training program were assessed over 100 points. Mean score before the training was 67.95 ± 10.5 , and after the training was 85.06 ± 7.6 . There was a statistically significant difference between two test results (p=0.000). Although these results suggest that our training program has been efficient, as the target score of 100 has not been achieved, this warrants continuing training programs.

Training program, when applied once, causes short-term changes in knowledge level healthcare staff. Persistence of knowledge can't be achieved by such a program. Similarly, effect of written training

applied once is not clear [13]. To improve the quality of practice long term, regularly repeated, well defined, multi-dimensional training programs should be applied [13, 21, 23]. Angelillo et al. [27] investigated knowledge, attitudes and behaviours of nurses working in operating theater about sterilization and disinfection. They suggested that participation to continuous trainings about nosocomial infections improves compliance with infection control measures and barrier methods. Suchitra et al. [3] applied questionnaires in two consecutive years and they noted a decrease in success in second test. They also reported that annual training programs would increase knowledge about nosocomial infections and their prevention and help to improve compliance on attitudes and behaviours for nosocomial infection prevention. To determine permanence of information we repeated questionnaire which we had applied previous year and mean score was 80.04±8.77. Although this score was lower than the score after the training $(80.04 \pm 8.77 \text{ vs } 85.06 \pm 7.680, p=0.000)$, it was still higher than score in questionnaire performed before the training (80.04±8.77 vs 67.95±10.5, p=0.000). Investigation of subscales showed that success from the test on hand hygiene, use of gloves, blood borne diseases and invasive tool related infections has decreased significantly (p=0.004,*p*=0.003, *p*=0.000, *p*=0.000; respectively). Score on hospital cleaning has also decreased (from 68.55 to 64.84), but this was not statistically significant (p=0.080). Scores on isolation measures remained same. Scores on definition and prevention of HCAI and waste management have increased, however this increase was not statistically significant (p=0.796).

Factors, affecting the success of the test performed one year later were determined. From 91 nurses who continued to work in our hospital 26 (28.6%) have worked in ICU, 63 (69.2%) stated that patient isolation measures (contact isolation in all and contact and droplet isolation in 3 of them) were applied in their units and 64 (70.3%) were shortly trained for nosocomial infections during surveillance studies and got long term education about medical waste separation. Unit where participants have worked for previous year, application of isolation measures and training didn't affect general success from the test (p=0.344, p=0.316, p=0.259; respectively). However success levels differed regarding subtopics. Nurses who work in ICU and in clinics where patient followup is performed were more successful on questions related with use of gloves; those who were trained were more successful on questions related with isolation methods (p=0.001). We conclude that regular training programs should be performed hospital-wide on all topics to increase permanency of information.

Nurses lacking knowledge about preventing HCAI's are known to comply with control measures less [2, 4, 9, 25]. However it is also observed that improved knowledge level achieved via trainings is not always reflected to clinical practice [3, 13]. Tvedt *et al.* [13] applied a training program to healthcare staff involving monthly infection control bulletins and slide shows. Although 92.9% of the nurses who followed the bulletins stated that their knowledge is updated only 72.1% noted changes their behaviours. Therefore next step of training programs should be to encourage behavioural improvement.

Conclusion

Knowledge level of healthcare staff about HCAI and infection control measures should be detected. Training programs including individualized, regularly repeated, approved training methods should be applied through needs which are determined taking into account service areas of healthcare staff. Next target should be to encourage reflection of such improved knowledge levels to behaviours and to establish behaviour change. More studies are required to develop the most efficient model for healthcare staff training, to provide change in practices and to search effects of these improvements on nosocomial infection rate.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Burke JP. Infection control - a problem for patient safety. N Engl J Med. 2003 Feb 13;348(7):651-6.

[2] Lin CF, Yang CY, Lu MS, Kao CC. Effectiveness of a nosocomial infection control training in improving knowledge in patient-hired attendants and outsourced workers in Taiwan. J Nurs Res. 2008 Sep;16(3):187-94.

[3] Suchitra JB, Lakshmi Devi N. Impact of education on knowledge, attitudes and practices among various categories of health care workers on nosocomial infections. Indian J Med Microbiol. 2007 Jul;25(3):181-7.

[4] Parmeggiani C, Abbate R, Marinelli P, Angelillo IF. Healthcare workers and health care-associated infections: knowledge, attitudes, and behavior in emergency departments in Italy. BMC Infect Dis. 2010 Feb 23;10:35.

[5] Defez C, Fabbro-Peray P, Cazaban M, Boudemaghe T, Sotto A, Daurès JP. Additional direct medical costs of nosocomial infections: an estimation from a cohort of patients in a French university hospital. J Hosp Infect. 2008 Feb;68(2):130-6.

[6] Apisarnthanarak A, Danchaivijitr S, Khawcharoenporn T, Limsrivilai J, Warachan B, Bailey TC, et al. Effectiveness of education and an antibiotic-control program in a tertiary care hospital in Thailand. Clin Infect Dis. 2006 Mar 15;42(6):768-75.

[7] Pittet D, Allegranzi B, Storr J, Bagheri Nejad S, Dziekan G, Leotsakos A, et al. Infection control as a major World Health Organization priority for developing countries. J Hosp Infect. 2008 Apr;68(4):285-92.

[8] Harbarth S, Sax H, Gastmeier P. The preventable proportion of nosocomial infections: an overview of published reports. J Hosp Infect. 2003 Aug;54(4):258-66.

[9] Ciofi degli Atti ML, Tozzi AE, Ciliento G, Pomponi M, Rinaldi S, Raponi M. Healthcare workers' and parents' perceptions of measures for improving adherence to hand-hygiene. BMC Public Health. 2011 Jun 13;11:466.

[10] Safdar N, Abad C. Educational interventions for prevention of healthcare-associated infection: a systematic review. Crit Care Med. 2008 Mar;36(3):933-40.

[11] Marjadi B, McLaws ML. Rural Indonesian health care workers' constructs of infection prevention and control knowledge. Am J Infect Control. 2010 Jun;38(5):399-403.

[12] Farrington M. Infection control education: how to make an impact-tools for the job. J Hosp Infect. 2007 Jun;65(Suppl 2):128-32.
[13] Tvedt C, Bukholm G. Healthcare workers' self-reported effect of an interventional programme on knowledge and behaviour related to infection control. Qual Saf Health Care. 2010 Dec;19(6):e7.
[14] Celen O, Karaalp T, Kaya S, Demir C, Teke A, Akdeniz A. Expectations of the nurses who work in ICUs of Gulhane Military Medical Faculty Training Hospital from in-house training programs and their opinions about these programs. Gulhane Med J. 2007;49:25-31.

[15] Babcock HM, Zack JE, Garrison T, Trovillion E, Jones M, Fraser VJ, et al. An educational intervention to reduce ventilator-associated pneumonia in an integrated health system: a comparison of effects. Chest. 2004 Jun;125(6):2224-31.

[16] Warren DK, Zack JE, Mayfield JL, Chen A, Prentice D, Fraser VJ, et al. The effect of an education program on the incidence of central venous catheter-associated bloodstream infection in a medical ICU. Chest. 2004 Nov;126(5):1612-8.

[17] Kanouff AJ, DeHaven KD, Kaplan PD. Prevention of nosocomial infections in the intensive care unit. Crit Care Nurs Q. 2008 Oct-Dec;31(4):302-8.

[18] Coopersmith CM, Rebmann TL, Zack JE, Ward MR, Corcoran RM, Schallom ME, et al. Effect of an education program on decreasing catheter-related bloodstream infections in the surgical intensive care unit. Crit Care Med. 2002 Jan;30(1):59-64.

[19] Zack JE, Garrison T, Trovillion E, Clinkscale D, Coopersmith CM, Fraser VJ, et al. Effect of an education program aimed at reducing the occurrence of ventilator-associated pneumonia. Crit Care Med. 2002 Nov;30(11):2407-12.

[20] Rosenthal VD, Guzman S, Safdar N. Reduction in nosocomial infection with improved hand hygiene in intensive care units of a tertiary care hospital in Argentina. Am J Infect Control. 2005 Sep;33(7):392-7.

[21] Yamazhan T, Tasbakan MI, Calik Þ, Pullukcu H, Sipahi OR, Ulusoy S. Evaluation of the knowledge of hospital cleaning staff about prevention of nosocomial infections. Turk J Med Sci. 2009;39(1):77-80.

[22] Sessa A, Giuseppe GD, Albano L, Angelillo IF; the Collaborative Working Group. An Investigation of nurses' knowledge, attitudes, and practices regarding disinfection procedures in Italy. BMC Infect Dis. 2011 May 25;11:148.

[23] Akgun S, Azap A, Timurkaynak F, Arslan H. The role of in-house trainings on knowledge, attitudes and behaviours of nurses who work in a university hospital about nosocomial infections. Clin Sci Physician J. 2003;9:396-400.

[24] Reime MH, Harris A, Aksnes J, Mikkelsen J. The most successful method in teaching nursing students infection control - E-learning or lecture? Nurse Educ Today. 2008 Oct;28(7):798-806.

[25] Aytac N, Naharci H, Oztunc G. Knowledge level on ICU nurses of research and training hospitals in Adana about nosocomial infections. Adnan Menderes Univ Tip Fak Derg. 2008;9(3):9-15.
[26] McDermott J, Beck D, Buffington ST, Annas J, Supratikto G, Prenggono D, et al. Two models of in-service training to improve midwifery skills: how well do they work? J Midwifery Womens Health. 2001 Jul-Aug;46(4):217-25.

[27] Angelillo IF, Mazziotta A, Nicotera G. Nurses and hospital infection control: knowledge, attitudes and behaviour of Italian operating theatre staff. J Hosp Infect. 1999 Jun;42(2):105-12

Questionnaire form

Ap	ppendix 1. Demograph	nic data of the nurses w	ho has participated i	nto the training	
1.	Name, Surname:				
2.	Age- Gender:				
3.	Education Level:				
0	High School	O Undergraduate	O Graduate	O Master	
3.	Describe your profes	sional experience:			
	The institution ar	nd the department that y	ou have worked:		
Wo	orking period:				
	1				
	2				
	3				
4.	Have you taken any before?	education about nosoco	omial infections in ir	stitutions where you have worked	
	O Yes O No				
5.	In which department	do you work now?			

Appendix 2. Preliminary tests

OUESTIONS

- 1. Which of the following definitions is correct about nosocomial infections?
 - Nosocomial infections only cause death in newborns and elders. Nosocomial infections appear within the first 48 hours after the birth.
 - b) Hand washing does not prevent nosocomial infections. c)
 - Nosocomial infections are infections which develops after patients apply to the hospital, are not in the incubation period at the time of application and appears after 48-72 hours after the d)
 - hospitalization. e)
 - The patient meets the microorganism before the hospitalization and infection symptoms and findings appear at the hospital.
- 2. Which of the following definitions is correct for nosocomial infections?
- a) Nosocomial infections are a medical defect which is possible to prevent. They are infections which appear within the first 48-72 hours after hospitalization. b)
 - - Nosocomial infections may appear after discharge. c)
 - Healthcare staff and contaminated tools cause nosocomial infections. Nosocomial infections only cause epidemics. d
- e)
- 3. Which of the following is not among applications to prevent nosocomial infections? a)
- To comply with instructions determined by Infection Control Team. To prevent epidemics by discharging infected patients. b)
 - To comply with hand hygiene.

c)

- d)
- To use right antibiotic medication. To use clean tools and materials. e)
- 4. Which of the following application related with alcohol based hand disinfectant is wrong?
 - We should rub our hands to provide them wet with a hand disinfectant for 30 seconds. We should immediately use a hand disinfectant when blood is contacted to our hand. a)
 - b)
 - Gloves should be worn after using hand disinfectant c)
 - d) We should absolutely wait our hand to dry after using the hand disinfectant. Hand disinfectant removes microorganisms rapidly and efficiently.
 - e)
- the following is wrong about gloves usage? 5. Which of
 - We should take off the gloves after contacting to the patient. We should use hand antiseptics before and after wearing gloves.
 - b) We should change the gloves when providing care between patients c)
- d) To use hand antiseric over gloves decreases transmission rate of microorganisms.
 e) The gloves should be changed for different interventions on the same patient.
 6. Which of the following applications a non-sterile clean gloves may be worn?

 - In urinary catheter interventions
 - b)
 - Before surgical procedures In peripheral venous catheter applications c)
 - d) In aspiration of respiratory secretions
- During central venous catheter placement e)
- f the following diseases is not transmitted via blood? 7. Which of
 - Hepatitis D
 - b) Hepatitis C
 - Hepatitis B c)
 - Hepatitis A HIV d) e)
- the following statement is wrong related with blood borne infections? 8. Which if
 - We should accept all patients' bloods infected.
 - b) There is a vaccine for Hepatitis B.
 - We should not hang diagnosis of the patients who were infected with Hepatitis B, C and HIV c)
 - on their bed heads.
 - Blood of a patient who is anti HCV positive may be used in blood transfusion. d)
 - Hepatitis B virus may stay alive on inorganic surfaces.
- 9. Which o the following is not one of the preventions that we will take in hazardous injuries?
 - a`
 - b)
 - The injury area should be washed with water and soap. If mucosa contact is present, it should be washed with water. The injury area should be pressed and made bleed, thus the infected blood should be discharged. c)
 - The injury area may be swabbed by antiseptic solutions. If the source is not known, it should be screened for Hepatitis markers. d) e)
- f the following is wrong? 10. Which

 - We should throw needle tips to sharp object box without covering. We should apply contact isolation to patients who were infected with MRSA and VRE or were b) colonized.
 - Different isolation preventions are applied to a patient with HIV and a patient with tuberculosis. We should separate patients infected with Hepatitis virus B and Hepatitis virus C from other c) d)
- a) b) we should separate patients infected with repatitiv virus B and repatitiv virus C not patients.
 b) we should use gloves, mask and apron when providing care to isolated patients.
 c) We should use gloves, mask and apron when providing care to isolated patients.
 c) We should use gloves, mask and apron when providing care to isolated patients.
 c) We should use gloves, mask and apron when providing care to isolated patients.
 c) We should use gloves, mask and apron when providing care to isolated patients.
 c) B) we should use gloves, mask and apron when providing care to isolated patients.
 c) We should be immediately thrown after using.

 - Gloves should be worn before touching objects contaminated with blood, body fluids, secretions and excreta and disintegrated skin. b)
 - Patient thermometers should be disinfected via alcohol after every use. c)
 - If there is not a visual contamination on gloves used, it is not necessary to change them. Non-sterile clean apron is worn during procedures which have possibility to splash body fluids, d) e)
 - secretions, excreta and blood.
- 12. Which of the following is not one of the preventions that we will take in a patient whom contact
 - isolation is applied? The patients should be taken into a single room, if possible. a)
 - b)
 - We should war gloves before contacting the patient and surfaces in her/his room. In cases that more contact with the patient or surfaces in her/his room is expected, the patient has urinary or fecal incontinence, ileostomy, colostomy or open drainage, a non-sterile clean apron c) should be worn addition to the gloves when entering into the room.
 - We should take off gloves and the apron and provide hand hygiene before leaving the room. Object and medical material transfer may be done between rooms or patients. d)
 - e)

Appendix 2. Preliminary tests (continued.)

13. Which of the following is not one of the preventions that we will take in a patient whom airway

- isolation is applied?

- isolation is applied?
 a) Special ventilation conditions are not necessary.
 b) The door of the room should be kept closed.
 c) If the patient is required to get out of the room, surgical mask should be worn.
 d) N95 respiratory mask should be placed on patients with tuberculosis.
 e) Pregnant women should not enter into the patient room.
 14. Which of the following is wrong?
 a) Sterile material should be used in urinary catheter applications.
 b) Hand hygiene should be provided before every contact with the urinary catheter.
 c) Regular catheter change should be applied to prevent urinary system infections.
 d) The urinary catheter should be fixed on the leg for patients on lying position.
 e) Urinary catheter bags should be held under bladder level and hang on the bed without contacting the eround.
- the ground. 15
- Which of the following statements is wrong about bleach using? The bleach should be prepared in appropriate concentrations according to the purpose.

- a) The breach is a highly efficient disinfectant.
 b) Bleach is a highly efficient disinfectant.
 c) The bleach prepared should be poured on the surface contaminated with blood and body fluids.
 d) 1/10 bleach is used when blood and body fluid contamination is present.
 e) After disinfection procedure with the bleach, it is flushed.
 16. Which of the following is wrong?
 a) Service corridors are areas with low risk, therefore cleaning with water and detergents is sufficient. The cleaning solution which was prepared for areas cleaned with water and detergent is not required to be changed until the cleaning is terminated. Unless contamination with blood and body fluids occurs, the cleaning should be performed with b)

 - c) water and detergent.

- water and detergent.
 Mo liquid soap should be added on fluid soap dispensers including detergent.
 e) The cleaning always should be performed from the clean area to the contaminated area.
 17. Which of the following statements related with medical waste separation is wrong?
 a) Red litter bags should be used for medical wastes.
 b) Blue litter bags should be used for domestic wastes.
 c) Black litter bags should be used for domestic wastes.
 d) Broken vials should be thrown into the blue litter bag.
 e) If a medical waste is seen in a blue or black litter bag, this bag should be put into a red litter bag and removed as a medical waste.
- a) The interface wastern in a blue of black inter bag, this bag should be put into a red inter bag and removed as a medical waste.
 18. Which of the following is wrong?

 a) Used intravenous fluid sets should be thrown into the red litter bag.
 b) Medical waste collecting personnel should be separate.
 c) Used serous fluid bottles should be thrown into the blue litter bag if they are not contacted with the patient.
 d) Unforted readle time used should be thrown into the blue litter bag.
- the patient.
 d) Infected needle tips used should be thrown into the red waste bag.
 e) We should not carry medical wastes and domestic wastes together in the same carrier.
 19. Which of the following is wrong?
 a) Humidifier containers should be changed periodically.
 b) Sterile distilled water should be used in humidifier containers.
 c) When humidifier containers are not used, they should be kept ready by putting water into them.
 d) Humidifier containers should be used by disinfecting.
 e) Humidifier containers should be used commonly by the patients.
 20. Which of the following statements is wrong about preventing intravenous catheter infections?
 a) The person who placed the catheter should record the catheterization date.
 b) Sterile cloves are not required when placing the peripheral venous catheter
- a) The person who place the callect should record the callectrization date.
 b) Sterile gloves are not required when placing the peripheral venous catheter.
 c) Peripheral venous catheters should be changed daily.
 d) When temperature increase and erythema develops in catheter entrance area or it is detected that the catheter does not operate properly, peripheral catheter should be changed immediately.
 e) Catheter entrance areas should be observed every day and dirty covers should be changed.
 21. Surfaces such as patient bed, cabinets, dining tables should be cleaned via bleach in clinics without
- high risk. a- Correct
- b-False
- 22. Hand washing does not prevent nosocomial infections. a- Correct b-False
- a-Correct b-False 23. Hands should be disinfected by an alcohol based hand disinfectant after washing the hands with water and soap.
- a- Correct b-False 24. Hand hygiene should be provided before and after every intervention related with urinary and venous catheters.
- a- Correct b-False
- 25. Antibiotic pomade should be used during placement or maintenance of urinary and central venous catheters
- a- Correct b-False
- 26. Hepatitis B virus dies instantly on surfaces at room temperature. a- Correct b-False
- 27. There is not any efficiency proven vaccine and immunoglobulin for hepatitis C. a- Correct b-False
- Medical waste bags and sharp object boxes should be immediately changed with new ones when 3/4 of them are filled.
- a- Correct b-False 29. Surfaces where blood and body fluids poured should be disinfected with 10% (1/10) diluted bleach.
- a- Correct b-False 30. Patient rooms should be cleaned daily, when contaminated and the patient was discharged. a- Correct b-False

Appendix 3. The questionnaire applied before the third test

Name, Surname:

- 1- In which units have you worked for the lat 1 year?
- 2- Have you ever performed isolated patient follow-up in your unit?
- 3- If it is done, which isolation method was applied?
- 4- Have you taken any information or training related with infection preventions told after the training program 1 year ago (including notifications done by infection control committee during your work)? In which subjects?



The European Research Journal Original Article

http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.106

Relationship between fibroblast growth factor and arrhythmogenesis in normotensive patients with polycystic kidney disease

Kemal Karaagac¹, Abdulmecit Yildiz², Osman Can Yontar¹, Erhan Tenekecioglu¹, Fahriye Vatansever¹, Mehmet Demir¹

¹Department of Cardiology, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey ²Department of Nephrology, Uludag University Medical School, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease (ADPKD) is the most common life-threatening genetic disease. Recent prospective studies showed a powerful and dose dependent association between increasing FGF-23 levels and greater risk of mortality among chronic kidney disease patients. In this study, our aim is to evaluate electrocardiogram derived arrhythmogenesis markers such as Tp-e, Tp-e/QT and Tp-e/QTc ratio ADPKD. *Methods.* Data of 31 patients with ADPKD and age-sex matched 26 healthy were gained for study. Electrocardiogram and echocardiogram measurements, various serum markers were compared between groups. *Results.* FGF-23 was significantly higher, and eGFR was significantly lower in the ADPKD patients. Myocardial thickness was also higher in ADPKD group. Corrected QT dispersion, Tp-e, Tp-e/QT and Tp-e/QTc (r=0.388, p=0.003; r=0.472, p<0.0001; r=0.442, p=0.001, respectively). *Conclusions.* In this occasion, we suggest that FGF-23, which probably accumulates ventricular electrical remodeling, may be helpful for risk stratification in patients with ADPKD when used with other indicators. Myocardial cell de-arrangement and electrical remodelling due to fibrosis are suggested mechanisms for this effect.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3):106-112

Keywords: Polycystic kidney disease; fibroblast growth factor; arrhythmogenesis; Tp-e interval; Tp-e/QT ratio

Introduction

Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease (ADPKD) is the most common life-threatening genetic disease [1]. Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in patients with ADPKD, with over 80% of deaths attributable to coronary artery disease [2,3]. Left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) is common in these patients, even in the absence of hypertension [4,5]. LVH is also

Address for correspondence:

Copyright © 2015 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy

Kemal Karaagac MD, Department of Cardiology, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research, Bursa, Turkey Email: drkaraagac2001@gmail.com Received: 13.03.2015; Accepted: 21.08.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015

associated with poor renal outcomes in these patients [6]. Although some studies indicate that increased stimulation of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) may be responsible from increased LVH in ADPKD, other studies did not support this suggestion [7]. Fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF-23) is secreted by osteoblasts and osteocytes and increases in response to increase in serum phosphorus and calcitriol levels in patients with chronic renal failure (CRF). Markedly elevated circulating FGF-23 levels are also found in patients with ADPKD when compared with other causes of chronic kidney disease independent of renal function and hormones that regulate phosphate metabolism [8]. It was clearly shown in different stages of CRF that there was a correlation between FGF-23 levels and LVH [9].

For a long time, noninvasive indices of sudden cardiac death derived from surface electrocardiogram (ECG) have been utilized in patients who are at risk of sudden death. These indices mainly depend on the QT interval [10,11] Prolongation of QT interval, dispersion of QT interval; which is calculated by extracting minimum measured QT interval from maximum measured QT interval, were widely utilized in many studies and were shown to be related with increased sudden death risk in HD patients [12-14].

Recent studies indicate that prolongation of the T wave peak to T wave and interval (Tp-e) on the 12-lead ECG is a marker of ventricular arrhythmogenesis [15-17]. Prolongation of this interval represents a period of potential vulnerability to re-entrant ventricular arrhythmias. Prolonged Tp-e has been associated with increased risk of mortality in the congenital and acquired long QT syndromes, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and also in patients undergoing primary PCI for myocardial infarction [18-20].

In this study, our aim is to evaluate electrocardiogram derived arrhythmogenesis markers such as Tp-e, Tp-e/QT and Tp-e/QTc ratio, QT interval and QT dispersion in normotensive polycyctic kidney disease patients and put forward if there is a relationship between ventricular depolarization heterogeneity and serum FGF-23 levels, which plays role in left ventricular hypertrophy.

Methods

Patients

Data of thirty one patients (male and female) with diagnosis of ADPKD were collected. Data of agesex matched 26 healthy subjects with similar demographics (13 male and 13 female) were gained for control group. The study was approved by the Institutional Ethics Committee, and written consent was obtained from all patients.

The diagnosis of ADPKD was reached by the ultrasonographic criteria described by Ravine et al [21]. All of the patients had family history of ADPKD. Estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was determined using the 4-variable Modification of Diet in Renal Disease (MDRD) equation. The most commonly used formula is the "4-variable MDRD," which estimates GFR using four variables: serum creatinine, age, race, and gender [22]. All patients had an eGFR >60 mL/min/1.73 m².

Patients with diabetes mellitus, renal failure (eGFR <60 mL/min/1.73 m²), hepatic failure, major cardiac diseases (heart failure, coronary artery disease, arrhythmia, cardiac valvular disease), were excluded from the study. During the baseline examination, fasted weight and height were measured by one examiner using the ambulatory standard measurement devices as the patient was standing.

Body mass index (BMI) was calculated using the formula "weight (kg)/height (m²)". Clinical blood pressure measurements were performed using a mercury sphygmomanometer following 10 minutes rest in the sitting position. Three consecutive readings were obtained using 2-minutes interval settings and the mean of these readings were considered as clinical BP. Patients with systolic BP of >140 mmHg and/or diastolic BP of >80 mmHg or who were already receiving treatment for hypertension were considered to be hypertensive and excluded from the study.

Blood analyses

Fasting glucose, creatinine, total cholesterol, highdensity lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, triglyceride levels were measured by routine techniques. The level of PTH was measured by chemiluminescence method

Karaagac et al

on an IMMULITE 2000® analyzer (Diagnostic Products Corporation, Los Angeles, USA). Plasma FGF-23 concentrations were measured with the human FGF-23(C-Term) ELISA kit (Immutopics Inc., San Clemente, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Measurement of Tp-e, QT and QRS Intervals from the 12-Lead ECG

All ECGs were scanned. The Tp-e interval was defined as the interval from the peak of T wave to the end of T wave. Measurements of Tp-e interval were performed from precordial leads as it was described [23]. T wave peak to end interval, QT and RR intervals were measured by an engineer with a computer program. By using a ruler, vernier caliper or any other manual measuring tool; getting measurements off from ECG papers could be either inaccurate or slow. Therefore ECG papers were scanned and this made gathering measurements possible in digital environment. These measurements are done by a program which is generated with MATLAB (MathWorks, Natick, Massachusetts, U.S.A.) codes that written by an engineer. These codes are based on image manipulation principles. Image manipulation method could be divided into three subdivisions image processing, image analysis and image understanding. Image analysis is the technique that should be used to gather measurement data from ECG. Running the written code imports the image file first and then, by choice, allows user to pick points that need to be picked to get measurements or generates a matrix that consists of a dedicated numeric value of each pixel's color. Creating a matrix gives user the flexibility of using functions which predefined by program. Inspite of this, hand picking is easier and has a simple interface especially for beginner level users. Algorithms are developed and used to get excellent measurements in order to tolerate differences such are tilting during scanning process, different scanning resolutions and using different ECG.

The QT interval was defined as extending from the beginning of the QRS complex to where T waves descend onto the isoelectric baseline. When a U wave interrupted the T wave before returning to baseline, the QT interval was measured to the nadir of the curve between the T and U waves. The QTc interval was calculated using the Bazett formula: QTc (ms)=QT measured/ RR (sec). All measurements (Tp-e and other surface ECG related ones) were mean value of three calculations. All measurements were double checked by a blinded engineer.

Echocardiography

Whole echocardiographic approach, all measurements and definitions were done according to related clinical guideline [24]. Each echocardiogram was evaluated by 2 experienced cardiologists. Echocardiograms that were difficult to evaluate due to technical defects, and the cases in which the cardiologists could not agree, were excluded from the study.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 13.0 for Windows. Normal distribution of the data was checked using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Continuous variables are presented as means \pm standard deviations whereas categorical variables are presented as percentages. The differences between the groups for categorical varieties were compared by the Chi-square test. According to the distribution, the differences between the groups for numeric parameters were compared by Student's t-test or the Mann-Whitney U test. The correlations among the study variables were examined by Pearson or Spearman correlation tests according to normality of distribution. The significance level was assumed as *p*<0.05.

Results

The baseline clinical and laboratory characteristics of the patients and controls are summarized in Table 1. There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups with respect to age, gender, systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, weight, height and body mass index. The biochemical characteristics of the patients did not differ in creatinine, serum phosphate, calcium, uric acid, 25- OH vitamin D, PTH and lipid levels except

	ADPKD group	Control group	<i>p</i> value
	(n=31)	(n=20)	
Age (years)	32.30±11.10	35.54±6.40	NS
Gender (male/female)	10/21	13/13	NS
Systolic blood pressure	126±13	123±11.40	NS
Diastolic blood pressure	73±12.10	70±8	NS
BMI(kg/m ²)	24.20 ± 4.40	26.50±4.10	NS
Smoking (%) (n)	40 (9)	50 (13)	NS
Glucose (mg/dl)	85.60±9.90	84.30±6.80	NS
Urea (mg/dL)	28.50 ± 8.90	26.10±7.60	NS
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.70 ± 0.16	$0.60{\pm}0.08$	NS
Calcium (mg/dL)	9.53±0.40	9.45±0.20	NS
Phosphorus (mg/dL)	3.44 ± 0.47	3.25±0.42	NS
eGFR (mL/dk)	$104{\pm}16.70$	116 ± 12.80	0.03
PTH (pg/mL)	58.30±33	76±42.50	NS
FGF-23 (RU/ml)	536.70±506	42.70±23.10	0.0001
TC (mg/dl)	191±33	188 ± 28.60	NS
HDL-C (mg/dl)	52±12.80	48±13.20	NS
LDL-C (mg/dl)	115±26.70	118±23	NS
TG (mg/dl)	125±90.90	117±96.20	NS
LVEDD (mm)	47.80±3.20	45.60±5.4	NS
LVESD (mm)	28.30 ± 5.60	26.5±6.20	NS
IVSD (mm)	1.06 ± 0.10	0.95±0.13	0.01
LVPW (mm)	1.02 ± 0.09	0.90 ± 0.001	0.01

Table 1. Comparison of biochemical and echocardiographic variables of in ADPKD patients and controls

ADPKD=autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease, BMI=body mass index, PTH=parathyroid hormone TG=triglycerides, TC=total cholesterol, HDL-C=high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL-C=low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, eGFR=estimated glomerular filtration rate, FGF-23=fibroblast growth factor 23, LVEDD=left ventricular end diastolic diameter, LVESD=left ventricular end systolic diameter, IVSD=interventriculer septum diameter, LVPD= left ventricular posterior wall diameter, EF=ejection fraction. Data are presented as means±SD, NS=nonsignificant

Table 2. Comparison of electrocardiographical features of ADPKD patients and controls

	ADPKD group	Control group	p value
	(n=31)	(n=20)	
QTc dispersion (ms)	36.60±12.70	19.50±8.30	0.001
QTc (ms)	418±24.60	427±44	NS
Tp-e interval (ms)	87.10±12.50	74 ± 8.50	0.001
Tp-e/QT ratio	0.24±0.03	0.20 ± 0.02	0.001
Tp-e/QTc ratio	0.20 ± 0.02	0.17 ± 0.02	0.001

ADPKD=autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease, QTc=corrected QT, QTd=QT dispersion, Tp-e=T wave peak to T wave end interval. Data are presented as means±SD. NS=non-significant

for FGF-23 were significantly higher and eGFR was significantly lower in the ADPKD patients. Electrocardiogram derived risk indicators corrected QT dispersion (cQTd), Tp-e, Tp-e/QT and Tp-e/QTc were also compared between groups. All indicators were significantly worse in ADPKD group (Table 2).

In the correlation analyzes; FGF23 was significantly correlated with Tp-e (Figure 1) and Tp-e/QTc (Figure 2) (r=0.388 p=0.003; r=0.442 p=0.001, respectively).

Discussion

Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of premature mortality in patients with ADPKD [25]. A wide range of factors that end up with structural myocardial disease are responsible for this adverse outcome. A variety of subclinical organ damage markers such as LVH, increased carotid intimamedia thickness, endothelial dysfunction, microalbuminuria, decreased coronary flow velocity reserve and low-grade systemic inflammation, and chronic oxidative stress have been reported in several studies of patients with ADPKD with wellpreserved renal function [26, 27]. Functional data supporting a role of FGF-23 in vascular biology is derived from Klotho null mice, which carry no functional FGF-23 activity due to lack of coreceptors [28]. Recent prospective studies showed a powerful and dose dependent association between



Figure 1. Correlation between FGF23 and Tp-e

increasing FGF-23 levels and greater risk of mortality among CKD patient [29, 30]. The reason for increased cardiovascular mortality in CKD may be associated with LVH. Recent experimental studies have clearly demonstrated that FGF-23 can directly induce LVH [31]. The action of FGF-23 in the kidney and the parathyroid gland is different from that in the heart. In renal and parathyroid tissue, FGF-23 acts via the classical pathway, by stimulating FGF receptor and Klotho, the obligatory co-receptor, to inhibit both renal phosphorous reabsorption and 1,25-OH vitamin D synthesis through ras/mitogen-activated protein (MAP)-kinase pathway. In contrast, at the level of cardiomyocytes, FGF-23 acts through the phospholipase C gamma/calcineurin pathway, independent of Klotho. A recent trial in ADPKD patients at different stages of CKD showed markedly elevated levels of FGF-23 compared with other CKD etiologies. Because of the absence of Klotho in cardiomyocytes, increased FGF-23 levels may explain increased rates of LVH in normotensive ADPKD patients with normal renal functions. In our study, ADPKD subjects had higher levels of FGF-23 but normal calcium and phosphate levels when compared to controls.

Marked fibrosis or de-arrangement of uniformity of ventricular myocardium may lead to heterogeneous scattering of electrical wavelet through cardiomyocytes. In fact it is the most frequent cause of ventricular arrhythmogenic substrate development which leads to sudden cardiac



Figure 2. Correlation between FGF23 and Tp-e/QTc

death in heart failure [32]. There is a high variety of comorbidities in renal disease patient population. Burden of multiple factors that increase myocardial fibrosis preceding repolarization heterogeneity, electrolyte imbalance that causes myocardium cell depolarization defects, neuro-humoral instability with increased automaticity end up with a substrate for sudden cardiac death [33, 34]. Prolongation of QT interval and increased QT dispersion in renal disease are subjects of interest for a long time. Previously published articles mainly point out similar findings these indices of sudden death on the surface ECG are significantly higher in patients with CKD [12, 35]. Because of increased risk of cardiac mortality in this large patient group, risk stratification becomes more and more important to save lives. Newly introduced surface ECG indices may contribute in risk prediction. T wave peak to end interval is a measure of transmural dispersion of repolarization in the left ventricle and accepted as a surrogate for increased ventricular arrhythmogenesis risk. Tp-e/QT and Tp-e/QTc are relatively new markers which also indicate repolarization defects. Published studies clearly suggest the applicability of Tp-e/QT ratio as a potentially important index of arrhythmogenesis, both under the conditions of short, normal and long QT interval, as well as in congenital and acquired channelopathies. In various high-risk populations, such as, patients with long QT syndrome [36], inducible ventricular tachycardia [37, 18], repaired tetralogy of Fallot [38] or Brugada syndrome [39]. T wave peak to end interval had been found to be more prolonged than control patients. In our study, we exhibited that there was a strong positive correlation between serum FGF-23 levels and ECG derived arrhythmia indicators, Tp-e, Tpe/QT and Tp-e/QTcd but not QT and QTd. Prolonged QT and increased QTd are established indicators of SCD, however these relatively newer indicators are more specific and sensitive [25] and do not get affected from heart rate [40]. Our study corresponds with previous studies that show significant relationship between FGF-23 and cardiac mortality, yet, this is the first study which evaluates FGF-23 by using surface ECG parameters including Tp-e and Tp-e/QT. Also, this is the first study that introduces Tp-e and derived indicators in polycystic renal disease.

The limitations of our study are retrospective method, absence of a hypertensive control group and the small sample size.

In this occasion, we suggest that FGF-23, which probably accumulates ventricular electrical remodeling, may be helpful for risk stratification in patients with ADPKD when used with other indicators.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Perrone RD, Ruthazer R, Terrin NC. Survival after end-stage renal disease in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease: contribution of extrarenal complications to mortality. Am J Kidney Dis. 2001 October;38(4):777-84.

[2] Ecder T, Schrier RW. Cardiovascular abnormalities in autosomaldominant polycystic kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2009 April;5(4):221-8.

[3] Ecder T, Schrier RW. Hypertension and left ventricular hypertrophy in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther. 2004 May;2(3):369-74.

[4] Bardají A, Vea AM, Gutierrez C, Ridao C, Richart C, Oliver JA. Left ventricular mass and diastolic function in normotensive young adults with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease. Am J Kidney Dis. 1998 Dec;32(6):970-5.

[5] Cadnapaphornchai MA, McFann K, Strain JD, Masoumi A, Schrier RW. Increased left ventricular mass in children with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease and borderline hypertension. Kidney Int. 2008 Nov;74(9):1192-6.

[6] Gabow PA, Johnson AM, Kaehny WD, Kimberling WJ, Lezotte DC, Duley IT, et al. Factors affecting the progression of renal disease in autosomal-dominant polycystic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 1992 May;41(5):1311-9.

[7] Doulton TW, Saggar-Malik AK, He FJ, Carney C, Markandu ND, Sagnella GA, et al. The effect of sodium and angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibition on the classic circulating reninangiotensin system in autosomal-dominant polycystic kidney disease patients. J Hypertens. 2006 May;24(5):939-45.

[8] Pavik I, Jaeger P, Kistler AD, Poster D, Krauer F, Cavelti-Weder C, et al. Patients with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease have elevated fibroblast growth factor 23 levels and a renal leak of phosphate. Kidney Int. 2011 Jun;79(2):234-40.

[9] Faul C, Amaral AP, Oskouei B, Hu MC, Sloan A, Isakova T, et al. FGF23 induces left ventricular hypertrophy. J Clin Invest. 2011 Nov;121(11):4393-408.

[10] Surawicz B. Will QT dispersion play a role in clinical decisionmaking? J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 1996 Aug;7(8):777-84.
[11] Schouten EG, Dekker JM, Meppelink P, Kok FJ, Vandenbroucke JP, Pool J. QT interval prolongation predicts cardiovascular mortality in an apparently healthy population. Circulation. 1991 Oct;84(4):1516-23.

[12] Malhis M, Al-Bitar S, Farhood S, Zaiat KA. Changes in QT intervals in patients with end-stage renal disease before and after hemodialysis. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2010 May;21(3):460-5.
[13] Genovesi S, Dossi C, Viganò MR, Galbiati E, Prolo F, Stella A, et al. Electrolyte concentration during haemodialysis and QT interval prolongation in uraemic patients. Europace. 2008 Jun;10(6):771-7.

[14] Wu VC, Lin LY, Wu KD. QT interval dispersion in dialysis patients. Nephrology (Carlton). 2005 Apr;10(2):109-12.

[15] Castro Hevia J, Antzelevitch C, Tornés Bárzaga F, Dorantes Sánchez M, Dorticós Balea F, Zayas Molina, et al. Tpeak-Tend and Tpeak-Tend dispersion as risk factors for ventricular tachycardia/ventricular fibrillation in patients with the Brugada syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006 May 2;47(9):1828-34.

[16] Smetana P, Schmidt A, Zabel M, Hnatkova K, Franz M, Huber K, et al. Assessment of repolarization heterogeneity for prediction of mortality in cardiovascular disease: peak to the end of the T wave interval and nondipolar repolarization components. J Electrocardiol. 2011 May-Jun;44(3):301-8.

[17] Opthof T, Coronel R, Janse MJ. Is there a significant transmural gradient in repolarization time in the intact heart?: Repolarization Gradients in the Intact Heart. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2009 Feb 2;2(1):89-96.

[18] Topilski I, Rogowski O, Rosso R, Justo D, Copperman Y, Glikson M, et al. The morphology of the QT interval predicts torsade de pointes during acquired bradyarrhythmias. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007 Jan 23;49(3):320-8.

[19] Shimizu M, Ino H, Okeie K, Yamaguchi M, Nagata M, Hayashi K, et al. T-peak to T-end interval may be a better predictor of highrisk patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy associated with a cardiac troponin I mutation than QT dispersion. Clin Cardiol. 2002 Jul;25(7):335-9.

[20] Haarmark C, Hansen PR, Vedel-Larsen E, Pedersen SH, Graff C, Andersen MP, et al. The prognostic value of the Tpeak-Tend interval in patients undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention for ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. J Electrocardiol. 2009 Nov-Dec;42(6):555-60.

[21] Ravine D, Gibson RN, Walker RG, Sheffield LJ, Kincaid-Smith P, Danks DM. Evaluation of ultrasonographic diagnostic criteria for autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease 1. Lancet. 1994 Apr 2;343(8901):824-7.

[22] National Kidney Foundation. K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease: evaluation, classification, and stratification. Am J Kidney Dis. 2002 Feb;39(2 Suppl 1):S1–266.

[23] Castro Hevia J, Antzelevitch C, Tornés Bárzaga F, Dorantes Sánchez M, Dorticós Balea F, Zayas Molina R, et al. Tpeak-Tend and Tpeak-Tend dispersion as risk factors for ventricular tachycardia/ventricular fibrillation in patients with the Brugada syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006 May 2;47(9):1828-34. [24] Henry WL, DeMaria A, Gramiak R, King DL, Kisslo JA, Popp RL, et al. Report of the American Society of Echocardiography Committee on Nomenclature and Standards in Two- dimensional Echocardiography. Circulation. 1980 Aug;62(2):212-17.

[25] Turkmen K, Oflaz H, Uslu B, Cimen AO, Elitok A, Kasikcioglu,

et al. Coronary flow velocity reserve and carotid intima media thickness in patients with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease: from impaired tubules to impaired carotid and coronary arteries. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008 Jul;3(4):986-91.

[26] Martinez-Vea A, Gutierrez C, Bardají A, Pastor R, García C, Peralta C, et al. Microalbuminuria in normotensive patients with autosomal-dominant polycystic kidney disease. Scand J Urol Nephrol. 1998 Sep;32(5):356-9.

[27] Menon V, Rudym D, Chandra P, Miskulin D, Perrone R, Sarnak M. Inflammation, oxidative stress, and insulin resistance in polycystic kidney disease. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011 Jan;6(1):7-13.
[28] Nagai R, Saito Y, Ohyama Y, Aizawa H, Suga T, Nakamura T, et al. Endothelial dysfunction in the klotho mouse and downregulation of klotho gene expression in various animal models of vascular and metabolic diseases. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2000 May;57(5):738-46.
[29] Faul C. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and the heart. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2012 Jul;21(4):369-75.

[30] Isakova T, Xie H, Yang W, Xie D, Anderson AH, Scialla J,et al. Chronic Renal Insufficiency Cohort(CRIC) Study Group. Fibroblast growth factor 23 and risks of mortality and end-stage renal disease in patients with chronic kidney disease. JAMA. 2011 Jun 15;305(23):2432-9.

[31] Jovanovich A, Ix JH, Gottdiener J, McFann K, Katz R, Kestenbaum B, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23, left ventricular mass, and left ventricular hypertrophy in community-dwelling older adults. Atherosclerosis. 2013 Nov;231(1):114-9.

[32] Yildiz A, Gul CB, Ersoy A, Asiltas B, Ermurat S, Dogan S, et al. Arterial dysfunction in early autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease independent of fibroblast growth factor 23. Iran J Kidney Dis. 2014 Nov;8(6):443-9.

[33] Amano Y, Takeda M, Tachi M, Kitamura M, Kumita S. Myocardial fibrosis evaluated by Look-Locker and late gadolinium enhancement magnetic resonance imaging in apical hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: association with ventricular tachyarrhythmia and risk factors. J Magn Reson Imaging. 2014 Aug;40(2):407-12.

[34] Voroneanu L, Covic A. Arrhythmias in hemodialysis patients. J Nephrol. 2009 Nov-Dec;22(6):716-25.

[35] Herzog CA, Mangrum JA, Passman R. Sudden cardiac death and dialysis patients. Semin Dial. 2008 Jul-Aug;21(4):300-7.
[36] Di Iorio B. Relevance of QT dispersion in haemodialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2010 Apr;25(4):1357-9.
[37] Wolk R, Stec S, Kulakowski P. Extrasystolic beats affect transmural electrical dispersion during programmed electrical stimulation. Eur J Clin Invest. 2001 Apr;31(4):293-301.
[38] Watanabe N, Kobayashi Y, Tanno K, Miyoshi F, Asano T, Kawamura M, et al. Transmural dispersion of repolarization and ventricular tachyarrhythmias. J Electrocardiol. 2004 Jul;37(3):191-200.

[39] Sarubbi B, Pacileo G, Ducceschi V, Russo MG, Iacono C, Pisacane C, et al. Arrhythmogenic substrate in young patients with repaired tetralogy of Fallot: role of an abnormal ventricular repolarization. Int J Cardiol. 1999 Dec 15;72(1):73-82.
[40] Letsas KP, Weber R, Astheimer K, Kalusche D, Arentz T. Tpeak-Tend interval and Tpeak-Tend/QT ratio as markers of ventricular tachycardia inducibility in subjects with Brugada ECG phenotype. Europace. 2010 Feb;12(2):271-4.

[41] Gupta P, Patel C, Patel H, Narayanaswamy S, Malhotra B, Green JT, et al. T(p-e)/QT ratio as an index of arrhythmogenesis. J Electrocardiol. 2008 Nov-Dec;41(6):567-74.



The European Research Journal Original Article

http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.113

Evaluation of healthcare providers' approach towards pandemic influenza and their vaccination ratio

Ali Asan¹, Sukran Kose², Suzan Sacar³, Yusuf Polat⁴, Dogac Ugurcan⁵, Binali Catak⁶, Huseyin Turgut⁵

¹Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Bursa Yuksek Intisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

²Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Tepecik Yilmaz Training and Research Hospital, Izmir, Turkey

³ Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Canakkale Onsekiz Mart University Faculty of Medicine, Canakkale, Turkey

⁴Department of Microbiology and Clinical Microbiology, Denizli State Hospital, Denizli, Turkey

⁵ Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Pamukkale University Faculty of Medicine, Denizli, Turkey

⁶Department of Family Medicine, Public Health Directorate, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. Pandemic influenza is a contagious disease caused by the new pandemic influenza A H1N1 virus, originated from the genetic combination of human, pig and avian influenza viruses. Our research aimed to determine the level of pandemic influenza vaccination in healthcare providers and the factors influencing this level. Methods. Doctors, midwives and nurses working in primary, secondary and tertiary health institutions in Denizli established the universe of the research. Four nurses visited these health institutions on five workdays between the 4th and 8th of April 2011, informed the healthcare providers that participation to the research was voluntary and handed over data collection forms in the institutions visited. Then, these data collection forms were collected by the same nurses. Research data were analyzed with SPSS package program. Frequency, percentage, chi-square and logistic regression analyses were used in the evaluation. Results. 44.7% of the healthcare providers participating in the study stated that they had been vaccinated with pandemic influenza vaccine. When factors effecting the vaccination decision with pandemic influenza vaccine of the individuals participating the study was evaluated; statistically significant difference between vaccination and occupation (p=0.001), sex (p=0.001), and age (p=0.026) was detected. The proportion of doctors, males and individuals older than 40 years was higher among the vaccinated professionals. *Conclusions*. It is important to make announcements about vaccination with determination and by taking support from media and non-governmental organizations. Statements and explanations should be released with this in mind and media, and nongovernmental organizations should also take responsibility regarding this matter.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3) 113-118

Keywords: Pandemic influenza; vaccination; healthcare providers

Address for correspondence:

Ali Asan MD, Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Bursa Yuksek Intisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey Email: draasan@yahoo.com Received: 12.05.2015; Accepted: 18.09.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015

Copyright © 2015 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy

Introduction

Pandemic influenza is a contagious disease caused by the new pandemic influenza A H1N1 virus, originated from the genetic combination of human, pig and avian influenza viruses. In infections like influenza that transmit easily and rapidly, healthcare providers may also form an important focus in respect to transmitting the disease to the high risk group. Healthcare providers are recommended to be vaccinated with seasonal influenza vaccine every year. Although many methods reducing the risk of transmission of influenza exists, the most effective method today is still vaccination [1].

Influenza affects approximately 5-10% of the community and may result in admission to the hospital and therefore results in a significant social cost in the government budget [2]. Vaccination of the healthcare providers with influenza vaccine is recommended by CDC (Center for Disease Control and Prevention) since 1981, and by WHO (World Health Organization) since 2002 [3-5]. Vaccination of healthcare providers with influenza vaccine reduces the occurrence of diseases like influenza, absence rates and also reduces the infection risk by preventing nosocomial transmission to the patients [6-9].

During the influenza pandemic experienced in our country, 43 million doses of vaccine was provided by the Ministry of Health and applied to the healthcare providers starting from November 2, 2009.

Our research aimed to determine the level of pandemic influenza vaccination of healthcare providers and the factors influencing this level.

Methods

Eight-hundreds and fourty-six doctors and 1542 midwives/nurses working in primary, secondary and tertiary health units in Denizli established the universe of the research. No samples were selected in the research and it was aimed to reach the whole population. For this purpose, related health units were visited by four nurses between the 4th and 8th of April, 2011 on five workdays. Doctors and midwives/nurses were informed that participation to the research was voluntary and data collection forms were left to the healthcare units. Then, these data collection forms were collected by the same nurses. A total of 360 individuals filled the forms; 86 of them were from primary health institutions, 102 from secondary and 171 from tertiary health institutions. 174 of the participants were doctors and 186 were midwives/nurses. Before the collection of data, approval of the health directorate, management of the Faculty of Medicine and the local ethics board were obtained. Data collection form consisted of questions covering socio-demographic characteristics, research activities and factors influencing the vaccination status of the participated individuals.

Research data were analyzed with SPSS package program. Frequency, percentage, chi-square and logistic regression analyses were used in the evaluation. For statistical comparisons p<0.05 was set as statistical significance.

Results

Of the individuals participating to the study 29.4% was below and 70.6% was above the age of 40. When the working life duration of the participants was evaluated it was determined that 34.2% was working for 5 years or less, 13.3% was for 6-10 years, 17.5% was for 11-15 years, and 35.0% was for 16 years or more. Their ratio of vaccination with seasonal influenza vaccine was found to be 32.4%, 45.3% and 18.6% in the years 2008-2009, 2009-2010 and 2010-2011, respectively (not provided in the Table). 44.7% of the healthcare providers participating in the study stated that they have been vaccinated with the pandemic influenza vaccine (Table 1).

When factors influencing the vaccination of participants with pandemic influenza vaccine were evaluated; statistically significant difference between vaccination and occupation (p=0.001), sex (p=0.001), and age (p=0.026) was detected. Doctors, males and individuals older than 40 years were more among the vaccinated ones (Table 1).

When the effects of research activities of the participants on the vaccination ratios with pandemic influenza vaccine was evaluated no statistically significant difference between the institution he/she

Variables	Vaccinati	ion status	Total	X^2	р
	Vaccinated Number (%)*	Not vaccinated Number (%)*	Number (%)**		
Age					
40 years and below	104 (40.9)	150 (59.1)	254 (70.6)	4.979	0.026
Over 40 years	57 (53.8)	49 (46.2)	106 (29.4)		
Sex					
Male	67 (57.3)	50 (42.7)	117 (32.5)	11.030	0.001
Female	94 (38.7)	149 (61.3)	243 (67.5)		
Occupation					
Doctor	98 (56.3)	76 (43.7)	174 (48.3)	18.330	<0.001
Nurse	63 (33.9)	123 (66.1)	186 (51.7)		
Total	161 (44.7)	199 (55.3)	360 (100.0)		

Table 1. Distribution of socio-demographic characteristics of the healthcare providers regarding the vaccination status

*Row percentage, ** Column percentage

Table 2. Distribution of research activity characteristics of the healthcare providers regarding the vaccination status

Variables	Vaccinat	ion status	Total	\mathbf{X}^2	р
	Vaccinated Number (%)*	Not vaccinated Number (%)*	Number (%)**		
Institution					
Primary Care	44 (51.2)	42 (48.8)	86 (23.8)	1.984	0.384
Secondary Care	43 (42.2)	59 (57.8)	102 (28.3)		
Tertiary Care	74 (43.0)	98 (57.0)	172 (47.9)		
Number of patients					
examined in a day	59 (39.6)	90 (60.4)	149 (41.4)	2.701	0.100
25 and below	102 (48.3)	109 (51.7)	211 (58.9)		
26 and above					
Department	88 (49.2)	91 (50.8)	179 (49.7)	2.839	0.092
Polyclinic	73 (40.3)	108 (50.7)	181 (51.3)		
Service	161 (44.7)	199 (55.3)	360 (100.0)		
Total					

*Row percentage, ** Column percentage

is working in (p=0.384), department he/she is working in (p=0.092) and the number of patients examined in a day (p=0.100) was found (Table 2).

When an assessment was conducted regarding whether the announcements made by official authorities had an effect on vaccination with pandemic influenza vaccine; a statistically significant difference between vaccination and information provided by Ministry of Health (p=0.001) and information level (p=0.006) was found, while no statistically significant differences were detected between the announcements of the official authority (Ministry of Health) (p=0. 233) and vaccination.

Vaccination level is higher in the individuals influenced by the announcements of the Ministry

of Health on vaccination and in individuals who think that they have sufficient information on the vaccine (Table 3).

Independent risk factors found to be statistically significant in Logistic regression analysis. According to this, vaccination with pandemic influenza vaccine was 2.9 times higher in those who were influenced by the announcements of the Ministry compared to those who were not influenced (OR: 1.9- 4.6); was 2.3 times higher in physicians compared to the other healthcare providers (OR: 1.5- 3.7); was 3.4 times higher in those who had received an influenza vaccination in the year preceding the pandemic compared to those who had not received vaccination (OR: 2.1- 5.6) (Table 4).

Table 3. The effect of being influenced or not by the statements of official authorities about vaccination on the vaccination status

Variables	Vaccinati	on status	Total	X^2	р
	Vaccinated Number (%)*	Not vaccinated Number (%)*	Number (%)**		
Information provided by the ministry has influenced my decision on vaccination					
Yes	80 (60.6)	52 (39.4)	132 (36.7)	16.248	<0.001
No	80(35.2)	147 (64.8)	227 (63.3)		
Official authority statements have influenced my decision on vaccination					
Yes	38 (50.7)	37 (49.3)	75 (20.8)	2.915	0.233
No	123 (43.2)	162 (56.8)	285 (79.2)		
I have sufficient information on pandemic influenza					
Yes	93 (52.0)	86 (48.0)	179 (49.7)	7.534	0.006
No	68 (37.6)	113 (62.4)	181 (50.3)		
Total	161 (44.7)	199 (55.3)	360 (100.0)		

*Row percentage, ** Column percentage

Independent variables		Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval
Information provided by the ministry has	Yes	2.9	1.9-4.6
Influenced my decision on vaccination	No	Reference	
Occupation	Physician	2.3	1.5-3.7
	Healthcare providers other than physician	Reference	
Vaccination with seasonal influenza	Yes	3.4	2.1-5.6
Vaccine a year before the pandemic	No	Reference	

Table 4. The results of logistic regression analysis covering the factors that influence SDPE

Discussion

The case of pandemic influenza was first detected in our country in May 15, 2009 and the number of cases did not increase during summer. However the number of cases started to increase rapidly in the fall of 2009-2010 due to reasons such as opening of the school year and preferring indoor places more frequently due to weather conditions [10]. Fatal pandemic fear arose throughout the world and because the number of pandemic influenza vaccines manufactured was limited, it was decided that the risk groups should be vaccinated first.

According to the results of our study, the ratio of being vaccinated with pandemic influenza vaccine was found to be 44.7%, and different results were obtained in the studies performed in our country. In a study by Ormen et al., which was performed in 2012 among healthcare providers the ratios of getting vaccinated with pandemic influenza vaccine was found to be 40%; in a study performed by Ertek et al., it was found to be 9.3% in 1164 participants from Ankara and 3.7% in 804 participants from Diyarbakir [11, 12]. In a survey on pandemic influenza vaccination performed among healthcare providers in Greece in 2009, vaccination rate was found to increase with advanced age, being male, being doctor and having a seasonal influenza vaccination history [13]. In another study, age was found to be an important factor in the preference of being vaccinated [14]. It was found that individuals who consider vaccination were older, and who do not consider vaccination were younger [14].

In a study performed in US, the ratio of those who accepted to be vaccinated with pandemic influenza vaccination was 81%, and it was thought that this high ratio might have occurred as a result of various methods used by CDC to increase vaccination [15]. CDC recommended vaccinations to be administered free of charge and seminars related to the risks of the disease and probable side effects of the vaccine to be arranged for healthcare providers in order to increase vaccination ratios [16, 17].

In studies conducted in our country it was found that the most frequent reasons for not getting a vaccination with pandemic influenza vaccine were the fear of the side effects of the vaccine and the lack of adequate studies on the vaccine [18]. Again in a study performed in Greece, though 97% of healthcare providers accept the importance of vaccination, only 17% were reported to have a vaccination with pandemic influenza vaccine [19]. In another study about the vaccine (28%) and thinking that he/she does not have the risk of contracting the disease (11%) were found to be the most important reasons in rejecting vaccination [20]. In our study, rationale of those who have rejected vaccination was the doubts about the protectiveness of the vaccine in 24.9% an fear of the side effects in 1.9%. Our results were similar to the other studies performed in our country and also in the world.

In the studies performed, the most important reasons for accepting vaccination with 2009 pandemic influenza vaccine were protecting himself/herself and the patients from the disease, fear of transmitting the disease to the people close to them and following the recommendations of the health authorities [21, 22]. However in our study, most frequent reasons to accept vaccination were being in the high risk group and the presence of a pandemic.

Conclusions

It is important to make announcements about vaccination with determination and by taking support from media and non-governmental organizations. Statements and explanations should be released with this in mind and media and non-governmental organizations should also take responsibility regarding this matter.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Nuno M, Chowell G, Gumel AB. Assessing the role of basic control measures, antivirals and vaccine in curtailing pandemic influenza: scenarios for the US, UK and Netherlands. J R Soc Interface. 2007 Jun 22;4(14):505–21.

[2] Malattie infettive e vaccinazioni. In: Ministry of Health of Italia.
2013.http://www.salute.gov.it/malattieInfettive/aginaInternaMenuM
alattieInfettive.menu= vaccinazioni. Accessed 15 May 2013.
[3] World Health Organization. Influenza vaccines. Wkly Epidemiol
Rec. 2002 Jul 12;77(28):230-9.

[4] Harper SA, Fukuda K, Uyeki TM, Cox NJ, Bridges CB. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). Prevention and control of influenza: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2004;53(RR-6):1-40.
[5] National Advisory Committee on Immunization. In: Public Health Agency of Canada. Canadian Immunization Guide. http://www.phacaspc.gc.ca/publicat/cig-gci/index.html. Accessed 15 May 2013.
[6] Salgado CD, Giannetta ET, Hayden FG, Farr BM. Preventing nosocomial influenza by improving the vaccine acceptance rate of clinicians. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2004 Nov;25(11):923-8.
[7] Lester RT, McGeer A, Tomlinson G, Detsky AS. Use of, effectiveness

of, and attitudes regarding influenza vaccine among house staff. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2003 Nov;24(11):839-44.

[8] Oshitani H, Saito R, Seki N, Tanabe N, Yamazaki O, Hayashi S, et al. Influenza vaccination levels and influenza-like illness in long-term-care facilities for elderly people in Niigata, Japan, during an influenza A (H3N2) epidemic. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2000 Nov;21(11):728-30.

[9] Carman WF, Elder AG, Wallace LA, McAulay K, Walker A, Murray GD, et al. Effects of influenza vaccination of health-care workers on mortality of elderly people in long-term care: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2000 Jan 8;355(9198):93-7.

[10] Ertek M, Durmaz R, Guldemir D, Altas AB, Albayrak N, Korukluoglu G. Epidemiological, demographic, and molecular characteristics of laboratory-confirmed pandemic influenza A (H1N1) virus infection in Turkey, May 15-November 30, 2009. Jpn J Infect Dis. 2010 Jul;63(4):239-45.

[11] Ertek M, Sevencan F, Kalaycioglu H, Gozalan A, Simsek C, Culha G, et al. Pandemic influenza A (H1N1) vaccination status and factors affecting vaccination: Ankara and Diyarbakir 2009 data from Turkey. Mikrobiyol Bul. 2011 Oct;45(4):684-96.

[12] Ormen B, Turker N, Vardar I, Kaptan F, El S, Ural S, et al. Hastane personeline pandemik influenza A (H1N1) asi uygulamasinin ardindan asilama hakkindaki gorusler ve gozlenen yan etkiler. Mikrobiyol Bul. 2012 Jan;46(1):57-64.

[13] Maltezou HC, Dedoukou X, Patrinos S, Maragos A, Poufta S, Gargalianos P, et al. Determinants of intention to get vaccinated against novel (pandemic) influenza A H1N1 among health-care workers in a nationwide survey. J Infect. 2010 Sep;61(3):252-8.

[14] Riphagen-Dalhuisen J, Gefenaite G, Hak E. Predictors of seasonal influenza vaccination among healthcare workers in hospitals: a descriptive meta-analysis. Occup Environ Med. 2012 Apr;69(4):230-5.

[15] Walker DW, Sloan SS, Kozlica JD. Public health worker attitudes and beliefs concerning 2009 H1N1 and seasonal influenza vaccines. Am J Infect Control. 2012 Apr;40(3):267-9.

[16] Canning HS, Phillips J, Allsup S. Health care worker beliefs about influenza vaccine and reasons for non-vaccination: a cross sectional survey. J Clin Nurs. 2005 Sep;14(8):922-5.

[17] Clark SJ, Cowan AE, Wortley PM. Influenza vaccination attitudes and practices among US registered nurses. Am J Infect Control. 2009 Sep;37(7):551-6.

[18] Arda B, Durusoy R, Yamazhan T, Sipahi OR, Tasbakan M, Pullukcu H, et al. Did the pandemic have an impact on influenza vaccination attitude? A survey among health care workers. BMC Infect Dis. 2011 Apr 7;11:87.

[19] Rachiotis G, Mouchtouri VA, Kremastinou J, Gourgoulianis K, Hadjichristodoulou C. Low acceptance of vaccination against the 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1) among healthcare workers in Greece. Euro Surveill. 2010 Feb 11;15(6):19486.

[20] Maltezou HC, Dedoukou X, Patrinos S, Maragos A, Poufta S, Gargalianos P, et al. Determinants of intention to get vaccinated against novel (pandemic) influenza A H1N1 among health-care workers in a nationwide survey. J Infect. 2010 Sep;61(3):252-8.

[21] Virseda S, Restrepo MA, Arranz E, Magan-Tapia P, Fernandez-Ruiz M, de la Camara AG, et al. Seasonal and pandemic A (H1N1) 2009 influenza vaccination coverage and attitudes among health-care workers in a Spanish University Hospital. Vaccine. 2010 Jul 5;28(30):4751-7.

[22] Kaboli F, Astrakianakis G, Li G, Guzman J, Donavan T, Naus M. Influenza vaccination and intention to receive the pandemic H1N1 influenza vaccine among healthcare workers of British Columbia, Canada: a crosssectional study. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2010 Oct;31(10):1017-24.



The European Research Journal Original Article

http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.119

Diabetic foot infections: effective microorganisms and factors affecting the frequency of osteomyelitis and amputation

Meliha Cagla Sonmezer, Necla Tulek, Metin Ozsoy, Fatma Erdinc, Gunay Ertem

Department of Infectious Disease and Clinical Microbiology, Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. Diabetic foot infections are common reason for hospitalization and are associated with high morbidity and mortality. We aimed to evaluate the clinic features and predisposed causes of osteomyelitis and amputation of patients with diabetic foot infections. Methods. Patients with diabetic foot infections who admitted and hospitalized at Infection Diseases and Clinical Microbiology department between January 2012 and July 2014 were included. Osteomyelitis was evaluated using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or bone scintigraphy. Microbiological examinations (Gram staining and culture) of the debridement materials and pus aspiration materials of the lesions were performed. Results. Of the seventy-three diabetic foot infected patients, 37 (50.7%) were female, and 36 (49.3%) were male. The mean age of patients was 57 ± 9.8 years. The mean duration of diabetes and HbA1c level were 13.3 ± 5.3 years and $8.17\pm1.83\%$; respectively. Soft tissue infection without osteomyelitis was present in only 34 out of 73 (46.5%) patients. A total of 89 pathogens were identified in 52 patients whereas any microorganism was not identified in 28.7%. Polymicrobial infections were detected in 30 (41%) patients. The most common isolated microorganism was Pseudomonas aeruginosa (36.9%), followed by Staphylococcus aureus (31.5%) and Enterococcus spp. (13.6%). Of the 37 (50.7%) patients had a history of diabetic foot infection previously, osteomyelitis progression was higher (89.2%) and statistically significant in these patients. Twelve (16.4%) patients underwent amputation. Conclusions. Advanced age and presence of osteomyelitis were found as risk factors for amputation. In the presence of osteomyelitis, treatment of diabetic foot infections is difficult and amputation rate is higher. For this reason, diabetic foot infections should be promptly treated before the development of osteomyelitis, and multidisciplinary approach is needed.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3):119-127

Keywords: Diabetic foot infection; osteomyelitis; amputation

Introduction

Diabetic foot infection is one of the complications of diabetes; it has high mortality and morbidity and is also one of the most common causes of hospitalization in diabetes [1, 2]. Diabetic foot infections generally start as a soft tissue infection secondary to a minor trauma, may advance to osteomyelitis, and eventually become a risk factor for amputation [3, 4]. Approximately one-fourth of

Address for correspondence:

Meliha Cagla Sonmezer, MD, Department of Infectious Disease and Clinical Microbiology, Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey Email: caglasonmezer@hotmail.com Received: 08.05.2015; Accepted: 02.09.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015
patients with diabetes mellitus (DM) have a diabetic foot infection in their lifetime and 15-20% of those cases result in amputation [3-6].

The development of diabetic foot infections can be primarily prevented by education of the patient and a good glycemic control; however, a multidisciplinary approach with various targets, such as appropriate antibiotic treatment, good glycemic control, appropriate surgical debridement, and education of the patient is needed once an infection has developed [1, 6, 7]. Some classification systems have been used to define the types, severity of infections and the outcomes of the cases. The most commonly used and easiest to use is the Meggit-Wagner classification [4-6].

The isolation of the effective microorganism, in addition to the wound classification, is needed for appropriate treatment in these infections. The most frequently isolated agents are gram positive cocci such as Staphylococcus aureus in superficial infections of mild to moderate severity in acute phases; Polymicrobial infections, in which gram negative bacilli and anaerobic bacteria are effective concomitantly, in addition to gram positive cocci in advanced stages and in the presence of severe infection [1, 3, 7, 8]. The most reliable method to detect the causative agent is obtaining a culture; however, when this is not possible, culturing the aspiration material from the pus provides more reliable results compared to swab samples [9, 10].

The aim of this study was to retrospectively evaluate various aspects of patients with diabetic foot infections who were followed-up during a two and a half year period.

Methods

Patients with diabetic foot infection that were followed-up at the Infection Diseases and Clinical Microbiology Clinic of Ankara Training and Research Hospital between January 2012 and July 2014 were included in the study retrospectively. The age and gender of the patients, duration and treatment of diabetes, use of oral antidiabetic agent (OAD) or insulin, past medical history including microvascular complications such as presence of

120

neuropathy, nephropathy, and retinopathy, past episodes of diabetic foot infections, HbA1c (glycosylated hemoglobin) values at the time of diagnosis, and the opinion of an endocrinology consultant were recorded. The lesions of the patients were classified according to the Wagner classification (Table 1) [4]. According to this classification, patients with pressure in the foot due to shoes (callus formation) (Stage 0) were excluded from the study.

Osteomyelitis was evaluated using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or bone scintigraphy besides the direct roentgenograms according to the stage of the patient. The bilateral lower extremity arterial Doppler ultrasonography report of each patient was analyzed in order to detect peripheral vascular disease and the joint decision of the orthopedic, cardiovascular surgery, and plastic surgery clinics was recorded.

Microbiological examinations (Gram staining and culture) of the debridement materials and pus aspiration materials of the lesions were performed. Aerobic cultures were performed in all samples, while anaerobic cultures could not be done in most patients due to technical impossibilities. Clinical samples were routinely cultured in blood agar and EMB (Eosin methylene blue) agar plaques for both aerobic and anaerobic identification. The samples were incubated for 24 hours at 35°C under aerobic conditions to identify the aerobic microorganisms. For anaerobic cultures, the samples arriving the laboratory in a capped syringe with no air inside were cultured into anaerobic blood agar, which was prepared adding 5% sheep blood and vitamin K1 (1 •g/mL). The cultured anaerobic agars were placed into anaerobic jars and an environment without oxygen is provided with a dry system gas package (AnaeroGen-Oxoid, Basingstoke, UK). An anaerobic indicator (Oxoid, Basingstoke, UK) was used as an indicator to control the anaerobic environment. To grow the anaerobic bacteria, the agars were incubated for 48 hours at 35-37°C in an anaerobic environment. The definition of microorganisms and the antibiotic sensitivities were performed using the VITEK II automated system (Biomèrieux, France) according to the CLSI (Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute) [11] guidelines.

Table 1. Wagner classification in diabetic foot ulcers

- Stage 0: Formation of bone protrusion with healthy skin and/or callus formation (risk of ulceration)
- **Stage 1:** Superficial ulcer with no involvement of deep tissues
- Stage 2: Deep ulcer involving tendon, bone, ligament of joint
- Stage 3: Deep ulcer including abscess and/or osteomyelitis
- Stage 4 Gangrene involving the toes and/or metatarsal region
- **Stage 5:** Gangrene involving the heel and/or the whole foot at an unrecoverable level that necessitates amputation

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of the data obtained was performed using SPSS for Windows 15.0 package program. The descriptive analysis was performed and the data was expressed as number, percentage, and mean \pm standard deviation. The normal distribution of continuous variables was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The t-test and Mann-Whitney U-test were used to compare two independent groups in case of normal distribution and nonnormal distribution, respectively. The chi-square test was used to analyze the categorical variables. The level of statistical significance was determined as *p*<0.05.

Results

Thirty-seven of the patients were females (50.7%) and 36 were males (49.3%) among the total 73 patients included in the study. The mean age of the patients was 57 ± 9.8 years (range: 34-77 years) and mean duration of diabetes was 13.4 ± 5.3 years. The mean HbA1C level of the patients was $8.17\pm1.83\%$.

Thirty-six patients (49.3%) were on insulin treatment, 23 (31.5%) were on insulin in addition to oral antidiabetic drugs (OAD), and 14 patients (19.1%) were on OAD alone. Diabetic foot infections of fifteen patients (20.5%) were classified as Stage 1, 19 of (26%) were Stage 2, seven (9.6%) were Stage 3, 20 (27.4%) were Stage 4, and 12 (16.4%) were Stage 5. Clinical and demographic characteristics of the patients are summarized in Table 2. Thirty-nine patients (53.4%) of patients had osteomyelitis in addition to soft tissue infection,while 34 (46.5%) had only soft tissue infection. The mean age of the patients whose disease advanced and did not advance to osteomyelitis was 63.25±5.7 years and 49.88±8.5 years, respectively, and the difference between the two groups was statistically significant (p < 0.001). The mean duration of diabetes and HbA1c levels in patients with osteomyelitis was 15 years and 8.9%, respectively, and these were significantly higher than those of without osteomyelitis (p=0.042and p < 0.001, respectively). Past medical history revealed prior diabetic foot infections in 37 patients (50.7%); the rate of advancement to osteomyelitis (89.2%) was statistically significantly higher in these patients than those of without infection history (p < 0.001). Clinical and laboratory findings of the patients with osteomyelitis and comparison with the patients without osteomyelitis as shown in Table 3. The rate of all antidiabetic drug use was markedly higher in patients with osteomyelitis. Amputation not performed in any of the patients who had soft tissue infection alone: however. amputations at specific levels were performed in 12 patients ((30.8%) out of 39 patients who had concomitant osteomyelitis (p < 0.001). All of the patients who had osteomyelitis and underwent amputation were Stage 5 according to the Wagner classification (p < 0.001). The age and the rate of presence of osteomyelitis were higher in patients who underwent amputation. Clinical and laboratory findings of patients who did and did not undergo amputation are summarized in Table 4. Anaerobic cultures were performed in 16 patients (20.8%), although aerobic cultures were performed in all patients. However, no anaerobic agent was isolated. According to the culture results, a total of

Properties	Number of patients (%)
Male/Female	36 (49.3)/ 37 (50.7)
Mean age (years, range)	57±9.81 (34-77)
Mean duration of diabetes	13.4±5.33
Mean HbA1c* (%)	8.17±1.83
OAD** use	14 (19.1)
Insulin use	36 (46.3)
OAD**+insulin use	23 (31.5)
Past history of infection	37 (50.7)
Wagner classification	
Stage 1	15 (20.5)
Stage 2	19 (26)
Stage 3	7 (9.6)
Stage 4	20 (27.4)
Stage 5	12 (%16.4)

Table 2. Clinical and Demographic characteristics of the patients

*HbA1c=Glycosylated hemoglobin, **OAD=Oral antidiabetic drug

	Osteomyelitis (n=39)	No Osteomyelitis (n=34)	p value
Wagner stage ≤3	7 (17.1%)	34 (82.9%)	< 0.001
Wagner stage >3	32 (100%)	-	< 0.001
Age (mean±SD)	63.25±5.7	49.88±8.5	< 0.001
Duration of diabetes (year) (median)	15	9.5	< 0.001
Past history of diabetic foot infection	33(89.2%)	4 (10.8%)	
OAD* use	13 (38.2%)	1 (2.6%)	< 0.001
OAD*+insulin use	18 (52.9%)	5 (12.8%)	
Insulin use	33(84.6%)	3 (8.8%)	0.044
HbA1c** (%) (median)	8.9	8.3	

Table 3. Clinical and laboratory findings in patients with and without osteomyelitis

*OAD=Oral antidiabetic drug, **HbA1c=Glycosylated hemoglobin

89 pathogenic agents were identified in 52 patients (71.2%), while no agent was identified in other patients (28.7%). More than one agent was isolated in 30 patients (41%). The most commonly isolated bacteria in order of frequency were Pseudomonas aeruginosa (n: 27, 36.9%), Staphylococcus aureus (n: 23, 31.5%), and enterococcus spp. (n: 10, 13.6%).

Among the isolated S. aureus species, 19 (21.1%) were methicillin sensitive and four (3.9%) were methicillin resistant. Methicillin resistance rate was 17% among the S. aureus species. Isolated microorganisms are summarized in Table 5. When the antibiotherapies administered to the patients were analyzed, monotherapy was applied

	Amputation (n=12)	No Amputation (n=61)	<i>p</i> value
Wagner stage ≤3	-	41 (67.3%)	
Wagner stage >3	12 (100%)	20 (32.7%)	< 0.001
Age (mean±SD)	64.75 ± 6.0	55.5±9.7	< 0.001
Duration of Diabetes (year) (median)	11	16	0.042
Presence of osteomyelitis	12 (100%)	27 (44.3%)	< 0.001
Past history of DFI*	8 (66.6%)	29 (47.5%)	0.345
HbA1c **(%) (median)	8.65	8.6	0.644

Table 4. Clinical and laboratory findings in patients with and without amputation

*DFI=Diabetic foot infection, **HbA1c=Glycosylated hemoglobin

to 27 patients (36.9%), while 46 patients (63%) were received combined antibiotherapy. Piperacillintazobactam was used in 18 (66.6%) of the patients who received monotherapy. Other antibiotics used in monotherapy were imipenem, meropenem, ampicillin-sulbactam, and glycopeptides. The most frequently used combination among the patients who received combined antibiotherapy was vancomycin-meropenem combination (41.3%). Other antibiotics used in combined antibiotherapy were ampicillin-sulbactam+ciprofloxacin, vancomycin+piperacillin-tazobactam, and glycopeptide+ rifampin.

Discussion

The development of DFI and advancement to osteomyelitis and amputation in diabetic patients are closely related with advanced age, presence of microvascular complications (retinopathy, nephropathy, and neuropathy), duration of diabetes, and blood glucose level [12-14]. Diabetic foot infections were found to occur after 40 years of age, the frequency of the infections and amputations were found to increase with age, and they were found to occur in higher rates in men compared to women [12, 13, 15]. The mean age was also found to be high in the present study; however, the male/female ratio was found to be equal (49.3% / 50.7%). Compatible with other studies, the age of the patients was significantly higher in patients who

underwent amputation compared to the ones who had no amputation (p<0.001) [14, 16].

Effective wound care, appropriate antimicrobial treatment, and good glycemic control are of utmost importance in the multidisciplinary approach to diabetic foot infections. Chronic hyperglycemia, which develops as a result of poor glycemic control, is known to cause impairment in neutrophil functions and to provide a basis for infections [15, 16]. High levels of HbA1c were suggested in two different studies to pave the way for the recurrence of diabetic foot infections and the development of neuropathy, and as a result, become a risk factor for amputation [17, 18]. Mean HbA1c levels in the present study at the beginning were 8.17% and high values were detected in patients with a prior history of diabetic foot infection. We suggest that providing glycemic control with conversion to insulin treatment or dose adjustment in patients with initial high levels of HbA1c will be effective in controlling infections.

In western societies, diabetic foot infections are generally seen 18 or more years after the diagnosis [14, 19]. This time period was reported to be 14.4 years and 16.6 years in the studies performed by Savas *et al.* and Demirci *et al.*, respectively, in Turkey [20, 21]. The same measure was a mean 13.4 years in the current study. The reason of the earlier onset of diabetic foot infections in Turkey might be due to differences in the educational and socioeconomical level of the patients.

The first step in the diagnosis and treatment planning of diabetic foot infection is to define the extension

T 11 T	T 1 . 1	•	•
Table 5.	Isolated	microor	ganisms
			0

Microorganism	Number of patients (%)
Agent not specified	21 (28.7)
Single microorganism	22 (30.1)
P. aeruginosa	7 (31.8)
MSSA*	4 (18.1)
Enterobacter cloacae	3 (13.6)
MRSA**	2 (9.1)
Coagulase negative staphylococcus	2 (9.1)
Morganella morganii	1 (4.5)
Escherichia coli	1 (4.5)
Klebsiella spp.	1 (4.5)
Proteus mirabilis	1 (4.5)
More than one microorganism	30(41.1)
P. aeruginosa	20 (66.6)
MSSA*	15 (50)
Enterococcus spp.	10 (33.3)
Coagulase negative staphylococcus	5 (16.6)
Morganella morganii	5 (16.6)
Escherichia coli	4 (13.3)
Enterobacter cloacae	3 (10)
MRSA**	2 (6.6)
Proteus mirabilis	2 (6.6)
Klebsiella spp.	1 (3.3)

*MSSA=Methicillin sensitive S. aureus, **MRSA=Methicillin resistant S. aureus

of tissue damage and the isolation of the causative agent. The commonly used Wagner classification was preferred in this present study due to its easier application compared to other classifications [22]. Most of infections in our patients were Wagner 4 stage. This may be explained by the level of our hospital (tertiary hospital). Advanced age, duration of diabetes and past history of diabetic foot infection were all found the main factors effecting development of osteomyelitis in this study. A prior history of diabetic foot infection and the presence of osteomyelitis play major roles in treatment failure and advancement of the condition necessitating amputation [6, 7, 12]. An association between the presence of osteomyelitis and frequency of amputation, similar to the current study, has been reported in many previous studies [1, 4, 12, 15]. The rate of amputation in the present study was identified as 16.4%. The high rate of amputation might be due to the fact that our hospital is a tertiary hospital and thus particularly complicated cases are generally referred to this hospital. The presence of a prior diabetic foot infection and a statistically significantly high rate of osteomyelitis and amputation, especially in this group of patients, support the findings of the previous studies performed [1, 7].

Obtaining a sample by aspiration following careful

cleansing with serum saline without using any antiseptic solutions in cases when deep tissue and biopsy samples could not be obtained for various reasons has been reported to be more reliable compared to superficial swab samples in the isolation of causative agents in these infections [1, 3, 4]. In the present study, debridement materials and pus aspiration materials obtained from the lesions were evaluated. Anaerobic cultures can be performed in only 16 patients with no isolation of any causative agents, while aerobic cultures were performed in each sample. The reason for the inadequate detection of anaerobic agents may be due to the fact that they could not be performed in an adequate number of patients. Anaerobic bacteria frequently are involved in generally severe infections; however, isolation rates of anaerobic agents is low due to various factors such as the difficulties in obtaining and transport of these anaerobic culture samples and technical insufficiencies.

The most commonly seen microorganism in diabetic foot infection is S. aureus, while other gram positive microorganisms, gram negative aerobic bacilli, and anaerobic microorganisms may also be the causative agent. Although the agent is a single one in mild to moderate or acute infections (most commonly S. aureus), the most frequently seen agents in severe or chronic infections are gram negatives and anaerobes and polymicrobials, in general [1, 3, 7, 22]. A total of 89 causative pathogens were identified in 52 patients (71.2%) and no agent could be identified in the rest of the patients (28.7%). The number of causative agents identified was more than one in 30 patients (41%). The most frequently isolated bacteria were, P. aeruginosa (30%), S. aureus (25.5%), and enterococcus spp. Some studies have found P. aeruginosa as the most frequently seen causative agent, similar to the current study [1, 9]. The isolation of P. aeruginosa as the most commonly seen agent in the current study may be due to the fact that 53.4% of our patients were Wagner stage \geq 3. The agents in severe infections with a high risk of amputation due to advancement of the lesion into the deep tissues and accompanying osteomyelitis are most commonly polymicrobial in contrast to low risk infections.

Empirical antibiotic treatment should be started

early in these patients due to the risk of fast dissemination of infection to the deep tissues. The application of surgical debridement in addition to possible empirical antibiotic treatment decreases morbidity and mortality [1, 3, 23]. There is no gold standard antimicrobial treatment regimen in the management of diabetic foot infections [3, 23]. The severity of the infection, probability of the presence of resistant microorganisms, accompanying microvascular complications, the presence of osteomyelitis, and a prior history of infection episodes should all be taken into account. Since the most commonly encountered agents in mild to moderate superficial infections are gram positive bacteria and mainly staphylococci, targeting gram positive cocci in empirical therapy is reported to be adequate and monotherapy is generally stated to be effective in this group of patients. For the initial treatment of this type of infections, oral amoxicillin-clavulanate or parenteral beta-lactam +beta-lactamase inhibitors such as ampicillin /sulbactam, piperacillin/tazobactam, ticarcillin /clavulanic acid are among the recommended drugs. The most important advantages of beta-lactam + beta-lactamase inhibitors are the possibility of the application of monotherapy, the presence of oral forms, and the avoidance of disadvantages of multiple drug use [1, 3, 24-26]. Monotherapy was administered to 27 out of 73 patients (36.9%), while combined antibiotherapy was administered to 46 patients (63%). However, 44.4% of those patients had superficial soft tissue infection, while 54.6% had osteomyelitis. Piperacillin-tazobactam was the most common (66%) used agent as monotherapy. An analysis of isolated bacteria revealed that gram negative bacteria such as P. aeruginosa and gram positive bacteria such as S. aureus ranked first. This finding is compatible with the opinion that suggests the use of a beta-lactam+beta-lactamase inhibitor such as piperacillin-tazobactam in empirical treatment which has gram negative, antipseudomonal, and anti-anaerobe efficacy, in addition to gram positive efficacy.

Anti-anaerobic agents should be included in the treatment regimen in the presence of predisposing factors for amputation due to the high rate of involvement of anaerobic bacteria in diabetic foot infections. Therefore, initially, monotherapy or combined antibiotherapy including wide spectrum antibiotics should be selected that will cover gram positive, gram negative, and anaerobic bacteria in empirical treatment. Parenteral monotherapy with betalactam+beta-lactamase inhibitors such as ampicillin/sulbactam, piperacillin/tazobactam, ticarcillin-clavulanic acid, carbapenems, ciprofloxacin+clindamycin combination, or third/fourth generation cefalosporines +clindamycin/metronidazole combinations can be preferred in this group of patients [1, 3, 24-26]. Combined antibiotherapy was applied in 46 patients (63%) in this study. A deep soft tissue infection was present in 47.8% of our patients, while 52.2% had osteomyelitis. Eleven (91.7%) out of 12 patients who underwent amputation had received combined antibiotherapy. The most commonly used combination was vancomycin+meropenem (41.3%). Other antibiotics that were used in combined antibiotherapy were combinations of ampicillinsulbactam+ciprofloxacine, vancomycin+piperacillin -tazobactam and glycopeptide+rifampin combinations. In other studies published in the literature, factors such as prior history of diabetic foot infection, presence of osteomyelitis, poor glycemic control, advanced age, accompanying microvascular complications, and Wagner stage ?3 were reported to negatively affect the treatment success and to be the predisposing factors for amputation; therefore, wide spectrum antibiotics have been recommended in this group of infections [1, 4, 12, 15]. The reason for the frequent use of carbapenem group of antibiotics and glycopeptides in the present study is the presence of recurrent cases, advanced age, and presence of life-threatening and severe infections. The frequency of amputation and presence of osteomyelitis was statistically significant. The reason for this was thought to be the failure of treatment due to the difficulties in penetration of the antibiotics to the bony tissues in osteomyelitis or delay in the diagnosis of osteomyelitis.

The multidisciplinary treatment approach involves surgical debridement, control of blood glucose levels, and some procedures such as bone resection in the presence of osteomyelitis in addition to appropriate antimicrobial treatment.

Conclusions

Diabetic foot infection is a major health problem, since it causes loss of labor, psychosocial damage, and economic loss due to high treatment costs. Appropriate foot cares and good glycemic control decrease the rate of development of infections and amputations by 50% [22]. Therefore, the primary approach to diabetic foot infection should be education of the patient regarding the complications of diabetes. In addition, a multidisciplinary approach and follow-up at all stages is necessary.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Ertugrul B, Oncul O, Willke A, Tulek N, Sacar S, Tunccan G, et al. A prospective, multi-center study: factors related to the management of diabetic foot infections. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2012 Sep;31(9):2345-52.

[2] Swartz MN, Pasternack MS. Cellulitis and subcutaneous tissue infections. In: Mandell GL, Bennet JE, Dolin R, eds. Mandell, Douglas, and Bennet's Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases. Seventh ed. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone, 2010:1300-2.

[3] Lipsky BA, Berendt AR, Cornia PB, Pile JC, Peters EJ, Armstrong DG, et al. 2012 Infectious diseases society of America clinical practice guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of diabetic foot infections. J Am Podiatr Med Assoc. 2013:Jan-Feb;103(1):2-7.

[4] Monteiro-Soares M, Martins-Mendes D, Vaz-Carneiro A, Sampaio S, Dinis-Ribeiro M. Classification systems for lower extremity amputation prediction in subjects with active diabetic foot ulcer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2014 Oct;30(7):610-22.

[5] Wagner FW Jr. A classification and treatment program for diabetic neuropathic and dysvascular foot problems, in AAOS. Inst Course Lect. 1979;28:143-65.

[6] Lipsky BA. Osteomyelitis of the foot in diabetic patients. Clin Infect Dis. 1997 Dec;25(6):1318-26

[7] Hatipoglu M, Mutluoglu M, Uzun G, Karabacak E, Turhan V, Lipsky BA. The microbiologic profile of diabetic foot infections in

Turkey: a 20-year systematic review. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2014 Jun;33(6):871-8.

[8] Noviello S, Esposito I, Pascale R, Esposito S, Zeppa P. [Diabetic foot infections: microbiological aspects]. Infez Med. 2012;20 Suppl 1:20-7.

[9] Ertugrul B, Baktiroglu S, Salman S, Unal S, Aksoy M, Berberoglu K, et al. Pathogens isolated from deep soft tissue and bone in patients with diabetic foot infections. J Am Podiatr Med Assoc. 2008 Jul-Aug;98(4):290-5.

[10] Balakrishnan S, Shahid NJ, Fairuz T, Ramdhan I. 'Does the National Antibiotic Guideline- 2008 remain applicable for treating diabetic foot infection?' A new evidence-based regional study on culture and sensitivity patterns in Terengganu population. Malays Orthop J. 2014 Mar;8(1):42-4.

[11] Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute: Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing; CLSI/NCCLS Document M100-S15, CLSI, Wayne, PA, 2005.

[12] Reiber GE, Pecoraro RE, Koepsell TD. Risk factors for amputation in patients with diabetes mellitus. A case-control study. Ann Intern Med. 1992 Jul 15;117(2):97-105.

[13] Perrin B. A retrospective audit of a diabetic foot clinic. Australas J Podiatr Med. 2006;40:23-5.

[14] Zaine HN, Burns J, Vicaretti M, Fletcher JP, Begg L, Hitos K. Characteristics of diabetic foot ulcers in Western Sydney, Australia. J Foot Ankle Res. 2014 Sep 28;7(1):39.

[15] Levin ME. Management of the diabetic foot: preventing amputation. South Med. J 2002 Jan;95(1):10-20.

[16] Durgun O, Durgun AG, Ersoy CO, Almacýoglu S, KaradayýD, Ozkaya G, et al. A retrospective evaluation of factors that determine the necessities of amputation in diabetic foot patients. Uludag Med J. 2012;38(2):59-62.

[17] Mantey I, Foster AV, Spencer S, Edmonds ME. Why do foot

ulcers recur in diabetic patients? Diabet Med. 1999 Mar;16(3):245-9.

[18] Connor H, Mahdi OZ. Repetitive ulceration in neuropathic patients. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2004 May-Jun;20(Suppl 1):S23-8.
[19] Moss SE, Klein R, Klein BE. The prevalence and insidence of lower extremity amputation in a diabetic population. Arch Intern Med. 1992 Mar;152(3):610-6.

[20] Savas MC, Sozen T, Bayraktar M. Investigation of Risk Factors on 84 Patients with Diabetic Foot. Turkish Diabetes Annual. 1994-1995;10:127-30.

[21] Demirci H, Akturk M, Karakoç A, Toruner F, Yetkin I, Ayvaz G, et al. Incidence of microvascular complications and their association with osteomyelitis in patients with diabetic foot ulcers. Gazi Med J. 2006;17(4):209-12.

[22] Bozkurt F, Tekin R, Celen MK, Ayaz C. Wagner classification and culture analysis of diabetic foot infection. Dicle Med J. 2011;38(1): 31-4.

[23] West NJ. Systemic antimicrobial treatment of foot infections in diabetic patients. Am J Health-Syst Pharm. 1995 Jun 1;52(11):1199-207.

[24] Frykberg RG. An evidence based approach to diabetic foot infections. Am J Surg. 2003 Nov 28;186(5A):44S-54S; discussion 61S-64S.

[25] Ozkan Y, Colak R, Demirdag K, Yildirim MA, Ozalp G. Retrospective evaluation of 142 cases with diabetic foot syndrome. Turkiye Klinikleri J Endocrin. 2004;2:191-5.

[26] Tan JS, Wishnow RM, Talan DA, Duncanson FP, Norden CW. Treatment of hospitalized patients with complicated skin and skin structure infections: double-blind, randomized, multicenter study of piperacillin-tazobactam versus ticarcillin-clavulonate.The Piperacillin/Tazobactam Skin and Skin Structure Study Group. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1993 Aug;37(8):1580-6.



The European Research Journal Original Article

http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.128

Relationship between internet addiction, psychopathology and self-esteem among university students

Ersin Budak¹, Ibrahim Taymur², Rustem Askin², Buket Belkiz Gungor², Hakan Demirci³, Almila Ikra Akgul², Zeynep Anil Sahin²

¹Department of Psychology, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey ²Department of Psychiatry, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey ³Department of Family Medicine, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. Internet addiction is closely associated with general psychopathology and interpersonal relationships. The aim of our study is to investigate the relationship between internet addiction, psychopathology and selfesteem among university students. Methods. One hundred and eighty-five volunteer university students were involved in this study. The participants are evaluated with socio-demographic data form, Internet Addiction Scale (IAS), Symptom Check List (SCL-90), Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES). Results. In order to evaluate the internet addiction, the participants were divided into three internet addiction (IA) groups as "none", "low" and "moderate/high" according to their addiction status. The addiction status was assessed as risk of low level in 59 (31.89 %) participants, high level in 27 (14.59 %) participants and none in 99 (53.51%) participants. A high positive correlation was found between IAS and SCL-90 subscales and RSES (p<0.001). In three different IA groups it was found out that all SCL-90 subscale averages increase (p < 0.001), and RSES subscale averages decrease (p = 0.001) as internet addiction severity increases. According to regression analysis it is seen that, all SCL-90 subscale scores explain 19.4% of IAS scores and, all SCL-90 subscales and RSES subscale scores explain 25% of IAS scores. Conclusions. Significant relationship was found between internet addiction and general psychopathology and self-esteem. This result shows that psychopathology and self-esteem must be taken into consideration as important parameters in approach to internet addiction.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3):128-135

Keywords: Internet addiction; psychopathology; self-esteem

Address for correspondence:

Copyright © 2015 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy

Ersin Budak, Department of Psychology, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Yildirim, Bursa, Turkey Email: ersin240@hotmail.com Received: 07.04.2015; Accepted: 07.08.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015

Introduction

Despite the simplicity it brings to our daily lives, one of the most important problems that we face with internet is the internet addiction (IA) that is associated with loose of control of the user on internet usage [1, 2]. It is thought that among reasons of IA there may be psychological, neurobiological and cultural factors [3]. In studies about IA; it was found out that addiction scores are positively correlated with depression and anxiety scores, and individuals with IA are more affected by depression and anxiety. At the same time, it was observed that there are depressive symptoms in more than half of the ones who seek for IA treatment, and depressive symptoms diminish in treated individuals with IA [4-8].

It is evaluated that, personality traits of the young people with IA are different, in addition to depression and anxiety symptoms, introversion, neurotic personality traits, hyperactivity and impulsivity signs are much more in people with IA; second axis clinical diagnosis of the young people with IA may be borderline personality disorder, obsessive compulsive personality disorder [9-12]. It is seen that, paranoid ideation, hostility, anxiety, depression, interpersonal sensitivity, obsessive compulsive average scores are higher in individuals with high IA scores than the ones without IA [13, 14]. It is reported that in the individuals with IA, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) incidence and ADHD scores are higher, and obsessive compulsive symptoms, attention and motor impulsivity may raise internet addiction [15-17]. Beside this, it is shown that overuse of internet may cause deprivation as in the substance usage disorder, and internet addicted people have difficulty in inhibition of inappropriate behavior [18, 19].

Another important topic in IA is self-esteem. Especially, it is evaluated that there is a significant relationship between low self-esteem and IA; and self-esteem of people with IA increases significantly after treatment [20-22]. It is assessed that self-esteem mediates positive parental behavior which is important for IA [23]. It is reported that, self-esteem explains 38% of IA with life satisfaction and isolation, and it may explain time management problems, interpersonal relationships and health problems in IA [24]. In another study, it is considered that, self-esteem may be an important factor in relationship between childhood abuse and internet addiction, and selfesteem may predict internet addiction in these individuals and it may be a factor to be considered in treatment process of these individuals [25]. It is reported that there is a significant relationship between severity of IA and depressive symptoms, somatic symptoms and low self-esteem, ant it is suggested that anxiety, depression and self-esteem must be taken into consideration in IA prevention and intervention programs for adolescents with attention deficit and hyperactivity diagnosis [26].

The severity of internet addiction and several psychopathological features and self-esteem may be closely related to each other. Beside this, self-esteem may have an important role as well as psychopathological features in prediction of IA. The aim of this study: is to analyze the relationship between internet addiction, psychopathology and self-esteem among university students.

Methods

In this study, students of Bursa Orhangazi University were evaluated in April 2014. We have obtained permission from the university administration and the students were informed about the study before participation.

Participation was determined on a voluntary basis and participation approval permission was taken from each student. 200 students were evaluated in our study who declares to use internet. Exclusivity criteria of the study were determined as incorrect or incomplete measurement and 15 students' data were excluded from the study as they were incorrect or incomplete. In our study exclusion criterias are schizophrenia, manic phase of bipolar disorder and psychosis are determined. But with these exclusion criteria of the subjects it did not appear to be any person.

The students were evaluated as groups in a quiet classroom. Following the briefing the participants were assessed with socio-demographical data form and scales of paper and pencil tests.

Internet Addiction Scale (IAS)

Validity of the Internet Addiction Scale (IAS) [27] which was developed by Nicolas and Nichi in 2004 in order to evaluate the internet addiction(IA) was made by Kayri and Gunuc (2009) in Turkey on

university students [28]. The Crombach α value of the scale was found as 0.93 in this study. Scale is composed of 31 articles andthere is no reverse scored article. The attitudes in likert form are scored as: "1never, 2-rarely, 3-sometimes, 4-frequently and 5always" and the scores of the scale ranges between 31 and 155. In the validity study made by Kayri and Gunuc (2009) addiction scores are evaluated in 5 groups as 30-60, 61-70, 71-80, 81-89 and 90-over. However, in the study of Dalbudak and friends on the university students in our country, it is seen that cut-off point of the scale in terms of addiction is 81, and IA is assessed in three groups in IAS as 30-60 (no addiction), 61-80 (light addiction) and 81 and over (risk in terms of addiction/addicted) [9]. Therefore we also evaluated the severity of total IAS scores of the participants in 3 groups as determined by Dalbudak and friends.

Symptom Check List (SCL-90)

Symptom Check List is an evaluation tool which was developed by Derogatis (1983) and that evaluates psychiatric symptoms composed of 90 articles and 9 subscales [29]. Validity and reliability of the scale was made by Dag (1991) and its reliability co-efficient according to subscales were as follows; Somatization (SOM) 0.82; Obsessive-Compulsive (O-C) 0.84; Interpersonal Sensitivity (INT) 0.79; Depression (DEP) 0.78; Anxiety (ANX) 0.73; Anger-Hostility (HOS) 0.79; Phobic Anxiety (PA) 0.78; Paranoid Ideation (PAR) 0.63; Psychoticism (PSY) 0.73; Additional Scale (AS) 0.77 [30].

Table 1. Correlations between the scale scores.

Rosenberg Self Esteem Scale (RSES)

The inventory developed by Rosenberg is used for the purpose of self-esteem evaluation of the individuals [31]. The validity of the inventory was made by Cuhadaroglu in our country and the test retest reliability of the inventory was found as 0.89 [32]. The sub dimensions of the inventory composed of 63 multiple choice articles are as follows: Self-esteem, Continuity of self-concept, Relying on people, Sensitivity to criticism, Depressive mood, Visionary, Psychosomatic symptoms, Feeling threatened in interpersonal relationships, Degree of participating in discussions, Interest of parents, Relationship with father, Psychic isolation. Increase of scores obtained from these subscales (except relationship with father) is evaluated as a negative situation in terms of self-esteem. Increase of the score obtained from Relationship with father subscale shows that relation with father increases. All subscales of the inventory are used in our study.

Statistical Analysis

In this study, the data has evaluated with SPSS 22.0 program. For all analyzes, a level of significance α =0.05 was determined. We have used the independent groupst test to evaluate sociodemographic data; Kruskal Wallis analysis to compare psychopathology and self-esteem in three different internet addiction (IA) groups (without IA, mild IA, moderate/high IA); and Pearson correlation coefficient and hierarchical linear regression analysis to analyze the relationship between internet addiction and self-esteem.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
1-IAS	-												
2-SE	0.25*	-											
3-S	0.34*	0.34*	-										
4-0- C	0.40*	0.40*	0.68*	-									
5-INT	0.41*	0.38*	0.56*	0.67*	-								
6-DEP	0.42*	0.48*	0.71*	0.75*	0.79*	-							
7-ANX	0.45*	0.42*	0.79*	0.77*	0.73*	0.84*	-						
8-HOS	0.37*	0.33*	0.57*	0.62*	0.59*	0.65*	0.77*	-					
9-PA	0.35*	0.36*	0.63*	0.60*	0.69*	0.74*	0.77*	0.62*	-				
10-PI	0.33*	0.35*	0.61*	0.63*	0.74*	0.70*	0.76*	0.69*	0.68*	-			
11-PSY	0.41*	0.38*	0.63*	0.70*	0.72*	0.73*	0.80*	0.61*	0.76*	0.71*	-		
12-AS	0.32*	0.33*	0.60*	0.60*	0.62*	0.72*	0.71*	0.58*	0.66*	0.66*	0.69*	-	
13-GP	0.45*	0.45*	0.81*	0.84*	0.84*	0.91*	0.94*	0.78*	0.83*	0.83*	0.86*	0.79*	-

IAS=Internet Addiction Scale, SE=Self Esteem S=Somatization, O-C=Obsessive-Compulsive, INT=Interpersonal Sensitivity, DEP=Depression ANX=Anxiety, HOS=Anger-Hostility, PA= Phobic Anxiety, PI=Paranoid Ideation, PSY=Psychoticism, AS=Additional Scale GP= General Psychopathology, *p<0.001.

	without IA n=99		milc n=	l IA 59	moderate/high IA n=27		Chi- Squar	p e
	mean	SD	mean	SD	mean	SD		
Somatization ^b	0.48	0.46	0.66	0.44	1.02	0.71	17.70	< 0.001
Obsessive-Compulsive ^b	0.98	0.61	1.32	0.73	1.64	0.84	16.20	< 0.001
Interpersonal Sensitivity ^a	0.71	0.64	1.06	0.63	1.46	0.96	21.83	< 0.001
Depression ^b	0.65	0.60	0.85	0.57	1.46	0.96	20.40	< 0.001
Anxiety ^a	0.58	0.60	0.91	0.69	1.50	1.02	26.10	< 0.001
Anger-Hostility ^b	0.64	0.73	0.88	0.75	1.41	0.97	18.64	< 0.001
Phobic Anxiety ^b	0.31	0.46	0.41	0.51	0.84	0.88	11.40	0.003
Paranoid Ideation ^b	0.78	0.66	1.02	0.61	1.24	0.75	13.23	0.001
Psychoticism ^a	0.37	0.42	0.59	0.49	0.90	0.76	19.00	< 0.001
Additional Scale ^b	0.71	0.60	0.91	0.53	1.17	0.91	10.04	0.007
General Psychopathology ^b	0.62	0.47	0.86	0.48	1.29	0.81	22.06	< 0.001
Continuity of self-concept ^c	3.17	1.30	3.66	1.16	3.85	1.26	10.23	0.006
Relying on people ^d	2.56	1.12	3.00	0.98	2.74	1.12	6.64	0.036
Sensitivity to criticism ^e	1.49	1.06	1.89	1.09	1.88	1.05	6.20	0.045
Depressive mood ^e	1.52	1.14	1.69	1.00	2.07	1.07	4.63	0.099
Visionary ^a	1.13	1.20	1.67	1.41	2.51	1.34	18.08	< 0.001
Psychosomatic symptoms ^b	2.26	2.16	2.88	2.48	4.66	2.61	16.36	< 0.001
Feeling threatened in interpersonal	0.01	0.02	1.05	0.01	1.00	0.01	- (0)	0.001
relationships ^d	0.81	0.92	1.05	0.91	1.29	0.91	7.69	0.021
Degree of participating in discussions ^e	1.08	0.88	0.81	0.86	0.92	0.91	3.92	0.141
Interest of parents ^e	1.18	1.38	1.20	1.04	1.51	1.76	0.90	0.630
Relationship with father ^b	1.19	1.11	1.22	1.13	2.14	1.76	9.78	0.007
Psychic isolation ^e	0.66	0.76	0.79	0.86	1.03	0.89	3.72	0.156
Self-esteem ^c	0.81	0.60	0.90	0.61	1.25	0.89	7.41	0.025

Table 2. Comparing subscale scores according to severity of internet addiction (IA)

^aModerate/high>mild>no. ^bModerate/high>mild, no. ^cModerate/high>no. ^dModerate/high, mild>no. ^eModerate/high, mild, no.

Results

The participants of our study were composed of 81 men (43.78%), and 104 women (56.21%). The internet addiction scores obtained show that, 99 of the individuals with an age average of 19.51 ± 1.04 (53.51%) have no addiction, 59 of them (31.89%) have light addiction and 27 of them (14.59%) have high risk of addiction/addicted. As we assess the socio-demographic properties, we have not found significant variety in IAS score averages in terms of independent groups t-test results that is applied according to sex (p=0.471, F=0.487, t=-0.723), usage of tablet (p=0.502, F=0.02, t=-0.672), android

telephone (p=0.644, F=1.219, t=0.463), loss of education year (p=0.655, F=0.704, t=-0.448), smoking situation (p=0.122, F=0.097, t=1.556). We have found out a high level of positive correlation (p<0.001) among IAS scores and self-esteem subscale scores and SCL-90 total and some subscale scores (Table 1).

When we compare the SCL-90 subscale grades of IAS scores of three groups with no addiction, light and high internet addiction levels with Kruskal Wallis analysis, we found out that somatization, obsession, interpersonal sensitivity, depression,

	Unstand	ardized coefficients	t	р
	В	Standard error		
(Constant)	40.964	5.248	7.806	<0,001
Somatization	0.084	3.718	0.023	0.982
Obsession	2.093	2.712	0.772	0.441
Interpersonal Sensitivity	1.413	3.114	0.454	0.651
Anger-Hostility	4.441	2.304	1.927	0.056
Phobic Anxiety	-1.199	3.605	-0.332	0.740
Paranoid Ideation	-1.837	3.012	-0.610	0.543
Psychoticism	4.787	4.253	1.126	0.262
Additional Scale	-1.913	2.778	-0.689	0.492
Depression	-2.007	3.971	-0.505	0.614
Anxiety	3.216	4.281	0.751	0.454
Continuity of self-concept	2.028	0.965	2.101	0.037
Relying on people	-0.042	1.106	-0.038	0.970
Sensitivity to criticism	-0.395	1.206	-0.327	0.744
Depressive mood	-0.194	1.242	-0.156	0.876
Visionary	2.256	0.955	2.361	0.019
Psychosomatic symptoms	-0.291	0.662	-0.439	0.661
Feeling threatened in interpersonal	1.901	1.378	1.380	0.170
Degree of participating in discussions	-1.296	1.419	-0.914	0.362
Interest of parents	0.990	0.892	1.110	0.269
Relationship with father	2.216	0.979	2.264	0.025
Psychic isolation	1.435	1.591	0.902	0.369
Self-esteem	-0.315	1.991	-0.158	0.874

Table 3. Linear regression analysis model when IAS score was taken as a dependent variable.

IAS= Internet Addiction Scale, Variables entered SCL-90 subscales and Rosenberg Self-Esteem Inventory Subscales; F= 3.724, p<0.001 adjusted R2 =0.250 R2 change =0.103.

anxiety, anger-hostility, additional, psychoticism SCL-90 subscales and SCL-90 total score averages vary in a level of p<0.001, whereas SCL-90's paranoid ideation and phobic-anxiety subscale score averages vary in a level of p<0.003. We also found out that, Rosenberg self-esteem inventory subscales such as depressive mood, ability to participate in discussions and psychic isolation subscale score averages in 3 different internet addiction groups do not vary as a result of Kruskal Wallis analysis, visionary and psychosomatic symptoms sub scales vary in a level of p<0.001, self-esteem vary in a level of p<0.05 and other scale averages vary in a level of p<0.05 (Table 2).

In the linear regression analysis; it is reported that all SCL-90 subscales explain 19.4% (F=5.329, p<0.001, adjusted R2=0.194 R2 change=0.239) of

IAS scores. It is determined that, all SCL-90 subscales and all Rosenberg Self-Esteem Inventory subscale scores explain 25% (p<0.001) of IAS scores (Table 3).

Discussion

In our study, the rate of the individuals carrying risk in terms of IA and with a risk of high internet addiction was determined as 14.59%. When the other studies made on university students are evaluated, it is assessed that the ratio that we obtain in terms of addiction is lower 19.9 % [9], 17.9% [33] than some studies, 6,4% [34], 7,2% [35], 12,2% [36], 14,4% [37] while higher than some other.

We stated a high positive correlation (p < 0.001) between IAS scores and SCL-90 all subscale scores (somatization, obsession, interpersonal sensitivity, depression, anxiety, anger-hostility, phobic anxiety, paranoid ideation, psychoticism, additional scales). It is reported in the literature that IA and anxiety and depression are highly positively associated, the designs about psychopathologic features in internet addicts vary and SCL-90 subscale scores are highly positively (p < 0.001) associated with IA scores [13, 14]. It is shown in many studies that SCL-90 subscale averages increase significantly as severity of IA group increases. [9, 13, 14, 38-40]. We also evaluated in our study that, average of general psychopathologic features in three internet addiction groups differentiate, and general psychopathologic features averages increase as internet addiction severity increases. In the clinical assessments on internet addicts, it is found out that several additional psychiatric disorders accompany internet addiction in these people [7, 9, 12].

We stated in our study that IAS scores have the highest correlation with anxiety and depression subscales. Beside this, it is found out in results of Kruskal Wallis analysis that anxiety and depression scores increase as IAS scores increase. In many studies in the literature it is declared that; depression and anxiety assessed among leading psychopathologic features in internet addiction not only frequently accompany internet addiction in the clinical picture, but also presents high positive correlation with internet addiction in correlative studies [4-8]. High presence of isolation, depressive mood and impulsivity in the groups assessed as internet addicts and unusual sympathy of these people towards strangers and their rather vulnerable situation in interpersonal relationships may explain these psychopathologic processes in IA addiction [41].

It is found out that self-esteem in the internet addicts is lower than healthy individuals, and self-esteem of internet addicts increases after treatment [42, 22]. Similarly, we determined in our study that there is a decrease in self-esteem as IAS scores increase. It is also stated in the literature that self-esteem is associated with IA severity, it acts as intermediary for psychological factors that may be associated with IA and it is an important factor that explains the time management problems, interpersonal relationships and health problems in internet addicts [23-25]. Nonetheless, it is also put forward that, not only selfesteem of the person himself but also his self-esteem regarding social and family concept is effective in explaining IA scores and self-esteem may decrease with decreasing control regarding addiction in addicted adolescents [43].

In our study we concluded that, visionary and psychosomatic symptom subscale score averages increase significantly as IA severity increases; and that depressive mood, ability to participate in discussions and psychic isolation subscale averages do not differentiate significantly. Differentiation of psychosomatic symptoms subscale averages associated with psychopathologic features in IA groups supports the results that we obtain from SCL-90 subscales. However, it may be assumed that the same situation is not valid for depressive symptoms subscale averages. At the same time, it is determined that relationship with the father increases and interest of parents subscale averages do not change as internet addiction severity increases. The fact that the interest of parents subscale score averages do not change and the increase of relationship with father as IA severity increases is not compatible with the results of other studies in the literature. It is put forward that, self-esteem is associated with mother and father education status, mother's job, family's level of income and direct interest of the family and parental attitudes, family communication and family atmosphere are important factors in internet addiction. [44-48]. Despite this, it is discussed in the literature that overprotective family attitudes, especially overprotective behavior of the fathers may be associated with internet addiction [23].

It is evaluated that IA is associated with social inhibition and social maladjustment [42, 49]. In our study, differentiation of averages of continuity of selfconcept, sensitivity to criticism, relying on people and feeling threatened in interpersonal relationships subscales in three IA groups may be related to socialization problems of internet addicts. A suggestion of a family based protective approach may be profitable in internet addiction treatment which is similar to the risk factors of substance addiction [50]. According to linear regression analysis results, psychopathologic features explain 19.3% of IA scores, psychopathologic features and self-esteem explain 25% of IA scores in our study. In the study made by Khoshakhlagh and Faramarzi, SCL-90 subscales are proves to explain 49% of internet addiction [51]. In

Budak et al

the study of Bahrainian and Khazaee depression and self-esteem explain 11% of internet addiction [52]. In another study, it is seen that temperament and character properties, alexithymia, depression and anxiety explain 21% of IA scores [36]. In a study made by Dalbudak and Evren it is found out that neuroticism, psychoticism, extraversion, lie subpersonality features and hyperactivity/impulsivity, anxiety and depression explain 35.2% of IA scores [9]. At this point when we evaluate the results we have obtained, we may assume that primarily psychopathologic features and self-esteem are important while explaining IA scores.

Some limitations of our study are; small number of subjects, lack of clinical examination, and our results are only generalizable to university students. As a result; realization by the clinicians of family dissatisfaction of the internet addicted adolescents. increasing self-esteem in internet addiction, explanation of psychopathologic elements involved in addiction and preparation of a systematic treatment plan in which addicted individual and the family are included is suggested [53-54]. With the results we obtained we similarly observe that, general psychopathologic features and self-esteem and selfesteem related factors (continuity of self-concept, relying on people, sensitivity to criticism, depressive mood, visionary, psychosomatic symptoms, feeling threatened in interpersonal relationships, ability to participate in discussions, interest of parents, relationship with father, psychic isolation) present risk in university students in terms of internet addiction. That's why, in the conclusion of our study, we may suggest considering all psychopathologic features, self-esteem and self-esteem related factors as well as anxiety and depression in internet addiction treatment and in internet abuse prevention programs.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Przepiorka AM, Blachnio A, Miziak B, Czuczwar SJ. Clinical approaches to treatment of internet addiction. Pharmacol Rep. 2014 Apr;66(2):187-91.

[2] Brand M, Young KS, Laier C. Prefrontal control and Internet addiction: a theoretical model and review of neuropsychological and neuroimaging findings. Front Hum Neurosci. 2014 May 27;8:375.
[3] Shaw M, Black DW. Internet Addiction: definition, assessment, epidemiology and clinical management. CNS Drugs. 2008;22(5):353-65.

[4] Tonioni F, D'Alessandris L, Lai C, Martinelli D, Corvino S, Vasale M, et al. Internet addiction: hours spent online, behaviors and psychological symptoms. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2012 Jan-Feb;34(1):80-7.

[5] Goel D, Subramanyam A, Kamath R. A study on the prevalence of internet addiction and its association with psychopathology in Indian adolescents. Indian J Psychiatry. 2013 Apr;55(2);140-3.
[6] Muller KW, Ammerschlaeger M, Freisleder FJ, Beutel ME, Woelfling K. [Addictive internet use as a comorbid disorder among clients of an adolescent psychiatry-prevalence and psychopathological symptoms]. Z Kinder Jugendpsychiatr Psychother. 2012 Sep;40(5):331-7.
[7] Muller KW, Beutel ME, Wölfling K. A contribution to the clinical characterization of Internet addiction in a sample of treatment seekers: Validity of assessment, severity of psychopathology and type of comorbidity. Compr Psychiatry. 2014 May;55(4):770-7.
[8] Ko CH, Liu TL, Wang PW, Chen CS, Yen CF, Yen JY. The exacerbation of depression, hostility, and social anxiety in the course of Internet addiction among adolescents: A prospective study. Compr Psychiatry. 2014 Aug;55(6):1377-84.

[9] Dalbudak E, Evren C. The relationship of internet addiction severity with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder symptoms in Turkish university students; impact of personality traits, depression and anxiety. Compr Psychiatry. 2014 Apr;55(3):497-503.

[10] Alavi SS, Jannatifard F, Maracy MR, Alaghemandan H, Setare M. Comparison of national and personal identity between person with internet addiction disorder and normal internet users. J Educ Health Promot. 2014 May 5;3:42.

[11] Bernardi S, Pallanti S. Internet addiction: a descriptive clinical study focusing on comorbidities and dissociative symptoms. Compr Psychiatry. 2009 Nov-Dec;50(6):510-6.

[12] Black DW, Belsare G, Schlosser S. Clinical features, psychiatric comorbidity, and health-related quality of life in persons reporting compulsive computer use behavior. J Clin Psychiatry. 1999 Dec;60(12):839-44.

[13] Xiuqin H, Huimin Z, Mengchen L, Jinan W, Ying Z, Ran T. Mental health, personality, and parental rearing styles of adolescents with Internet addiction disorder. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw. 2010 Aug;13(4):401-6.

[14] Alavi SS, Alaghemandan H, Maracy MR, Jannatifard F, Eslami M, Ferdosi M. Impact of addiction to internet on a number of psychiatric symptoms in students of isfahan universities, Iran, 2010. Int J Prev Med. 2012 Feb;3(2):122-7.

[15] Ha JH, Yoo HJ, Cho IH, Chin B, Shin D, Kim JH. Psychiatric comorbidity assessed in Korean children and adolescents who screen positive for Internet addiction. J Clin Psychiatry. 2006 May;67(5):821-6.

[16] Yoo HJ, Cho SC, Ha J, Yune SK, Kim SJ, Hwang J, et al. Attention deficit hyperactivity symptoms and internet addiction. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2004 Oct;58(5):487-94.

[17] Dalbudak E, Evren C, Topcu M, Aldemir S, Coskun KS, Bozkurt M, et al. Relationship of internet addiction with impulsivity and severity of psychopathology among Turkish university students. Psychiatry Res. 2013 Dec 30;210(3):1086-91.

[18] Paik A, Oh D, Kim D. A Case of withdrawal psychosis from internet addiction disorder. Psychiatry Investig. 2014 Apr;11(2):207-9.

[19] Li B, Friston KJ, Liu J, Liu Y, Zhang G, Cao F, et al. Impaired frontal-basal ganglia connectivity in adolescents with internet addiction. Sci Rep. 2014 May 22;4:5027.

[20] Young, KS, Rogers RC. The relationship between depression and internet addiction. Cyberpsychol Behav. 1998 Spring;1(1):25-8.
[21] Stieger S, Burger C. Implicit and explicit self-esteem in the context of internet addiction. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw. 2010 Dec;13(6):681-8.

[22] Shaw LH, Gant LM. In defense of the internet: the relationship between Internet communication and depression, loneliness, self-esteem, and perceived social support. Cyberpsychol Behav. 2002 Apr;5(2):157-71.

[23] Yao MZ, He J, Ko DM, Pang K. The influence of personality, parental behaviors, and self-esteem on Internet addiction: a study of Chinese college students. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw. 2014 Feb;17(2):104-10.

[24] Bozoglan B, Demirer V, Sahin I. Loneliness, self-esteem, and life satisfaction as predictors of Internet addiction: A cross-sectional study among Turkish university students. Scand J Psychol. 2013 Aug;54(4):313-9.

[25] Zhang ZH, Yang LS, Hao JH, Huang F, Zhang XJ, Sun YH. Relationship of childhood physical abuse and internet addiction disorder in adolescence: the mediating role of self-esteem. Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi. 2012 Jan;33(1):50-3.

[26] Yen CF, Chou WJ, Liu TL, Yang P, Hu HF. The association of Internet addiction symptoms with anxiety, depression and self-esteem among adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Compr Psychiatry. 2014 Oct;55(7):1601-8.

[27] Nichols LA, Nicki R. Development of a psychometrically sound internet addiction scale: a preliminary step. Psychol Addict Behav. 2004 Dec;18(4):381-4.

[28] Kayri M, Gunuc S. Theadaptation of internet addiction scale in toTurkish: the study of validity and reliability. AU J Fac Educ Sci. 2009;42:157-75

[29] Derogatis LR. SCL-90-R: administration, scoring and procedures manual for the R (evised) version and other instruments of the psychopathology rating scale series. 2nd ed. Towson,MD. Clinical Psychometric Research, 1992.

[30] Dag I. Belirti tarama listesinin (SCL-90-R) universite ogrencileri icin guvenirligi ve gecerligi. Turk Psikiyatri Derg. 1991;2(1):5-12.
[31] Rosenberg M. Society and the adolescent self-image. Princeton NJ: Princeton University Press, 1965.

[32] Cuhadaroglu F. Adolesanlarda benlik saygisi. Yayinlanmamis uzmanlik tezi, Hacettepe Universitesi, Ankara;1986.
[33] Ni X, Yan H, Chen S, Liu Z. Factors influencing internet addiction in a sample of freshmen university students in China. Cyberpsychol Behav. 2009 Jun;12(3):327-30.

[34] Tsai HF, Cheng SH, Yeh TL, Shih CC, Chen KC, Yang YC, et al. The risk factors of Internet addiction-- a survey of university freshmen. Psychiatry Res. 2009 May 30;167(3):294-9.

[35] Alavi SS, Maracy MR, Jannatifard F, Eslami M. The effect of

psychiatric symptoms on the internet addiction disorder in Isfahan's University students. J Res Med Sci. 2011 Jun;16(6):793-800. [36] Dalbudak E, Evren C, Aldemir S, Coskun KS, Ugurlu H, Yildirim FG. Relationship of internet addiction severity with depression, anxiety, and alexithymia, temperament and character in university students. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw. 2013 Apr;16(4):272-8. [37] SenormancýO, SaraclýO, Atasoy N, Senormanci G, Kokturk F, Atik L. Relationship of Internet addiction with cognitive style, personality, and depression in university students. Compr Psychiatry. 2014 Aug;55(6):1385-90.

[38] Adalier A, Balkan E. The relationship between internet addiction and psychological symptoms. Int J Glob Educ. 2012;1(2):42-9.[39] Koc M. Internet Addiction and Psychopathology. Turk Online J Educ Technol. 2011;10(1):143-8.

[40] Yen JY, Ko CH, Yen CF, Chen SH, Chung WL, Chen CC.
Psychiatric symptoms in adolescents with Internet addiction: Comparison with substance use. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2008 Feb;62(1):9-16.
[41] Whang LSM, Lee S, Chang G. Internet over-users' psychological profiles: a behavior sampling analysis on internet addiction. Cyberpsychol Behav. 2003 Apr;6(2):143-50.

[42] Niemz K, Griffiths M, Banyard P. Prevalence of pathological Internet use among university students and correlations with selfesteem, the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ), and disinhibition. Cyberpsychol Behav. 2005 Dec;8(6):562-70.

[43] Aydin B, Sari SV. Internet addiction among adolescents: the role of self-esteem. Procedia-Soc Behav Sci. 2011;15:3500-5.
[44] Park SK, Kim JY, Cho CB. Prevalence of Internet addiction and correlations with family factors among South Korean adolescents. Adolescence. 2007 Winner;43(172):895-909.

[45] Yen JY, Yen CF, Chen CC, Chen SH, Ko CH. Family factors of internet addiction and substance use experience in Taiwanese adolescents. Cyberpsychol Behav. 2007 Jun;10(3):323-9.

[46] Kim JY, Ryu HS. Relationships among school children's internet addiction, family environment and school adjustment. Korean J Child Health Nurs. 2003; 9(2):198-205.

[47] Li ZHOU. The relationship of adolescents' family satisfaction scale and internet addiction disorder of college students. J Chongqing Med Univ. 2008;4:20.

[48] Ozkan I. Benlik Saygisini etkileyen etkenler. Dusunen Adam. 1994;7(3):4-9.

[49] Kormas G, Critselis E, Janikian M, Kafetzis D, Tsitsika A. Risk factors and psychosocial characteristics of potential problematic and problematic internet use among adolescents: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health. 2011 Jul 27;11:595.

[50] Yen JY, Yen CF, Chen CC, Chen SH, Ko CH. Family factors of internet addiction and substance use experience in Taiwanese adolescents. Cyberpsychol Behav. 2007 Jun;10(3):323-9.

[51] Khoshakhlagh H, Faramarzi S. The relationship of emotional intelligence and mental disorders with internet addiction in internet users university students. Addict Health. 2012 Summer-Autumn;4(3-4):133-41.

[52] Bahrainian A, Khazaee A. Internet addiction among students: the relation of self-esteem and depression. Bull Env Pharmacol Life Sci. 2014 Feb;3(3):1-6.

[53] Lam LT, Peng ZW, Mai JC, Jing J. Factors associated with Internet addiction among adolescents. Cyberpsychol Behav. 2009 Oct;12(5):551-5.

[54] Kim JU. The effect of a R/T group counseling program on the Internet addiction level and self-esteem of internet addiction university students. Int J Real Ther. 2008 Spring;27(2):4-12.



The European Research Journal Original Article

http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.136

Evaluation of headache in children: a retrospective study

Arzu Ekici¹, Sevgi Yimenicioglu², Kursat Bora Carman³, Ozan Kocak³, Coskun Yarar³, Ayten Yakut³

¹Department of Pediatric Neurology, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

² Department of Pediatric Neurology, Eskisehir State Hospital, Eskisehir, Turkey

³ Department of Pediatric Neurology, Osmangazi University, Medical School, Eskisehir, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. Headache is a very common symptom that can be seen in the children. It can be seen due to primary or secondary causes. Migraine and tension-type headache are the most commonly seen primary headache types in children. In this study, we retrospectively evaluate etiologic and clinical features of the 228 patients. Methods. In this study, clinical features and neuro-imaging characteristics of the patients, who admitted Eskisehir Osmangazi University pediatric neurology department between 2007 and 2011 were evaluated retrospectively. Headache classification was made according to "International Headache Society" criteria. *Results*. The ages of the patients ranged from 4 to 18 years (average 12.9±3.1). There were 136 (59.6 %) girls, and 92 (40.4%) boys. The most frequent causes of the headache were migraine (37.3%) and tension type headache (25%). There were other associating diseases at 54 (23.7%) patients. Allergic rhinitis and asthma bronchilitis were the most commonly associated diseases. Abnormalities were encountered in 3 (6.8%) of the 44 (19.3%) patients taken computerized brain tomography, 18 (20.2%) of the 89 (39%) patients taken magnetic resonance imaging and 8 (3.5%) of the 77 (33.8%) patients taken electroencepahlography. No serious problem is established in patients undergoing neuro-imaging. Conclusions. In this study, it was seen that migraine and tension-type headache are the most frequently seen causes of the headache in the children. It is concluded that unnecessary neuroimaging examination should be avoided by detailed anamnesis and neurologic examination of children that admitted hospital with headache complaint.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3):136-140

Keywords: Headache; child; migraine; tension type headache; neuroimaging

Address for correspondence:

Arzu Ekici, MD, Department of Pediatric Neurology, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey Email: drarzuekici@gmail.com Received: 30.03.2015; Accepted: 07.08.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015

Introduction

As in adults, headache is the frequent complaint of children and adolescences that admitted to clinics and emergency rooms and also to neurology clinics. Whereas families think headache is rarely seen at children, so they especially concern brain tumor [1]. Headache frequency increases with aging. Headache frequency is determined as 46.2% in Isyk *et al.*'s epidemiologic study made with 2669 children aged between 5-13 years [2].

Headache can be seen due to primary and secondary causes. Headaches can be due to a simple infection as well, though rarely due to intracerebral hemorrhage or meningitis or a brain tumor. Migraine and tension type headache are the most frequently seen primary headache types at children. Since the age of the child will affect the headache statement of child; frequency, diagnosis and treatment of headache may be different in each age group. The patient admitting with headache must be evaluated detailed. Medical history plays important role to rule out secondary causes. Taking good anamnéza, detailed physical and neurological examination and headache diary are the important and critical steps for diagnosis and treatment [3,4].

In this study 228 patients aged 4-18 years of age are evaluated retrospectively with the etiologic, clinical and neuroimaging findings between 2007-2011.

Methods

Two hundreds and twenty-eight patients aged 4-18 years of age are evaluated retrospectively with the etiologic, clinical and neuroimaging findings between 2007-2011 that admitted Eskisehir Osmangazi University Medical Faculty pediatric neurology department for headache complaint. Frequency, duration, location, lateralization of headache, presence of triggering factor, associated symptoms, presence of treatment for sinusitis, transmission of any other diseases, family history of headache/migraine, neurologic examination findings are recorded. Neuroimaging findings are evaluated. Headache classification is made according to "International Headache Society" criteria [5].

Results

Patients aged between 4-18 (median 12.9 ± 3.1), 136 (59.6%) of them are female, 92 (40.4%) of them are male, 228 patients in total are retrospectively evaluated. Female to male ratio was 1.48. In about three-quarters of patients with headache it was ongoing for more than 6 months. Headache duration, frequency, localization, attack duration, causes of headache and classification are shown at Table 1.

Headache in 133 patients (58.3%) passed with painkillers, 95 (41.7%) had no response. 89 patients (39%) had a history of getting sinusitis treatment due to headache. Blood pressure values of all other patients except one patient were normal. Neurological examination findings for all patients except for patients having meningitis diagnosis and neurodevelopmental delay was natural. 3 patients having Pseudotumor cerebri diagnosis had papilledema. In 4 patients having Meningitis and pseudotumor diagnosis, lumbar puncture was performed.

The most frequent cause of the headache is migraine (37.3%) and tension type headache (25%). 39 (68.4%) of 57 patients having tension type headache diagnosis were female. Headache was bilateral at 51 (89.5%) of the patients. There was family history at 18 (31.5%) of patients that had tension type headache. 44 (51.8%) of 85 patients with migraine were female, 41 (48.2%) were male, female to male ratio was 1.07. Headache was bilateral at 64 (75.3%) of the patients while 21 (24.7%) of the patients was unilateral. 81 (95.3%) of the patients had migraine without aura, the rest 4 (4.7%) had migraine with aura, 3 of them with visual findings, one of them had parestesias. Noise and stress were the most seen triggering factors at 41 (48.2%) of the patients. The other triggering factors were fatigue, sleeplessness, odor, menstrutation, reading a book, taking bath, coffee, computer, and watching television. In 62 patients (72.9%), most commonly nausea, vomiting, and photophobia as visual finding and paresthesia, vertigo, wetting of the eyes and phonophobia as associating symptoms of migraine were seen. 52 (61.2%) patients had a family headache history, including migraine in 35 (41,2%) patients.

Fourteen (6.1%) of 24(10.5%) patients that their headache was evaluated as psychological has major depression and common anxiety disorder diagnosis at child psychiatry clinics. There was an associated disease at 41(18%) of the patients. Most commonly associated diseases are allergic rhintis and asthma bronchitis whereas the other ones are obesity, goitre and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder.

Neuroimaging was done in 133 (58.3%) patients. In 112 (84.2%) out of 133 patients, no abnormal finding was reported. There were abnormal findings in three (6.8%) of 44 patients with CT imaging and 18 (20.2%) of 89 patients performed MRI. Neuroimaging findings are seen in Table 2.

Table 1. Features, causes and classification of the headache

	Patients (n=228)	%
Duration of the headache		
<7 days	10	4.4
<8 days- 1 month	28	12.3
1-5 month	28	12.3
6-12 month	100	43.9
1-3 years	34	14.9
3-6 years	13	5.7
?6 years	15	6.6
Headache frequency		
Every day	75	32.9
More than once per week	91	39.9
More than once per month	52	22.8
Every two-three months	10^{-10}	4.4
Duration of headache attack		
<30 minutes	32	14
30-60 minutes	26	11.4
1-4 hours	114	50
4-24 hours	48	21.1
?24 hours	8	3.5
Lateralization of headache		
Bilateral	188	82.5
One sided	39	17.1
Variable	1	0.4
Location of the headache		
All over head	87	38.2
Forehead	64	28
Temple	48	21.1
Nape ache	17	7.5
Eye	7	3
Vertex	5	2.2
Causes		
Primary headache		
Migraine	85	37.3
Tension type headache	57	25
Secondary headache		
Sinusitis	31	13.6
Pshchologic	24	10.6
Visual abnormality	10	4.4
Trauma	6	2.6
Structural disorder of the neck and eye	6	2.6
Pseudotumor cerebri	3	1.3
Upper airway infection	2	0.9
Otitis	2	0.9
Menengitis	1	0.4
Hypertension	1	0.4

Neuroimaging findings	Patients	%
Brain CT		
Retention cyst at maxillary sinus	2	0.9
Arachnoid cyst	1	0.4
Brain MRI		
Nonspesific hyperintensities	6	2.6
Arachnoid cyst	5	2.2
Periventricular leucomalacia	3	1.3
Retention cyst at maxillary sinus	3	1.3
Arnold Chiari Type I	1	0.4

Table 2. Neuroimaging findings of the patient

Discussion

Headache is one of the frequent symptom seen at childhood. The incidence has been increasing in recent years. In Finland while the frequency of headache at 7 years old children was 14 % in 1974, it was reported as 52 % in 1992. Migraine frequency increased from 1.9 % to 5.7 % [6]. A study made at Turkey between the years 1993-1998 showed that 4.33 % of the patients admitted to clinics with headache complaint [7]. The incidence of the headache has peak value at ages of 12-14 years and headache is seen more frequently at girls [8]. In this study the average ages of the patients were 12.9 ± 3.1 and female to male ratio was 1.47. The most frequent causes of the headache was migraine (37.3%) and tension type headache (25%). Alehan's study revealed that migraine (44.2%) and tension type headache (31.5%) were the most common causes of headache [9]. Migraine is the important cause of headache that negatively influences the life quality of the child. While it is more frequent at males in prepubertal period, at females it is frequently seen in adolescence. Migraine frequency increases with age and it is reported as 3.9% at ages 7-15 [10]. Tension type headache is the second most frequent cause of headache other than migraine [9].

Most common form of migraine at children and adolescences is migraine without aura (60-85%).

Doing homework, fatigue, stress, hunger, bright lights, infections, some food (cheese, chocolate, drinks with cafeine) may trigger headache attacks. Autonomic findings (nausea, vomitting, photophobia, phonophobia) may associate to the pain. Visual symptoms (brigth light, scotoma, blurred vision), auditory and odor hallucinations, motor symptoms (speech disorder, hemiplegia) and autonomic disturbances may be seen at migraine with aura [11]. In this study 95.3% of the patients with migraine without aura whereas 4.7% of them had migraine with aura. Nausea-vomitting, photophobia were the most commonly seen associated symptoms. There was triggering factors where most common ones are stress and noise at almost 50% of the patients. There was family history of headache at 61.2% of the patients with migraine and at 31.5% of the patients with tension type headache. In the study that Alp et al. had made on children that migraine was seen more frequently in females than males (1.45), where 34.4 % had aura and visual and auditory aura were the most frequent ones. Also in this study 84.8% of the patients with migraine and 69.7% of the patients with tension type headache had family history of headache [12].

Headache may associate the underlying disease at children. At France, in a study made with children, it was reported that 43.2% of patients had other diseases such as psychologic disturbances, gastrointestinal diseases, hyperactivity, epilepsy, endocrine, dermatologic, hematologic diseases including most common allergy and asthma [4]. In this study there was associated diseases at 23.7% of the patients. The other associated diseases were obesity, epilepsy, goitre, deficit attention and hyperactivity including most common allergic rhinitis and asthma. Fouteen patients diagnosed as major depression and common anxiety disorder. Neuroimaging is not necessary at the patients with normal neurologic examination and long lasting repeating headache. If the patient has abnormal neurologic examination or has convulsions or newly started severe headache, cranial MRI that is more sensitive in showing structural defects should be preferred [10]. In this study 58.3 % of the patients had underwent neuroimaging. Neuroimaging findings were normal at 86.4% of the patients. Non spesific hyperintensities, arachnoid cysts, periventricular leukomalacia, Arnold Chiari type 1 malformation, maxillary sinus retention cyst were abnormal neuroimaging findings seen at 15.8% of the patients. Serious neuroimaging findings like brain tumor are rarely detected at childhood headaches, 20% of the patients are reported to have sinusitis, Chiari type 1 malformation, nonspesific white matter hyperintensities, venous angiomas, arachnoid cysts, pineal cysts, cerebral malformations like mega sisterna [13,14].

Conclusions

In this study, migraine and tension type headache are found to be the most frequent causes for headaches seen in children. In patients where neuroimagining was done, no serious underlying reason was found. It is concluded that unnecessary neuroimaging examination should be avoided by detailed anamnesis and neurologic examination of children that admit hospital with headache complaint.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Mukhopadhyay S, White CP. Evaluation of headaches in children. Paediatr Child Health. 2008 Jan;18(1):1-6.

[2] Isik U, Topuzoglu A, Ay P, Ersu RH, Arman AR, Onsuz MF, et al. The prevalence of headache and it sassociation with socioeconomic statü samong school children in Istanbul, Turkey. Headache. 2009 May;49(5):697-703.

[3] Brna PM, Dooley JM. Headaches in the pediatric population. Semin Pediatr Neurol. 2006 Dec;13(4):222-30.

[4] Cuvellier JC, Donnet A, Guegan-Massardier E, Nachit-Ouinekh F, Parain D, Vallée L; Céleste Group. Clinical features of primary headache in children: a multicentre hospital-based study in France. Cephalalgia. 2008 Nov;28(11):1145-53.

[5] Classification and diagnostic criteria for headache disorders, cranial neuralgias and facial pain. Headache Classification Committee of the International Headache Society. Cephalalgia. 1988;8(Suppl 7):1-96.
[6] Sillanpaa M, Anttila P. Increasing prevalence of headache in 7-year-old schoolchildren. Headache. 1996 Sep;36(8):466-70.
[7] Deda G, Caksen H, Ocal A. Headache etiology in children: a retrospective study of 125 cases. Pediatr Int. 2000 Dec;42(6):668-73.
[8] Anttila P, Metsähonkala L, Sillanpää M. Long-term trends in the incidence of headache in Finnish school children. Pediatrics. 2006 Jun;117(6):e1197-201.

[9] Alehan F. Cocukluk cagi basagrilarinin prospektif degerlendirilmesi.
Cocuk Sagligi ve Hastaliklari Dergisi. 2003;46(1):38-42.
[10] Hershey AD. Current approaches to the diagnosis and management of paediatric migraine. Lancet Neurol. 2010 Feb;9(2):190-204.
[11] Lewis DW. Pediatric migraine. Neurol Clin. 2009 May;27(2):481-501.

[12] Alp R, Alp SI, Palanci Y, Sur H, Boru UT, Ozge A, et al. Use of the International Classification of Headache Disorders, Second Edition, criteria in the diagnosis of primary headache in school children: epidemiology study from eastern Turkey. Cephalalgia. 2010 July;30(7):868-77.

[13] Brna PM, Dooley JM. Headaches in the pediatric population. Semin Pediatr Neurol. 2006 Dec;13(4):222-30.

[14] Schwedt TJ, Guo Y, Rothner AD. "Benign" imaging abnormalities in children and adolescents with headache. Headache. 2006 Mar;46(3):387-98.



The European Research Journal Original Article

http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.141

Nora's disease: a series of six cases

Mahmut Kalem¹, Ercan Sahin², Kerem Basarir¹, Yusuf Yildiz¹, Yener Saglik¹

¹Department of Orthopedics & Traumatology, Ankara University, Faculty of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey ²Department of Orthopedics & Traumatology, Bulent Ecevit University, Faculty of Medicine, Zonguldak, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. Nora's disease is a mesenchymal bone tumor with controversial diagnosis and treatment due to the benign but locally aggressive course and high recurrence rates. **Methods.** A retrospective analysis was made of patients diagnosed with Nora's Disease at Ankara University Orthopedics and Traumatology Clinic. The evaluation was made of the age of the patient, gender, symptoms, lesion location, trauma history, treatment choice and recurrence rates during follow-up. **Results.** Excision was applied to 6 patients diagnosed with Nora's disease, and in 1 patient an additional autograft and internal fixation were required. Recurrence was observed in 3 patients, 2 of whom underwent revision surgery and one who did not as there no patient complaints. **Conclusions.** Nora's disease is problematic for orthopedic surgeons as there are difficulties in diagnosis, there is no absolute treatment algorithm, recurrence potential is high, and there are limited additional treatment choices. Therefore, treatment and follow-up at clinical center's dealing with orthopedic tumor surgery can be considered appropriate.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3):141-145

Keywords: Nora's disease; excision; recurrence

Introduction

Nora's disease, first described by Nora et al in 1983, is also known as bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation (BPOP) and is a mesenchymal formation with bone, fibrous tissue and cartilage components, often located in the hands, feet and long bones, which has a benign but locally aggressive course [1]. It is typically observed in the proximal and mid phalanges, the metacarpals and metatarsals. There is no gender dominance and although it can be seen at any age, it is generally observed in young patients [1, 2].

Although the radiological appearance of Nora's disease is confusing, wide-based calcified lesions not continuing with the medulla can be evidently differentiated from the bone cortex and may often be confused with osteochondroma [3, 4]. Histologically, without seeming atypical cellular, they are formed

Address for correspondence:

Mahmut Kalem MD, Department of Orthopedics & Traumatology, Ankara University, Faculty of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey Email: drkalem@hotmail.com Received: 13.04.2015; Accepted: 14.07.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015

from a bone, cartilage and fibrous stroma. The cartilage caps are hyper-cellular and contain large double nucleus chondrocytes. Osteoblastic activity is high in the bone structure and suggests reactive activity.

Due to rapid growth, and radiological and histological difficulties in diagnosis, periosteum rooted malignant and benign lesions can be confused in the differential diagnosis. Absolute diagnosis cannot be made radiologically and clinically and sometimes because of the aggressive course histological confirmation is necessary.

In this paper, we wanted to present our clinical experience related to Nora's disease and review the literature with the challenges for orthopedists due to difficulties in diagnosis and treatment.

Methods

A retrospective analysis was made of 6 patients diagnosed histologically with Nora's Disease

between 1990 and 2014 at Ankara University, Orthopedics and Traumatology Clinic Oncology Department. Patients were evaluated by age, gender, symptoms, lesion location, trauma history, treatment and recurrence (Table 1).

Results

The patients comprised 4 females and 2 males with a mean age of 39 years (range, 17- 62 years). The lesions were localized in the metacarpal in 2 cases, in the metatarsal in 2 cases and in the medial distal femur in 2 cases. Physical examination revealed localized swelling in all patients and in 4 patients, the lesion was painful. Apart from 2 patients, there was no history of trauma. The mean follow-up period was 72 months (range, 36-132 months).

Using direct radiographs, CT and MRI, radiological evaluation was made of lesion location,

Age / Ge	ender Location	Size (cm)	Complaint	Treatment	Follow-up / Recurrence
48/F	5 th Metacarpal - dorsal	2x3	Painless mass - 2 yrs No Trauma	Excision	11 yrs -No recurrence
58/F	5 th Metatarsal - plantar	1x1,5	Painful mass - 1 yrs Trauma +	Excision	6 months- recurrence 5 yrs
17/M	Distal femur - medial	3x2	Painless mass - 1.5 yrs No Trauma	Excision	8 yrs-No recurrence
21/M	5 th Metatarsal - lateral	2x1,5	Painful mass - 2.5 yrs No Trauma	Excision Autograft Fixation	4 yrs - No recurrence
28/F	Distal femur - medial	2x2	Painful mass - 1 yr Trauma +	Excision	1 yr -recurrence 5 yrs -No recurrence
62/F	2 nd Metacarpal - proximal	1x1	Painful mass - 1 yr No Trauma	Excision	8 months - recurrence 3yrs -No recurrence

Table 1. Data of patients with bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation.

periosteal reaction, continuation with the medullar canal, calcifications and soft tissue. Histological examination was made in all cases for an absolute diagnosis.

On direct radiographs, in all lesions, calcified masses adjacent to the bone cortex were seen and damage to the cortex over which they were located. There was no continuation with the medullar canal on CT (Figure 1). On MRI slices, no abnormalities apart from edema were determined in the soft tissue. In the pathological evaluation, the lesion surface was hyper-cellular, fibrous and covered with cartilage tissue, the stroma spindle was of cartilage cells and in the inner part increased osteoblastic activity was observed in the form of bone trabeculae. Following histological confirmation of the diagnosis, the patients were treated surgically.

In 1 patient with metatarsal location, excision, autograft and fixation was applied and in all the other patients only excision was applied (Figure 2 a-d).

Recurrence was observed in a total of 3 patients. In 2 of these patients, revision surgery was applied by extending the excision and recurrence was not observed again in the follow-up. In the other patient with recurrence during follow ups (left foot, proximal 5th metatarsal), as the patient had no complaints, no operation was planned and kept on following for any complaint (Table 1).



Figure 1. Axial CT image of lesion with distal femur location. There is no continuity of the lesion to the medullar canal.

Discussion

Bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation is an uncommon reactive mineralizing mesenchymal lesion that typically affects the surfaces of bones in the hands and feet, usually the proximal and middle phalanges, and the metacarpal and metatarsal bones [5]. There are two theories related to the formation of Nora's disease. The first



Figure 2. Radiographies of lesion with 5th metatarsal location (**a**,**b**), image after excision, autograft and fixation (**c**,**d**).

is that the lesion forms with a periosteal reaction following trauma [6]. According to the second theory, it is a tumoral process characterized by t(1:17) translocation without any trauma [7]. As there was a history of trauma in 2 of the current cases, the trauma could have been a predisposing factor, and when taking the patient history, the etiology should be kept in mind.

Although Nora's disease has a characteristic clinical and histological appearance, it may be confused with other benign and malignant lesions. The parosteal location distinguishes Nora's disease from parosteal osteosarcoma, which is rarely found in the hands and feet. The absence of cellular atypia helps to distinguish this lesion from osteosarcoma [8]. Again due to location, it can be confused with periostitis ossificans, but it often shows location in the hand and other skeletal systems are not involved.

With osteochondromatous composition, osteochondroma, myositis ossificans and subungal exocytosis may be considered in the differential diagnosis [3]. However, although osteochondroma is the most commonly seen benign bone tumor, it rarely shows involvement close to the physis in the long tubular bones, hand and foot location is rare and the lesion forms continuity with the medullar canal [9, 10]. However, in myositis ossificans cartilage caps are not seen. Anatomic locations of subungal exocytosis is typical and they do not contain classic cartilage tissue [11]. However, much heterotrophic ossification may resemble Nora's disease radiologically, there is generally a history of head trauma.

As confusion is created radiologically and clinically in the absolute diagnosis and because there is sometimes an aggressive course, there are reports recommending excision even if the patient has no complaints [12]. Thus, it is possible to make a histological diagnosis of the lesion.

According to some authors, wide excisions made to the depth of the periosteum together with the mass, reduce the frequency of recurrence. However, due to increased surgical morbidity, there are also authors who do not recommend wide excision as the first treatment option. When there is distal extremity location, wide excision may require amputation. If there is no suspicion of malignancy, marginal excision can be selected as the first stage [13, 14]. Although it is predicted that intralesionary excision increases the possibility of recurrence, the rates of recurrence in the en bloc excision with negative surgical limits used in the cases of the current series were seen to be no different to those of other series. The 50% recurrence rate was similar to the 51% rate of Nora *et al.*, thereby showing again how high the actual recurrence rate is in Nora's disease.

Before evaluating the surgical treatment choice for patients with recurrence, observational followup may be firstly considered, taking the patient's complaints into account.

As Nora's disease is rarely seen and the diagnosis and treatment algorithm has not been fully defined, this series of 6 cases can be considered to contribute to literature together with the 35-case series of Nora, the 65-case series of Menses *et al.*, the 24case series of Dhondt *et al.*, and the 13-case series of Jibu *et al.* [1, 3, 15, 16].

As this study was retrospective, there was a reliance on those who had taken the patient records and as the number of patients was low, statistical analysis could not be applied.

Nora's disease is problematic for orthopedic surgeons as there are difficulties in diagnosis, there is no absolute treatment algorithm, having recurrence potential and there are limited additional treatment choices. Therefore, according to our opinion treatment and follow-up at clinical center's dealing with orthopedic tumor surgery can be considered appropriate.

References

[1] Nora FE, Dahlin DC, Beabout JW. Bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferations of the hands and feet. Am J Surg Pathol. 1983 Apr;7(3):245-50.

[2] Torreggiani WC, Munk PL, Al-Ismail K, O'Connell JX, Nicolaou S, Lee MJ, et al. MR imaging features of bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation of bone (Nora's lesion). Eur J Radiol. 2001 Dec;40(3):224-31.

[3] Dhondt E, Oudenhoven L, Khan S, Kroon HM, Hogendoorn PC, Nieborg A, et al. Nora's lesion, a distinct radiological entity? Skeletal Radiol. 2006 Jul;35(7):497-502.

[4] Rybak LD, Abramovici L, Kenan S, Posner MA, Bonar F, Steiner GC. Cortico-medullary continuity in bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation mimicking osteochondroma on imaging. Skeletal Radiol. 2007 Sep;36(9):829-34.
[5] Orui H, Ishikawa A, Tsuchiya T, Ogino T. Magnetic resonance imaging characteristics of bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation of the hand: a case report. J Hand Surg. 2002 Nov;27(6):1104-8.

[6] Boudová L, Michal M. Atypical decubital fibroplasia associated with bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation (Nora's reaction). Pathol Res Pract. 1999;195(2):99-103; discussion 104.
[7] Makoto E, Tadashi H, Takashi T. Bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation with a t(1;17) translocation. Virchows Arch. 2005 Jul;447(1):99-102.

[8] Lindeque BG, Simson IW, Fourie PA. Bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation of a phalanx. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 1990;110(1):58-60.

[9] Abramovici L, Steiner GC. Bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation (Nora's lesion): a retrospective study of 12 cases, 2 arising in long bones. Hum Pathol. 2002 Dec;33(12):1205-10.

[10] Horiguchi H, Sakane M, Matsui M, Wadano Y. Bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation (Nora's lesion) of the foot. Pathol Int. 2001 Oct;51(10):816-23.

[11] Bandiera S, Bacchini P, Bertoni F. Bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation of bone. Skeletal Radiol. 1998 Mar;27(3):154-6.

[12] Moretti B, Di Giovanni A, Martino F, Moretti L, Patella S, Patella V. Nora's lesion. Clinical and therapeutic considerations. Chir Organi Mov. 2008 May;92(1):45-9.

[13] Gruber G, Giessauf C, Leithner A, Zacherl M, Clar H, Bodo K, et al. Bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation (Nora lesion): a report of 3 cases and a review of the literature. Can J Surg.

2008 Dec;51(6):486-9.

[14] Berber O, Dawson-Bowling S, Jalgaonkar A, Miles J, Pollock RC, Skinner JA, et al. Bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation of bone: clinical management of a series of 22 cases. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2011 Aug;93(8):1118-21.

[15] Joseph J, Ritchie D, MacDuff E, Mahendra A. Bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation: a locally aggressive benign tumor. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2011 Jul;469(7):2019-27.

[16] Meneses MF, Unni KK, Swee RG. Bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation of bone (Nora's lesion). Am J Surg Pathol. 1993 Jul;17(7):691-7.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.146

Case Report

Surgical removal of an embolized amplatzer septal occluder device from the right ventricle

Faruk Toktas, Kadir Kaan Ozsin, Emre Kaymakci, Senol Yavuz

Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bursa Yuksek Intisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Atrial septal defect is one of the most common congenital heart defects encountered in adults. Currently, transcatheter atrial septal defect closure techniques have increasingly gained wide popularity as an alternative to surgery in many centers. However, they are associated with severe procedural complications requiring immediate surgical intervention. Here, we report a 29-year-old male patient with device embolization due to the migration of Amplatzer septal occluder device to the right ventricle at an early stage following percutaneous intervention. He underwent an emergency operation because of hemodynamic deterioration. The device was successfully removed with surgery and atrial septal defect was closed with a pericardial patch. The postoperative course was uneventful, and he was discharged from hospital on postoperative day 5.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3):146-150

Keywords: Atrial septal defect; transcatheter closure technique; Amplatzer septal occluder; device embolization; cardiac surgery

Introduction

A secundum atrial septal defect (ASD) is one of the most common congenital cardiac abnormalities encountered in adults, accounting for 10% to 17% of congenital heart disease [1-3]. In recent years, transcatheter closure of ASD by means of the percutaneous deployment of a variety of occluder devices has increasingly gained wide popularity as an alternative to surgery in many centers [3-7]. As seen in all invasive procedures, complications are encountered from time to time with increasing interventional number. These complications are associated with increased morbidity and mortality rates compared to surgical closure. A major complication of ASD device closure using percutaneous techniques is device embolization or malposition [3-8]. In complicated circumstances,

Address for correspondence:

Faruk Toktas, MD, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey Email: faruktoktas@gmail.com Received: 22.08.2015; Accepted: 29.09.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015 if a transcatheter removal of the embolized device is not possible, a surgical therapy is the most reasonable option to remove these devices.

In this paper, we present a patient who was operated on due to device embolism in the early postprocedural stage after ASD device closure.

Case Presentation

A 29-year-old male patient with complaints of fatigue, palpitations and shortness of breath was admitted to the Cardiology Clinic of our hospital. Physical examination revealed a 3/6 systolic murmur at the pulmonary area. Echocardiographic examination showed an ASD of 28 mm in diameter with left to right shunt ratio (Qp/Qs) of 3.5. The posteroinferior rim tissue around the defect was 11 mm and also anterior rim of 12 mm, aortic rim of 22 mm, and total interatrial septum of 46 mm. Qp/Qs was 3.5. His left ventricular ejection fraction was 60%. Pulmonary artery was mildly dilated and 2+ tricuspid regurgitation were detected. He was planned for percutaneous transcatheter closure of ASD.

A 40 mm Amplatzer septal occluder device (St. Jude Medical. Inc. Cardiovascular and Ablation Technologies, Plymouth, MN, USA) was successfully deployed via right femoral vein under fluoroscopic and echocardiographic guidance. After the device smoothly and properly was placed, the patient was taken to the ICU control. However, thirty minutes after the percutaneous intervention, the patient had a sudden deterioration in the general condition. Sinusal tachycardia (heart rate of 115/min), bigeminal ventricular extra-systole attacks and hypotension (blood pressure of 80/55 mmHg) were observed on the monitor. Bedside control echocardiograhic study demonstrated embolization of the device into the right ventricle. It was not possible to retrieve the embolized device via catheterization procedures. Thereupon, he was immediately taken to the operation under general anesthesia. The patient was heparinized for systemic anticoagulation. A standard median sternotomy was performed and cardiopulmonary bypass under moderate hypothermia was immediately instituted

with an aortic and bicaval cannulation. After cardioplegic cardiac arrest, right atriotomy was performed and the atrial septal occluder device was seen in the right ventricle (Figure 1). The embolized device was removed from the right ventricle using a forceps introduced through the tricuspid valve (Figure 2). There also was no thrombi on the surface of the device. Secundum type ASD was present, the defect width was approximately 4x3 cm in size. Posteroinferior rim was insufficient. The ASD was closed with a pericardial patch (Figure 3). He was uneventfully weaned off cardiopulmonary bypass. Heart worked spontaneously. Cross clamp time was 18 min, total perfusion time was 23 min. Patient was in sinus rhythm.



Figure 1. Operative appearance of the Amplatzer device in the right ventricle.



Figure 2. Removed Amplatzer septal occluder device.

Postoperative course was uneventful and he was discharged from the hospital on postoperative day 5 with a daily dose of 300 mg of acetylsalicylic acid. He was free of cardiac symptom and there was no residual defect in his one-year follow-up echocardiography.



Figure 3. Repaired ASD with a pericardial patch.

Discussion

Surgical closure of ASD has been performed for over 50 years and appears to be a safe and effective operation with excellent long-term results [2, 9]. Today, depending on the development of catheterbased technology, percutaneous transcatheter closure of congenital anomalies such as mainly ASD, ventricular septal defect, and patent ductus arteriosus, is performed with success in many centers [3,10]. Percutaneous closure of ASD, was firstly reported in 1976 by King *et al.* [11].

Transcatheter procedures in the treatment of the secundum ASD have been increasingly applied more frequently and are relatively safe and viable options, but complications are possible. These procedures have the advantages of including a less invasive approach, which saves the patient from open heart surgery and cardiopulmonary bypass, a better cosmetic result, a shorter hospital stay, a faster rehabilitation, and an earlier return to work [3, 7, 9].

Transcatheter septal occluder device closure of the ASD may lead to serious complications despite its all advantages over surgical closure. The devicebased complications may occur both at early and late stages after device implantation regardless of the size or type of used devices. These procedurerelated complications include device embolization or malposition, residual shunts, thrombus formation on the device, thrombus embolization, air embolism, vascular trauma, access site hematoma, sciatic nerve compression due to retroperitoneal hematoma, peripheral embolization of thrombus/device, deep venous thrombosis, arteriovenous fistula formation, septal tearing, pulmonary vein dissection, atrial wall erosion, erosion of the device into the ascending aorta with associated aortic-to-right atrial fistula formation, ventricular outflow tract obstruction, atrioventricular valve regurgitation due to device impingement or catheter injury, atrial or ventricular arrhythmias requiring treatment, infectious endocarditis, septal aneurysm formation, systemic allergic reaction to nickel, cardiac perforations presenting as cardiogenic shock, and sudden death [1, 3, 4, 6-9, 12-13]. Correcting these complications mostly require surgical intervention. The case presented was early stage device embolization.

The size, location and competence of the rim area of the ASD, anatomical structures surrounding the defect and patient preferences are indicators of ASD devices applicability [14]. Risk factors for the device embolization include inadequate experience, a large defect presence, improper size of the device used, inadequate atrial septal rims holded the device, oblong shape of the defect, inaccurate deployment, and tearing of the interatrial septum due to the manipulation of catheter or device [6, 13, 14]. Unsuitable choice of patient and device is the most important cause of acute failure in this procedures. The device might embolize to the right or left atrium, right or left ventricle, main pulmonary artery, or anywhere in systemic circulation [6]. In our case, embolized device was found in the right ventricle and there was no device-related thrombus formation. This complication probably occurred due to insufficient posteroinferior rim of the defect.

The most frequent complication requiring surgical intervention during closure of ASD with Amplatzer septal occluder is device embolization or malposition [7]. The embolization rate of the device has been ranged from 4% to 20% in different devices and series in the past, and nowadays it was dramatically decreased to 0.5% with new generation devices [7, 13].

In a study by Wu *et al.* [7], device embolization was the most common indication for surgery, occurring in 4 (0.8%) of 508 patients with secundum ASD closure using an Amplatzer septal occluder. In another study, Ueda *et al.* [15] reported that 208 patients with a significant secundum ASD underwent percutaneous transcatheter closure using an Amplatzer septal occluder. They found that 1 (0.5%) case within 1 h of device implantation had device embolization. The device was surgically retrieved.

In a retrospective study, Berdat *et al.* [8] reported early and late outcome of 10 (8%) of 124 patients, who underwent percutaneous closure of ASD or PFO and, who subsequently required surgical treatment of either cardiac or vascular complications related to the device insertion. In these 10 patients, 8 had a significant shunt caused by malposition or dislocation of the device requiring surgical closure of the defect and 2 patients had the femoral artery injury at the puncture site required surgical repair. In this series, one patient died of left ventricular perforation after dislocation of the device [8].

Sarris *et al.* [4] retrospectively reviewed the records of 56 patients, who underwent early or late surgical repair for complications of transcatheter ASD closure in 19 participating European Congenital Heart Surgeons Association institutions over a 10-year period (1997-2007). They reported that possible serious life-threatening complications had been treated successfully with surgical intervention in the majority of patients. When a complication requiring surgery occurred, the management of this complication is associated with significant mortality rate, which is higher than that in the primary surgery of ASD. The most

encountered complication was device embolization (n=29) and hospital mortality was 5.4%. In the same time period, mortality for all 4453 primary surgical ASD closures reported in the European Association of Cardio-thoracic Surgery Congenital Database was 0.36% (p = 0.001). This comparison shows that salvage surgery for complication is associated with significantly more risk than observed in standard primary ASD closure [4].

Chessa *et al.* [6] reported on a large series of 417 patients, who had catheter closure of secundum ASD. They determined that the overall incidence of complications, including those due to the learning curve for each device, was 8.6% (n=36). They also reported that complications were classified into major (need for surgical intervention, life-threatening hemodynamic deterioration requiring emergency treatment, serious permanent functional or anatomic, and death) or minor (transient or resolved events with specific treatment) [6].

The septal occluder device can easily retrieved or repositioned before leaving from delivery system. However, after deployment, embolized or malpositioned devices requires a a percutaneous catheter or surgical intervention. If transcatheter retrieval is not possible or successful for embolized device, surgical intervention is necessary [6, 9, 13, 14].

Emergency surgery is usually necessary in complicated situations including device embolization or erosion resulting in catastrophic complications, such as aorta-to-right atrial fistula, the left or right ventricular outflow tract obstruction, cardiac rupture or cardiac tamponade. Surgical removal is usually performed with the cardiopulmonary bypass and through a full sternotomy. Surgery is a quite safe and effective option, but operative mortality might rise when surgery is performed for complications in delayed mannner [5, 7]. Cresce et al. [5] reported a case of an late device embolization into the pulmonary trunk 10 months after device implantation and the successful surgical removal through a minimally invasive video-guided port-access approach.

In a recent study, Kotowycz *et al.* [2] retrospectively assessed the comparative effectiveness and long-term safety of transcatheter versus surgical closure of secundum ASD in 718

adult patients. They reported that transcatheter ASD closure is associated with a higher long-term reintervention rate (7.9% vs. 0.3% at 5 years, p=0.0038) and long-term mortality (5.3% vs. 6.3% at 5 years, p=1.00) that is not inferior to surgery. In this study, the majority of these reinterventions occurred in the first year and secondary outcomes were similar in the both surgery and transcatheter groups. This results support the current practice of choosing transcatheter closure whenever possible.

Conclusions

Device embolization is still a major complication in transcatheter closure of the secundum ASD. If percutaneous catheter retrieval attempts fail, emergency surgical intervention is the only remedy to remove the embolized devices. Therefore, close monitoring and surgical backup should be available for all patients to deal with potentially lethal acute complications.

In our case with device embolisation, the device embolization was diagnosed soon after its occurrence within 30 minutes, the ASD were closed surgically and the device was retrieved without any further complication in a very short time. Our experience shows that surgical intervention to treat complication of device placement for ASD closure is still safe and effective modality.

Informed Consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests with respect to the authorship and/or publication of this article.

References

[1] Butera G, Biondi-Zoccai G, Sangiorgi G, Abella R, Giamberti A, Bussadori C, et al. Percutaneous versus surgical closure of

secundum atrial septal defects: a systematic review and meta-analysis of currently available clinical evidence. EuroIntervention. 2011 Jul;7(3):377-85.

[2] Kotowycz MA, Therrien J, Ionescu-Ittu R, Owens CG, Pilote L, Martucci G, et al. Long-term outcomes after surgical versus transcatheter closure of atrial septal defects in adults. J Am Coll Cardiol Intv. 2013 May;6(5):497-503.

[3] Animasahun BA, Aluko Y, Johnson A, Ogunyankin K, Maheshwari S. Transcatheter closure of secundum atrial septal defect in adults: report of our first experience in a developing country. Open Access Surg. 2014;7:29-33.

[4] Sarris GE, Kirvassilis G, Zavaropoulos P, Belli E, Berggren H, Carrel T, et al. Surgery for complication of trans-catheter closure of atrial septal defects: A multi-institutional study from the European Congenital Heart Surgeons Association. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2010 Jun;37(6):1285-90.

[5] Cresce GD, Favaro A, Auriemma S, Salvador L. Amplatzer septal occluder migration into the pulmonary trunk: surgical removal through a totally thoracoscopic approach. Innovations (Phila). 2013 Sep-Oct;8(5):381-3.

[6] Contrafouris CA, Chatzis AC, Giannopoulos NM, Milonakis M, Kousi T, Kirvassilis G, et al. Emergency surgical intervention for runaway atrial septal defect closure devices. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2006 Nov;132(5):1234-5.

[7] Wu HC, Wang CC, Fu YC, Jan SL, Wei HJ, Lin YK, et al. Surgical management for complications during closure of atrial septal defect with Amplatzer device. Acta Cardiol Sin. 2013;29(6):557-61.

[8] Berdat PA, Chatterjee T, Pfammatter JP, Windecker S, Meier B, Carrel T. Surgical management of complication after transcatheter closure of an atrial septal defect or patent foramen ovale. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2000 Dec;120(6):1034-9.

[9] Ekim H, Odabasi D, Gunes Y, Basel H. Emergent surgical retrieval of an embolized septal occluder from the main pulmonary artery. Pak J Med Sci. 2011;27(2):438-40.

[10] Gur AK. Device embolization associated with percutaneous closure of atrial septal defect. Turk Gogus Kalp Dama. 2013;21(4):1061-3.

[11] King TD, Thompson SL, Steiner C, Mills NL. Secundum atrial septal defects: nonoperative closure during cardiac catheterization. JAMA. 1976 Jun 7;235(23):2506-9.

[12] Gadhinglajkar S, Unnikrishnan KP, Sreedhar R, Kapoor MC, Neema PK. Surgical retrieval of embolized atrial septal defect occluder device from pulmonary artery: Pathophysiology and role of the intraoperative transoesophageal echocardiography. Ann Card Anaesth. 2009;12(1):40-8.

[13] Chessa M, Carminati M, Butera G, Bini RM, Drago M, Rosti L, et al. Early and late complications associated with transcatheter occlusion of secundum atrial septal defect. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2002 Mar 20;39(6):1061-5.

[14] Agarwal SK, Ghosh PK, Mittal PK. Failure of devices used for closure of atrial septal defects: mechanisms and management. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1996 Jul;112(1):21-6.

[15] Ueda H, Yanagi S, Nakamura H, Ueno K, Gatayama R, Asau T, et al. Device closure of atrial septal defect: immediate and midterm results. Circ J. 2012;76(5):1229-34.



The European Research Journal Case Report

http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.151

Cervical conglutination: a rare disorder of uterine cervix

Safak Hatirnaz

Department of Obstetrics & Gynecology, Clinart International Hospital, Trabzon, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Cervical conglutination is quite rare complication of labor that can be misinterpreted as fully dilated totally effaced intact amniotic membrane, and in inexperienced hands trying to open the membrane results in the catastrophic outcome. Only a few articles present in literature and most of them are very old articles. Sharing this rare disorder as an experience may increase the attention of obstetricians and midwives to be careful about such condition in prolonged labor cases.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3):151-153

Keywords: Uterine cervix; conglutination; labor

Introduction

Cervical conglutination is one of the rarest disorders of uterine cervix in labor due possibly to inappropriate dilatation-effacement relationship. A very rare disorder that can easily be misinterpreted as fully effaced cervix with a strong unruptured amniotic membrane. Careless evaluation and trying to open the amniotic membrane in such cases may result in a deep uterine tear that may proceed up to corpus with the strong uterine contractions [1].

Obstetricians should be careful in evaluating patients with strong contractions and full effacement with intact amniotic membrane which gives an abnormal amniotic membrane feeling in cervical examination. Thorough evaluation of amniotic membrane reveals a pin point opening and a small tuberosity (nipple like structure) on the membrane and experienced physicians could interpret this as cervical conglutination and emergency cesarean section should be organized as soon as possible with a careful control and suturing of the laxed dilated cervico-istmic region of uterus for preventing abnormal bleeding. Any obstetrician suspected from conglutination must share this experience with the other collogues and residents to have an idea about how conglutination happens and how cervical examination findings are.

Case Presentation

Here we present a case of cervical conglutination in a 27-year-old term primigravida woman admitted to delivery room for fully effaced cervix with intact amniotic membrane and emergency delivery was arranged. As we experienced in our teaching hospital

Address for correspondence: Safak Hatirnaz MD, Department of Obstetrics & Gynecology, Clinart International Hospital, Trabzon, Turkey Email: safakmd@mynet.com Received: 05.03.2015; Accepted: 28.07.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015 practice in residency in two cases, the evaluation of the patient gave us the same sensation that something is wrong with the full dilatation. Careful cervical evaluation revealed a small tuberosity on the surface and a very tiny opening was observed on the paperthin membrane and we diagnosed this as cervical conglutination and all team including midwives examined the patient with permission. The rarity and the possible risks were explained to both patient and her relatives and cesarean section was carried out with the delivery of a healthy 3210 grams male baby with 8-10 APGAR score. At the cesarean section fluctuating cervico-istmic region was carefully sutured and evaluated for any bleeding taking place or not. No parametrial tearing was observed per op and cervix was dilated through the abdominal route by a ring forceps in order to prevent blood collection in the uterine cavity that may complicate the postoperative course.

Patient was followed two days after operation and no any postoperative complications were observed and she was discharged from hospital and called for control one week later and the physical evaluation was normal. Later follow up revealed no any problems related to this rare problem.



Figure 1. Illustration of effacement and dilatation of the cervix. During the labor, the cervix opens (dilates) and thins out (effaces). The cervix is closed (1), the cervix is partly effaced (2), the cervix is fully effaced (3). A partial dilatation is 2-4 cm (4), and dilatation is upto 8-10 cm (5).

Discussion

Cervical conglutination or conglutinatio cervicis uteri orifici externi is one of the rarest obstetrics complications that misdiagnosis may result in detrimental effects. This clinical situation is quite rare that you cannot find any reports in literature. PubMed search revealed two reports published in 1957 by Lope Garcia *et al* [2]. and in 1951 by Morgan end Price in journal of obstetric gynecol Br emp [3]. We found a small paragraph in the oldest book of Kazim Arisan one of the greatest physicians in obstetrics in Turkey [1]. Our main reference was previous two case experiences.

There is no sonographic or other diagnostic method to be used for this rare disorder and no photography can be presented here and the only diagnostic tool is the physician's experience or in other words sense of clinic' 'This condition can be predicted in cases with controlled labor but most of the time these cases directed to cesarean section due to prolonged labor. All cases we faced are emergency cases with full effacement and intact amniotic membrane thus it becomes more important to know that cervical conglutination should be kept in mind in such obstetrical emergency situations.

The incidence may be higher than expected but there is no data about how often this complication happens. Also the number of elective cesarean sections is so high in Turkey that may be many of the problematic complications were bypassed by this approach. However all obstetricians and also midwifes must be alert about such a rare but deteriorating complication with very good cervical examination at labor.

The dilatation and effacement are the two main components of cervical ripening during labor that takes place mostly synchronously with the contractile power of the uterus and the mechanical support of fetal head (Figure 1). Any changes in the synchrony of ripening process will result in distocia that may trouble the normal delivery or may push the team for cesarean section. The uterine contractions are strong and painful.

Incoordinate dilatation and effacement can be managed by pain relieving medications and or iatrogenic amniotic membrane rupture or by induction but long delay in labor process should lead obstetricians to cesarean section [4].

Generally the fetal head is one of the main power for cervical opening and ripening but fetal head can be found mobile and not launched while dilatation and effacement is going on.

Pathological mechanism of conglutination is not known and there is not enough knowledge or literature supporting this rare disorder. James O. Waterman in his publication described conglutination of cervix as achalasia of cervix where cervical canal is effaced or obliterated but external os remains closed at times difficult to locate. In that paper Carter (1941) was evaluated literature from 1859 and found 28 articles most of which were case reports [5]. None of the papers distinguished primary achalasia of cervix from secondary forms from inflammation surgery or injuries. Pathological mechanism is believed to be due to non-relaxation of the circular fibers around the os and is similar to the conditions which occur in the esophagus and colon producing achalasia of the cardia and Hirschprung's disease respectively. The symptomatology is similar to normal labor but labor is prolonged in cervical conglutination. The cervix is usually thin soft and more or less obliterated or it may be soft and odematous. The external os after a varying interval of time may dilate and patient deliver herself spontaneously [5]. A small description is written in Varney's midwifery book as catastrophic complication of labor that is rarely seen and needs urgent obstetrician support. All literatures here are very old publications and it was not easy to find them and this paper will be a reminder after a long time of such a rare disorder of cervix .

The ministry of health of Turkey has been trying to lead the obstetricians to more spontaneous deliveries than cesarean section which brings more obstetrical complications together. Thus any obstetrical rarity should be kept in mind and our aim is to remind a forgotten obstetrical emergency to our collogues they may onetime confront in the delivery room.

Conclusion

Cervical conglutination is quite rare complication of labor that can be misinterpreted as fully dilated totally effaced intact amniotic membrane and in inexperienced hands trying to open the membrane results in catastrophic outcome. Only a few articles present in literature and most of them are very old articles. Sharing this rare disorder as an experience may increase the attention of obstetricians and midwifes to be careful about such condition in prolonged labor cases.

Informed Consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Competing interests

The author declares that he have no competing interests with respect to the authorship and/or publication of this article.

References

 Arisan K. Obstetrik Bilgisi ((Turkish Obstetrics Textbook), 1984.
 Lope Garnica M, Gomez Salinas MP. [Maternal dystocia caused by conglutination of the uterine cervix]. Clin Lab (Zaragoza). 1957 Aug;64(377):115-20. Spanish

[3] Morgan J, Price J. Conglutination of the internal os: report of a case. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Emp. 1951 Oct;58(5):828-9.

[4] Bogue RE. Conglutination of the external cervical os as a complication of labor. Grace Hosp Bul. 1948 Jan;27(1):25-8.

[5] Waterman JA. Achalasia of the external os (or conglutination of the external os). J Obstet Gynaecol Br Emp. 1947 Oct;54(5):670-2.
[6] WHO, United Nations Population Fund, UNICEF, The World Bank. Managing complications in pregnancy and childbirth: a guide for midwives and doctors. ISBN: 9241545879, 2013.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.154

Case Report

e-ISSN: 2149-3189

West syndrome and autism: a case report

Emel Sari Gokten, Nagihan Saday Duman

Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

West syndrome is an epileptic encephalopathy accounting for one-fourth of epilepsies occurring in the first year of life and is highly associated with cognitive impairment. Autism spectrum disorders refer to a group of developmental disorders that are characterized by a wide range of impairments in social and communicative abilities, stereo-typed behaviors, and restricted range of interests with an onset of initial symptoms present before three years of age. In children with West syndrome, autism symptoms arise frequently. The present case, who is a 7-year-old boy followed with the diagnosis of West syndrome and autism, is presented to emphasize this association.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3):154-156

Keywords: West syndrome; autistic disorder; epilepsy

Introduction

West syndrome (WS) is an epileptic encephalopathy which accounts for 4-10% of childhood epilepsies and 25% of epilepsies occurring in the first year of life. Three main features of WS are as follows: 1. Infantil spasms, 2. Cessation and regression of psychomotor development, 3. The finding of hypsarrityhmia in EEG [1,2].

West syndrome is classified into symptomatic, cryptogenic and idiopathic depending upon the cause. Approximately 75% of the patients are in symptomatic WS group in which convulsions develop due to cortical malformations, prenatal events, neurocutaneous syndromes (tuberosclerosis, sturgeweber), chromosomal impairment and metabolic diseases. In criptogenic group, the underlying cause can not be clarified, while in idiopathic WS, the psychomotor development of the patients prior to convulsion attacks is normal [3].

Course primarily rests on etiology. Criptogenic/idiopathic etiology, late onset and rapid response to treatment is associated with good prognosis. In 50% of all cases, spasms disappear before the age of two. In 70%, severe mental retardation, autism, conduct disorder, develop and in 25-50% Lennox-Gastaut syndrome is seen. Only 5-10% of the cases may show normal or near normal mental development [4].

Autism spectrum disorders represent a group of neurodevelopmental disorders characterized by marked impairment in social and communicative

Address for correspondence:

Nagihan Saday Duman, MD, Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey Email: esgokten@hotmail.com Received: 31.03.2015; Accepted: 23.06.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015 skills, restricted interest and stereotypical behavior in which first symptoms arise before the age of three [5]. The term autism spectrum disorders is used to include children with Autistic disorder, Asperger disorder and with those Pervasive Developmental Disorder-not- otherwise-specified [6]. Despite decades of recognition autism spectrum disorders commonly co-occurs with epilepsy, the relation between epilepsy and autism still remains unclear [7]. Based on a metaanalysis of Amiet et al, the prevalance of epilepsy in people with autism spectrum disorder was found to be 8% and 20% respectively in the absence and presence of intellectual disability [8]. In a prospective study, it was reported that of children diagnosed with onset of epilepsy in the first year of life, autism spectrum disorder developed in 14% while it developed in 46% of children diagnosed with West syndrome [9]. In another community-based study, autism spectrum disorder was detected in 5% of newly diagnosed epilepsy cases. In the same study, West syndrome and mental retardation were found to be independently associated with autism spectrum disorders [10].

The comorbidity of epileptic syndromes and autism still remains to be unclarified. The present case describes a child with west syndrome and has severe autism symptoms.

The comorbidity of epileptic syndromes and autism still remains to be unclarified. The present case describes a child with west syndrome and has severe autism symptoms.

Case Presentation

The case, a 7-year-old boy, referred to our clinic due to health council report. He has received special education and physical therapy for last six years. There was severe impairment in language development and social-emotional reciprocity, and repetitive behaviours in his psychiatric evaluation. He had no verbal expression and limited non-verbal communication with poor eye contact and his response to instructions was inconsistent. He had no pretend play, and he had an unusual preooccupation with holding saliva in his mouth and playing with it. He was not able to join his peers or interact with them. He was born at term after a normal pregnancy by an unremarkable delivery. He developed normally until he was five months old and after five months spasms and convulsions started and his neuro-motor development was stopped. He was diagnosed with west syndrome and valproic acid and topiramate were instituted. He is still on valproic acid. Following a period with convulsions for about 6 months, no new convulsion has occurred, but valproic asid was continued as epileptiform anomaly continued to be seen in frontal and parieto-temporal regions in EEG. When he was at the age of 2-3, it was established that he had no eye contact with people, did not look when his name was called, was not interested in people and rocked forward and backward in sitting position and lived in his own world. He was diagnosed with WS+ Autistic disorder and special education was initiated. He started to walk at the age of five, never became continent and language was not developed. There was no evidence of autistic spectrum disorders in his family history.

His weight and height were below the 3rd percentile, and his head circumference was in the 3rd percentile. Blood chemistry analysis yielded normal values. His hearing and eyesight were found to be normal in previous tests and there was no pathology in cranial MR.

His total score in the Childhood Autism Rating Scale (CARS) [11] was 52 / 60, indicating severe autism and total score on the Autism Behavior Checklist (ABC) [12] was 91 / 158 points. He was diagnosed with AD according to DSM-IV criteria [13].

Discussion

Although the course of disease depends on the underlying cause in West syndrome, intellectual disability at various levels occurs in 80% of the patients. Prognosis is better in children in idiopathic group [11]. Considering the developmental process of the present case, it was determined that he was in idiopathic/cryptogenic group, convulsions were controlled with drug treatment within 5-6 months after onset, but retardation in psychomotor development continued and autism symptoms emerged in later years. His score in childhood autism rating scale was 52, "extremely autistic" and
his score in autism behavior checklist was 91. Although there is no specific finding, 17-60% of autistic children display various EEG abnormalities. Findings are usually observed in frontal, temporal, parieto-temporal, and centro-temporal regions. In a study comparing video-EEG recordings and ages of WS patients with or without autism, it was thought that the continuation of hypsarrhythmia in later ages and the presence of dominant spike and wave findings in frontal regions were associated with the development of autism and it was concluded that hypsarrhythmia led to permanent damage in cognitive functions and behavioral skills [14]. In the present case, although convulsions did not continue, epileptic discharges continued to be seen in frontal and parietotemporal regions, and in parallel he had severe autism symptoms, which is consistent with the literature. However, as his history was evaluated retrospectively, and some of his medical records could not be reached, it was not known how long hypsarrhythmia in his EEG lasted and to what degree it contributed to his autism.

In a study in which children diagnosed with WS were screened with autistic behavior checklist and children with high probability of being autistic were compared with those with low probability, it was established that in those with WS+high probability autism, cryptogenic and symptomatic groups constituted 5.9% and 94.1% of the cases. In the symptomatic group, congenital causes were the leading ones [15]. In a study of Saemundsen, 83% of the cases with autistic WS displayed in symptomatic group [9]. The present case was a patient with WS belonging to criptogenic/idiopathic group with severe autism symptoms.

Mental retardation is present in 75% of autistic cases [8]. In another study, psychomotor retardation was detected in 86% of WS group while in 100% of WS and high probability autism group [15]. Consistent with the findings in the literature, our case had severe autism symptoms and marked psychomotor retardation.

WS is frequently associated with autism. Autism is a chronic disorder lasting lifelong and the most important treatment modality is education. As early onset of education is of critical importance, care should be taken in order not to overlook these cases and to refer them to treatment.

Informed Consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests with respect to the authorship and/or publication of this article.

References

 Aicardi J. Infantile spasms and related syndromes. In: Aicardi J (ed). Epilepsy in Children. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia. 2004; pp. 14-38.

[2] Baran ZT. Myoclonus, myoclonic seizures, and infantile spasms. In: Swaiman KF, AshwalS, Ferriero DM, (eds). Pediatric Neurology, Principles and Practice. 4 th ed. Missouri: Mosby Company, 2006; pp. 1063-78.

[3] Hrachovy RA, Frost JD. Infantile epileptic encephalopathy with hypsarrytmia (infantile spasms/West syndrome). J Clin Neurophysiol. 2003 Nov-Dec;20(6):408-25.

[4] Guzzetta F. Cognitive and behavioral outcome in West Syndrome. Epilepsia. 2006;47(Suppl 2):49-52.

[5] Rapin I, Tuchman RF. Autism: definition, neurobiology, screening, diagnosis. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2008 Oct;55(5):1129-46.
[6] Volkmar FR, State M, Clin A. Autism and autism spectrum disorder: diagnostic issues for the coming decade. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2009 Jan;50(1-2):108-15.

[7] Tuchman R, Cuccaro M, Alessandri M. Autism and epilepsy: historical perspective. Brain Dev. 2010 Oct;32(9):709-18.
[8] Amiet C, Gourfinkel-An I, Bouzamondo A, Tordjman S, Baulac M, Lechat P, et al. Epilepsy in autism is associated with intellectual disability and gender: evidence from a meta-analysis. Biol Psychiatry. 2008 Oct 1;64(7):577-82.

[9] Seamundsen E, Ludvingsson P, Rafnsson V. Autism spectrum disorders in children with a history of infantile spasms: a population-based study. J Child Neurol. 2007 Sep;22(9):1102-7.
[10] Berg AT, Plioplys S, Tuchman R. Risk and correlates of autism spectrum disorders in children with epilepsy: a community-based study. J Child Neurol. 2011 May;26(5):540-7.

[11] Schopler E, Reichler RJ, DeVellis RF, Daly K. Toward objective classification of childhood autism: Childhood Autism Rating Scale (CARS). J Autism Dev Disord. 1980 Mar;10(1):91-103.
[12] Krug DA, Arick J, Almond P. Behavior checklist for identifying severely handicapped individuals with high levels of autistic behavior. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 1980 Jul;21(3):221-9.

[13] American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. 4th edition. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association Press. 1994.

[14] Kayaalp L, Dervent A, Saltik S, Uluduz D, Kayaalp IV, Demirbilek V, et al. EEG abnormalities in West syndrome: Correlation with the emergence of autistic features. Brain Dev. 2006 Jul;29(6):336-45.
[15] Hancerli S, Caliskan M, Mukaddes NM, Tatli B, Aydinli N, Ozmen M. Autistic spectrum in West syndrome. Turk Arch Ped. 2011;46(1):68-74.



http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.157

Case

Spontaneous ejaculation; caused by venlafaxine, reverted by mirtazapine

Mehmet Akif Camkurt

Department of Psychiatry, Afsin State Hospital, Kahramanmaras, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Spontaneous ejaculation is a rare side effect of antidepressants. SSRIs, SNRIs, and reboxetine are reported to cause spontaneous ejaculation. Previous reports suggest to stop or change medication in the presence of this side effect, and less is known how to manage patients who want to continue the medication with this side effect. Mirtazapine is a noradrenergic and specific serotonergic antidepressant, mostly used for the treatment of depression. It is recommended as an add-on pharmacotherapy to relieve sexual side effects. Here, we demonstrate a case of spontaneous ejaculation, caused by venlafaxine, and reverted by mirtazapine.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3):157-159

Keywords: Spontaneous ejaculation; management; venlafaxine; mirtazapine

Introduction

Venlafaxine is a dual reuptake inhibitor of serotonin and noradrenaline. It is widely used to treat depressive and anxiety disorders [1]. The frequency of sexual side effects with antidepressants are reported to be about 58-73% [2] and 36% of psychiatrists prefer to change medication when sexual side effects occur [3]. Spontaneous ejaculation is a rare sexual side effect of antidepressants, mostly reported by serotonergic and noradrenergic reuptake inhibitors [4, 5]. According to previous reports antidepressant switch is suggested to manage spontaneous ejaculation [6]. We have limited information about pharmacological management of spontaneous ejaculation.

Mirtazapine is a noradrenergic and specific serotonergic antidepressant, mostly used for treatment of depression. As far as we know, mirtazapine cause fewer sexual side effects and recommended as an add on treatment for antidepressant induced sexual side effects [7-9]. Here, we present a case report of spontaneous ejaculation, caused by venlafaxine and reverted by mirtazapine.

Address for correspondence:

Mehmet Akif Camkurt, MD, Department of Psychiatry, Medicine, Afsin State Hospital, Kahramanmaras, Turkey Email: Dr.akif@gmail.com Received: 23.06.2015; Accepted: 17.09.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015

Case Presentation

A 29-year-old male patient, admitted to our clinic to prescribe his drugs. During the psychiatric interview, he stated he was on venlafaxine 75 mg/d treatment for 1 year, his symptoms were headache and neck ache, spasm in shoulders, feeling anxious and being worried about all fields of life at the beginning of his ilness. Patient said that he was feeling well with venlafaxine, his symptoms were mostly gone, but he was experiencing loss of sexual desire and spontaneous ejaculation following micturition and defecation 3 weeks after initiation of venlafaxine. Urological consultation and total urine examiaton didn't explain this condition. We offered patient to stop medication, because we thought it was related to venlafaxine. Patient refused to stop venlafaxine because of its' beneficial effects on his symptoms, so we started mirtazapine 30 mg/d. Because to the best of our knowledge, mirtazapine is beneficial for management of loss of sexual desire caused by antidepressants and also has fewer sexual side effects. At the visit 2 weeks after starting mirtazapine, patient stated frequency of spontaneous ejaculation decreased apparently. At the visit after 6 weeks, spontaneous ejaculations ended up and loss of sexual desire relieved. At the visit after 3 months patient was still stable and free of spontaneous ejeculation.

Discussion

Spontaneous ejaculation is a rare side effect of antidepressants. There are several reports of spontaneous ejaculation with noradrenergic drugs. Three cases of spontaneous ejaculation due to noradrenergic drugs was reported by Oosterhuis *et al.* [10]. First case was a 40-year-old man taking atomoxetine, second one a 25-year-old man using methylphenidate and third case was a 60-year-old man whom was started venlafaxine In addition, two cases were reported with a specific noradrenergic reuptake inhibitor reboxetine [4, 11]. nefazodone, milnacipran and zotepine are other noradrenergic drugs that caused spontaneous ejaculation [12-14]. In our case, although

venlafaxine is a dual reuptake inhibitor of serotonin and noradrenaline, thus we think potential mechanism related with spontaneous ejaculation is serotonergic mechanism, because patient was taking venlafaxine 75 mg per/day.

Belli et al. [6] reported spontaneous ejaculation and erectile dysfunction with escitalopram. They switched to fluvoxamine to manage this side effect. Virit and Savas [15] described a 27-year-old man who experienced spontaneous ejaculation after initiation of citalopram and they changed citalopram with paroxetine to stop spontaneous ejaculation. Although some SSRIs are reported to cause spontaneous ejaculation, however it is a fact that they are used effectively for treatment of premature ejaculation [6, 15, 16]. Taking into account both SSRIs cause spontaneous ejaculations rarely and ejaculation inhibition frequently, we interpret that spontaneous ejaculation is a unique and patient specific side effect due to antidepressants. Owing to diverse effects of SSRIs on ejaculation, it is not easy to explain exact mechanisms of ejaculation and spontaneous ejaculation.

Mechanisms of ejaculation depends on central and peripheral interaction of multiple systems. These systems could be sorted as parasympathic, sympathic, dopaminergic and adrenergic systems. In the rat models, supressor effects of serotonin have been demonstrated on ejaculation. However various serotonin receptors may effect ejaculation in different ways [17]. Somatodendritic 5HT1A stimulation shortens ejaculatory latency time, conversely postsynaptic 5HT2c stimulation causes ejaculation inhibition. selective alpha 1 receptor antagonists like tamsulosin and alfuzosin are responsible from decreased ejaculate volume [18].

Mirtazapine is a noradrenergic and specific serotonergic antidepressant. It has a unique receptor binding profile, differentiating from other antidepressants. Mirtazapine increases serotonergic and noradrenergic stimulation, regardless of reuptake inhibition. Alpha 2 auto receptor plays a crucial role in acting mechanism of mirtazapine and its' antagonism causes disinhibition of serotonergic and noradrenergic transmission. Likewise, mirtazapine blocks 5HT2c and 5HT3 [19].

To date, in most cases changing or stopping medication recommended to manage spontaneous

ejeculations. To the best of our knowledge, almost all antidepressants are related with this side effect, also less is known about how to manage spontaneous ejeculation if patient refuses to change medication with this side effect. Our case is important in terms of demonstrating mirtazapine combination as an option to manage spontaneous ejaculation. Mirtazapine was chosen in this patient for two reasons. First, combination of mirtazapine with antidepressants is suggested by previous studies, to relieve sexual side effects and second mirtazapine itself has fewer sexual side effects [7]. Furthermore, alpha 2 agonistic and 5HT2c and 5HT3 antagonistic properties of mirtazapine are believed to relieve diminished sexuality in depression and sexual side effects of antidepressants [9]. In this context, alpha 2 agonism and 5HT2c and 5HT3 antagonism of mirtazapine could be the potential regulatory mechanisms that stopped spontaneous ejaculation in our case.

Conclusion

Management of spontaneous ejaculation with mirtazapine hasn't been reported before. It is the first case report suggests combination of mirtazapine as a novel option to treat spontaneous ejaculation caused by antidepressants.

Informed Consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests with respect to the authorship and/or publication of this article.

References

[1] Clerc GE, Ruimy P, Verdeau-Pailles J. A double-blind comparison of venlafaxine and fluoxetine in patients hospitalized for major depression and melancholia. Int Clin Psychopharmacol. 1994

Sep;9(3):139-43.

[2] Montejo AL, Llorca G, Izquierdo JA, Rico-Villademoros F. Incidence of sexual dysfunction associated with antidepressant agents: a prospective multicenter study of 1022 outpatients. Spanish Working Group for the Study of Psychotropic-Related Sexual Dysfunction. J Clin Psychiatry. 2001;62(Suppl 3):10–21.
[3] Dording CM, Mischoulon D, Petersen TJ, Kornbluh R, Gordon J, Nierenberg AA, et al. The pharmacologic management of SSRI-induced side effects: a survey of psychiatrists. Ann Clin Psychiatry. 2002 Sep;14(3):143–7.

[4] Sivrioglu EY, Topaloglu VC, Sarandol A, Akkaya C, Eker SS, Kirli S. Reboxetine induced erectile dysfunction and spontaneous ejaculation during defecation and micturition. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol Psychiatry. 2007 Mar 30;31(2):548–50.
[5] Yanik M. Spontaneous orgasm started with venlafaxine and continued with citalopram. Can J Psychiatry. 2004 Nov;49(11):786.
[6] Belli H, Aslaner D, Ural C, Vardar MK, Yesilyurt S, Gul ES. Escitalopram related erectile dysfunction and spontaneous ejaculation during micturition. West Indian Med J. 2010 Dec;59(6):715–6.
[7] Gelenberg AJ, Laukes C, McGahuey C, Okayli G, Moreno F, Zentner L, et al. Mirtazapine substitution in SSRI-induced sexual dysfunction. J Clin Psychiatry. 2000 May;61(5):356-60.

[8] Shimojo M, Imai Y, Nakajima K, Mizushima S, Uemura A, Kohsaka S. Interleukin-2 enhances the viability of primary cultured rat neocortical neurons. Neurosci Lett. 1993 Mar 19;151(2):170–3.
[9] Boyarsky BK, Haque W, Rouleau MR, Hirschfeld R. Sexual functioning in depressed outpatients taking mirtazapine. Depress Anxiety. 1999;9(4):175–9.

[10] Oosterhuis I, Heijting L, van Puijenbroek E. Spontaneous ejaculation with the use of noradrenergic reuptake inhibitors. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2012 Oct;68(10):1461–2.

[11] O'Flynn R, Michael A. Reboxetine-induced spontaneous ejaculation. Br J Psychiatry. 2000 Dec;177:567–8.

[12] Micheal A, Ramana R. Nefazodone-induced spontaneous ejaculation. Br J Psychiatry. 1996 Nov;169(5):672–3.

[13] Wang PW, Wang SY, Huang CJ. Zotepine-induced spontaneous ejaculation. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2008 Nov;46(11):571–3.

[14] Yoshida K, Higuchi H, Takahashi H, Shimizu T. Ejaculation after defecation without orgasm induced by milnacipran. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2004 Fall;16(4):544.

[15] Virit O, Savas HA. Citalopram-associated spontaneous ejaculations. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2008 Jun;28(3):360–1.
[16] Safarinejad MR. Safety and efficacy of escitalopram in the treatment of premature ejaculation: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, fixed-dose, randomized study. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2007 Oct;27(5):444–50.

[17] Giuliano F, Clément P. Physiology of ejaculation: emphasis on serotonergic control. Eur Urol. 2005 Sep;48(3):408–17.

[18] Hellstrom WJG, Sikka SC. Effects of acute treatment with tamsulosin versus alfuzosin on ejaculatory function in normal volunteers. J Urol. 2006 Oct;176(4 Pt 1):1529–33.

[19] Stahl SM. Stahl's essential psychopharmacology: neuroscientific basis and practical applications. Cambridge University Press; 2013.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.160

Case Report

Fifteen-year treatment of metastatic thyroid medullary carcinoma: a case report

Ozen Oz Gul¹, Soner Cander², Pinar Sisman¹, Erdinc Erturk¹, Canan Ersoy¹

¹Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Uludag University Medical School, Bursa, Turkey ²Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Although very rare, medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC) is the most aggressive in differentiated thyroid malignancies. We report a 48-year-old male patient with the diagnosis of MTC, who was monitored for fifteen years and showed no serious adverse events due to long-term chemotherapy. Total thyroidectomy, neck dissection, retrosternal nodule excision and pericardiectomy were performed, and radiotherapy was applied to the neck area. Due to progressive metastatic disease cyclophosphamide, dacarbazine, and vincristine were administrated. He tolerated chemotherapy well, and no severe systemic side effects were detected. He died due to multi-organ failure after fifteen years of diagnosis. The only curative treatment is surgery in MTC, however; radiotherapy, chemotherapy, and embolization may be used for patients for whom surgery cannot be performed. Although success rates of systemic chemotherapy are low, it is a treatment option in the progressive metastatic disease.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3):160-164

Keywords: Medullary thyroid carcinoma; metastatic; chemotherapy; thyroid cancer

Introduction

Medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC) accounts for 5 to 10% of all thyroid malignancies and shows more aggressive progression than papillary and follicular carcinomas. Average age is approximately 50 years and it is reported that the disease is slightly more common in women. Although the most common initial complaint is painless swelling on the neck, dysphagia, dysphonia and dyspnea may also be seen. It is reported that 75% of MTC cases are sporadic and 25% are familial (multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2A or 2B or isolated familial medullary thyroid cancer).

While Ret proto-oncogene mutation is detected in more than 95% of familial medullar cancers, Ret

Address for correspondence:

Ozen Oz Gul, MD, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Uludag University Medical School, Bursa, Turkey Email: drozenoz@gmail.com Received: 26.07.2015; Accepted: 18.09.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015

somatic mutation is detected in 40 to 70% of cases in sporadic medullar thyroid carcinoma [1-3]. Calcitonin, calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP), carcinoembryogenic antigen (CEA) and serotonin are released from tumor tissue. Calcitonin is the most specific circulating and immunohistochemical marker for MTC, widely employed for diagnostic purposes [2, 3]. Calcitonin is increased in all the cases of clinically palpable MTC; however, in smaller tumors and C-cells hyperplasia. Patients with MTC should be followed postoperatively with periodic measurement of serum markers such as calcitonin and CEA that indicate residual disease. If a patient has a persistently elevated serum calcitonin concentration after total thyroidectomy and regional node dissection, neck ultrasound, CT, MRI and/or PET should be done. Over all survival rates in MTC can be favorable, with a mean survival of 75 - 85% at 10 years [4]. MTC is most aggresive in patients with MEN 2 B, less aggressive in sporadic type, and least aggresive in MEN 2A and familial MTC. This disease usually follows an indolent course even at the stage of distant spread. Some patients with distant metastases may not survive years without systemic treatment. Although the primary treatment is surgery, other treatment options such as embolization, radiotherapy and chemotherapy are available for patients who have local relapse, distant metastasis, or those who cannot be operated. Systemic chemotherapy may be used in patients who have diffuse metastasis, progressive disease and those for whom there is no curative surgical option. Common chemotherapy protocols include single administration of doxorubicin, single administration of cisplatin, dacarbazin-5-florouracyl in combination, doxorubicin-cisplatin combination, cyclophosphamide-vincristine-dacarbazine, and a combination of doxorubicin-5-florouracyl-etopcyde-

combination of doxorubicin-5-florouracyl-etopcydecyclophosphamide. Toxicity rates of these treatments are low and response rates do not exceed 20% [1, 2].

Case Presentation

A 48-year-old male patient presented to our clinic due to swelling on the neck, which first appeared in 1994. The patient had diarrhea and systemic examination revealed multiple nodules in the thyroid

sheets of cells separated by a pink-staining substance that stains with Congo red. Cervical exploration and sternotomy were performed, but a residual tumor was detected 3 months after the operation. There was no abnormal elevation of serum calcitonin level; 32 sessions, including cyclophosphamide, dacarbazine, and vincristine, were administrated between 1995 and 1998. Local relapse was detected in 1998 and radiotherapy was applied to the neck area. No recurrence or relapse was observed in the patient Between 1998 and 2002. During this period, we didn't apply any treatment to the patient. Due to increased serum calcitonin levels in 2002, 6 more courses of chemotherapy were administrated to the patient; pericardiectomy was performed due to pericardial MTC invasion in 2004. Cervical lymph node dissection in 2005 and cervical dissection in 2006 were performed due to local relapse. In 2006, multipl and different size of paratracheal, bilateral hilar, retrosternal, infraclavicular, right axillary lymph node metastases were detected and the patient was re-evaluated by chest surgery. The operation was found inappropriate and the patient was taken into the chemotherapy program again, but this was subsequently discontinued due to failure in general status and chachexia (Figure 1). After improvement in patient's condition we decided to continue with the chemotherapy and a total of 85 courses of same chemotherapy were administrated until 2009. Thus, the 32 cycle of cyclophosphamide, dacarbazine, and vincristine, were administrated between 1995 and 1998. In 2002, 6 cycle of chemotherapy were applied. Forthy-seven cycle of chemotherapy were administrated between 2006 and 2009. The patient tolerated chemotherapy well during this period and no severe systemic side effects were detected. Chemotherapy was terminated due to side effects such as medication resisted nausea-vomiting in 2009. The patient died due to multi-organ failure 8 months after discontinuation of the treatment.

gland. A fine needle aspiration (FNA) biopsy of

the thyroid was malign; the patient was therefore

referred to surgery. As the frozen section result

indicated MTC, total thyroidectomy, neck dissection,

retrosternal nodule excision were performed the

patient. Microscopically, these tumors consist of

Discussion

Generally, the initial complaint prompting hospital visit is the existence of a thyroid nodule or cervical lymphadenopathy. However, dysphonia, dysphagia and dyspnea which are developed due to local invasion may be the reason for the first application; and far metastases are detected in 10 to 15 % of patients at the moment of diagnosis [3]. Cervical lymph node involvement is common, and it is reported that involvement of central and ipsilateral lymph nodes are more common compared to other lymph sites. It is also reported that lymph node involvement of diagnosis is approximately 50% in MTC. Contralateral and mediastinal lymph node involvement reach up to

50 to 60% in cases of local invasive disease [2, 5]. MTC distant metastases are frequently observed in mediastinum, lung, liver, abdominal lymph nodes and bone. Cervical and mediastinal lymph node metastasis were detected in our patient at the time diagnosis.

Primary treatment of MTC is surgical. The purpose in the initial surgery should be to remove all tumor tissues and lymph nodes due to increased risk of complication in subsequent surgeries. High calcitonin and CEA levels postoperatively may indicate metastatis and should be evaluated. If metastases are large and located in areas that are easy to remove, they should be removed surgically



Figure 1. Calcitonin and CEA levels by year

[5, 6]. Other treatment options, such as radiation treatment, chemotherapy and embolization, are applied for patients for whom surgery is not an option [7, 8].

MTC generally progresses slowly and it is considered that the course of the disease is even slower with distant metastasis [8]. Typical survival rates are not known in metastatic MTC, due to insufficient number of studies and patients with MTC, and the non-homogenous distribution of the patients who were involved in those studies. Prognosis and treatment effectiveness are largely related to the tumour stage [9]. Early diagnosis is essential in patients with MTC, in order to obtain the best cure rate. Chemotherapy is recommended for a small proportion of the patients who have rapid, progressive metastatic disease and digress from natural progress of MTC [8]. Success rates of cytotoxic chemotherapy are quite low in metastatic MTC and rates varying between 2 and 25% are reported [8]. Doxorubicin has been the most frequently reported agent with a response rate probably not higher than 15-20%, all responses being partial and transient and with high toxicities [8]. Combination of doxorubicin with other drugs such as cisplatin [10], or streptozocin [11] did not increase the response rate. Many regimens have been tried in systemic chemotherapy, including a combination of cyclophosphamide, vincristine and dacarbazine; Wu et al. [12] reported on seven patients with progressive MTC who were treated by this combination. Calcitonin and CEA were measured regularly before the treatment and until detection of progression of the disease. That the study reported partial response in 2 patients who were followed-up for 14 and 29 months; partial biochemical response in 1 patient who was followed for 9 months, stable disease in 1 patient who was followed for 14 months and progressive disease in 3 patients throughout the study period. It was emphasized that chemotherapy was well tolerated in general, but efficacy was intermediate [12]. The amount of number of chemotherapy is not known in metastatic MTC, due to insufficient number of studies and patients with MTC. The alternating therapies using 5-florouracile-streptozosine and 5florouracile-dacarbazine have been used. Select tyrosine kinases inhibitors have been of interest for the treatments of advanced MTC, given the oncogenic role of mutations in the tyrosine kinase RET, as well as the contributory roles of tyrosine kinases in growth factor receptors such as VEGFR [13]. These drugs partially inhibit multiple kinases and often affect multiple signaling pathways. So availability of effective tyrosine kinases inhibitors (TKIs; vandetanib, cabozantinib, etc) is changing the standard approach in MTC, further limiting the role of cytotoxic agents [14]. Thus, there is a trend toward using traditional cytotoxic agents as a salvage therapy in MTC or reserved for patients who are unable to participate in clinical trials or have failed or cannot tolerate kinase inhibitors. TKIs as fist line therapy but these drugs are only available after systemic cytotoxic treatment in Turkey with special permission. Because of our clinical experience is much more in the combination of cyclophosphamide, vincristine and dacarbazine, we treated our patient with this combination therapy. Our case of metastatic disease showed stable

Our case of metastatic disease showed stable progression and we did not observe any severe toxicity due to medication.

In another study, no response was seen with a single chemotherapeutic agent and alternating therapies using 5-florouracile-streptozosine and 5florouracile-dacarbazine were administrated to 20 metastatic patients every 3 weeks [15]. On average, 5-florouracile-sterptozosine was applied 4 times and 5-florouracile-dacarbazine was applied 5 times. Partial response was observed in 3 patients, stable disease in 11 patients and progressive disease in 6 patents. Since severe medication side effects were not observed, emphasis was placed on preference for regimens including medications used in this treatment. We also applied combination therapy including dacarbazine with our patient. The disease showed stable progression with this treatment over a period of 15 years.

Toxicity and side effects are important factors which limit the long-term use of chemotherapeutic medications [14-16]. Cyclophosphamide is an alkylating agent, the most important side effect of which is cardiotoxicity (such as congestive heart failure, cardiac necrosis, and pericardial tamponade). Cardiotoxicity is especially observed in high dose or long term treatments and the risk for cardiotoxicity increases when used with other alkylating agents. Additional side effects include nausea, vomiting, alopecia, hemorrhagic cystitis, bone marrow suppression, hepatotoxicity, flushing, inappropriate ADH syndrome, hyponatremia, and secondary malignancy. Vincristine is a vinca alkaloid, the most important side effect of which limits its use is peripheral neuropathy. Although this side effect is more common when it is used in patients over 40 years and in repetitive doses, it was also reported after a single dose. Dacarbazine is also an alkylating agent, of which the most important side effect is myelosuppression. We used combination treatment including cyclophosphamide (750 mg/m2), vincristine (1.4 mg/m2) and dacarbazine (600 mg/m2) every 3 weeks. Intermittently, 85 courses were administrated to our patient and no severe side effects were observed except slight nausea, vomiting and mild myelosuppression. Cardiology consultation was requested for cardiotoxicity and physical examination, ECG and ECHO examination results of the patient were reported to be normal. The patient also evaluated for peripheral neuropathy and neurological examination and ENMG were found to be normal.

Metastatic thyroid medullar carcinoma is a type of malignancy for which current treatments are unsuccessful; therefore, new treatment options are being developed. The use of systemic chemotherapies is limited due to toxicities, side effects and limited success rates. However, chemotherapy may prolong survival for appropriate patients whose progressive disease cannot be controlled by surgical treatment.

Informed Consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests with respect to the authorship and/or publication of this article.

References

[1] de Groot JW, Links TP, Plukker JT, Lips CJ, Hofstra RM. RET as a diagnostic and therapeutic target in sporadic and hereditary endocrine tumors. Endocr Rev. 2006 Aug;27(5):535-60. [2] Brandi ML, Gagel RF, Angeli A, Bilezikian JP, Beck-Peccoz P, Bordi C, et al. Guidelines for diagnosis and therapy of MEN type 1 and type 2. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001 Dec;86(12):5658-71. [3] Kouvaraki MA, Shapiro SE, Perrier ND, Cote GJ, Gagel RF, Hoff AO, et al. RET proto-oncogene: a review and update of genotypephenotype correlations in hereditary medullary thyroid cancer and associated endocrine tumors. Thyroid. 2005 Jun;15:531-44. [4] Moley J. Medullary thyroid carcinoma: management of lymph node metastases. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2010 May;8(5):549-56 [5] Moley JF, DeBenedetti MK. Patterns of nodal metastases in palpable medullary thyroid carcinoma: recommendations for extent of node dissection. Ann Surg. 1999 Jun;229(6):880-7; discussion 887-8.

[6] Cohen MS, Moley JF. Surgical treatment of medullary thyroid carcinoma. J Intern Med. 2003 Jun;253(6):616-26.

[7] Meijer JA, Bakker LE, Valk GD, de Herder WW, de Wilt JH, Netea-Maier RT, et al. Radioactive iodine in the treatment of medullary thyroid carcinoma: a controlled multicenter study. Eur J Endocrinol. 2013 Apr 15;168(5):779-86.

[8] Orlandi F, Caraci P, Mussa A, Saggiorato E, PancaniG, Angeli A. Treatment of medullary thyroid carcinoma: an update. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2001 Jun;8(2):135-47.

[9] Saad MF, Ordonez NG, Rashid RK, Guido JJ, Hill CS Jr, Hichey RC, et al. Medullary carcinoma of the thyroid. A study of the clinical features and prognostic factors in 161 patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 1984 Nov;63(6):319-42.

[10] Shimaoka K, Schoenfield DA, DeWys WD, Creech RH, DeConti R. A randomized trial of doxorubicin versus doxorubicin plus cisplatin in patients with advanced thyroid carcinoma. Cancer. 1985 Nov 1;56(9):2155-60.

[11] Kelson DP, Cheng E, Kemeny N, Magill GB, Yagoda A. Streptozotocin and adriamycin in the treatment of APUD tumors (carcinoid, islet cell and medullary carcinoma of the thyroid). Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res. 1982;13:111.

[12] Wu LT, Averbuch SD, Ball DW, de Bustros A, Baylin SB, McGuire WP 3rd. Treatment of advanced medullary thyroid carcinoma with a combination of cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and dacarbazine. Cancer. 1994 Jan 15;73(2):432-6.

[13] Nikiforova MN, Nikiforov YE. Molecular genetics of thyroid cancer: implications for diagnosis, treatment and prognosis. Expert Rev Mol Diagn. 2008 Jan;8(1):83-95.

[14] Zhang J, Yang PL, Gray NS. Targeting cancer with small molecule kinase inhibitors. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009 Jan;9(1):28-39.
[15] Schlumberger M, Abdelmoumene N, Delisle MJ, Couette JE, Group d'Etude des Tumeurs a' Calcitonine (GETC). Treatment of advanced medullary thyroid cancer with an alternating combination of 5 FU-streptozocin and 5FU-dacarbazine. Br J Cancer. 1995 Feb;71(2):363-5.

[16] Deutschbein T, Matuszczyk A, Moeller LC, Unger N, Yuece A, Lahner H, et al. Treatment of advanced medullary thyroid carcinoma with a combination of cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and dacarbazine: a single-center experience. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes. 2011 Oct;119(9):540-3.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.2015.1.3.165

Case Report

Popliteal artery injury due to blunt trauma: delayed diagnosis and treatment

Deniz Demir¹, Mustafa Abanoz², Kadir Ceviker³, Yalcin Yontar⁴, Burak Erdolu¹, Nail Kahraman¹

¹ Department of Cardiovasculary Surgery, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

²Department of Cardiovasculary Surgery, Mehmet Akif Inan Traning and Research Hospital, Sanliurfa, Turkey

³Department of Cardiovasculary Surgery, Suleyman Demirel University, Faculty of Medicine, Isparta, Turkey

⁴ Department of Plastic Surgery, Mehmet Akif Inan Traning and Research Hospital, Sanliurfa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Despite the appropriate treatment, the rate of amputation in popliteal artery injuries is still high in current practice. Hence, early diagnosis and treatment are extremely important in cases with such vascular injuries to save extremities. We present a 30-year-old male patient with popliteal artery injury, who had diagnosed 20 hours after internal fixation of the femoral fracture. He successfully underwent arterial repair.

Eur Res J 2015;1(3)165-168

Keywords: Blunt trauma; delayed diagnosis; popliteal artery injury; vascular surgery

Introduction

The amputation rates due to popliteal artery injury in lower extremity traumas are quite high despite the appropriate treatment. The diagnosis of vascular injuries especially after blunt traumas of the extremities can be quite difficult in some cases, causing delayed treatment. Delayed diagnosis and treatment may cause neurological damage and loss of extremity [1, 2].

In this report, the successful delayed treatment of a popliteal artery injury due to blunt trauma following a traffic accident was presented. Neurological deficit related with delayed treatment and complications of compartment syndrome were discussed with reviewing the literature.

Case Presentation

A 30-year-old male patient admitted to the emergency department with complaints of pain, coldness and swelling of the left leg. In his history, he had a traffic accident the day before and internal fixation was performed due to left femur fracture at other hospital. The patient was transferred to our cardiovascular surgery clinic with complaints

Address for correspondence:

Deniz Demir, MD, Department of Cardiovasculary Surgery, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey Email: denizzdr@msn.com Received: 09.10.2015; Accepted: 29.09.2015: Published Online: 04.11.2015 of swelling and pain in the left leg after the initial treatment. During the examination, on physical examination, his left leg was extremely swollen, tight and cold. Both femoral arteries were strongly palpable during pulse examination whereas left leg distal pulses were non-palpable below the left popliteal artery. Arterial pulses of the right leg were palpable. Sensorial loss and motor deficit was determined during the neurological examination of the left leg. A clear image could not be achieved by the Doppler examination due to widespread edema. Computerized tomographic angiography (CTA) study showed total occlusion of the popliteal artery at the upper knee region (Figure 1).

The patient was taken to the operating theatre for immediate surgery. Under general anesthesia the popliteal artery was explored via posterior popliteal incision. Hematoma of 600 ml was removed from the Hunter channel and the popliteal region. Popliteal artery was occluded. No injury was determined in the popliteal vein and nerve. After intravenous administration of 5000 IU unfractioned heparin, embolectomy was carried out on the distal and proximal artery segments by Fogarty embolectomy catheter. The thrombus materials inside the distal and proximal artery segments were removed. Following embolectomy, retrograde blood flow from the distal segment and normal blood flow from the proximal artery was achieved. The damaged segment of the popliteal artery was excised. Popliteal artery was suitable for end-toend primary repair. After mobilization of the proximal and distal arterial segments, the end to end anastomosis was done by 6/0 prolene suture. There was tension in the left leg compartments. Hence, multiple fasciotomies were performed in the same session (Figure 2). Distal pulses were palpable after the operation and motor deficit regressed. Leg edema reduced during the one month follow-up and fasciotomy incisions were closed 5 weeks after the first operation. The patient was discharged at the postoperative 45th day. Left leg pulses were palpable and the left lower extremity neurological examinations were normal at the time of discharge.



Figure 1. Imaging of computerized tomographic angiography of occluded popliteal artery at the upper knee region.



Figure 2. The appearance of postoperative fasciatomy.

Discussion

Even though the ratio of popliteal artery injury is low, it causes a high rate of amputation due to complications. The amputation rate following popliteal artery injury is reported to be between 37%-65% [1, 3]. The reperfusion time is crucial in vascular injuries. Ischemia duration of over 7 hours and the development of compartment syndrome are significant factors that increase the risk of amputation [1]. Another factor that increases the amputation risk following vascular injuries is skeletal trauma. Wani et.al. [4] stated that the saved extremity ratio was 85% for patients with both vascular damage and skeletal trauma whereas this ratio was 100% for the patients with no accompanying skeletal trauma . Left leg femur fracture was present in this case following blunt trauma and the femur fracture was initially treated with internal fixation. However, the vascular injury was somehow overlooked. Appropriate treatment including revascularization was carried out even though the ischemia duration of 20 hours and distinct compartment syndrome.

The symptoms and findings known as "hard signs" and "soft signs" are determined for vascular injury diagnosis. Active bleeding or hematoma widening, feeling of thrill at the lesion site and ischemia are among the hard signs. Bone fracture / soft tissue damage as well as the existence of pathologies such as hematoma and knee dislocation are known as "Soft signs". These patients should be examined frequently by Doppler ultrasonography. CTA or conventional angiography are also useful for the diagnosis of these patients. Primary end-toend repair is suggested as the treatment of choice in popliteal artery injuries. However reversed saphenous vein graft should be preferred in cases of which a graft interposition is required [5].

Compartment syndrome can be diagnosed with a clinical suspicion and the patients should be examined closely with the foresight that compartment syndrome might develop in patients following extremity ischemia of over 6 hours and the existence of popliteal vein ligation. Early prophylactic fasciotomy carried out prior to the signs of tissue loss in patients is preferred instead of therapeutic fasciotomy. This ratio is stated to be 64% in some series [6]. Compartment syndrome in the left leg was detected in this case during vascular repair. The patient was diagnosed late and thus the leg was ischemic and fasciotomy was applied just after the revascularization. It is stated in literature that complete occlusion of popliteal artery following blunt trauma was treated successfully after a delay of 10 hours but that a neurological damage remained in the related extremity [2].

In this case, it was observed that the neurological deficit in the left lower extremity determined prior to the operation regressed afterwards. Collateral circulation can be effective in the regression of the neurological deficit despite a delay of 20 hours. The existence of retrograde blood flow following the embolectomy on the distal PA site during the operation supports this hypothesis.

Conclusion

Early diagnosis and revascularization are crucial for preventing the possible amputation that might occur after vascular traumas. However, in cases such as this one where the diagnosis is delayed, extremity loss can be prevented by a proper surgical operation. It should not be forgotten that Doppler ultrasonography will not always be enough for diagnosis in patients with blunt trauma and that the vascular pathology should be verified via CTA or conventional angiography for suspicious cases.

Informed Consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Conflict of interests

The authors declared that there are no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

[1] Banderker MA, Navsaria PH, Edu S, Bekker W, Nicol AJ, Naidoo N. Civilian popliteal artery injuries. S Afr J Surg. 2012 Nov 12;50(4):119-23.

[2] Harmandar B, Saglam N, Ozdamar I. Successful repair of complete popliteal artery rupture due to blunt trauma. Turk Gogus Kalp Dama. 2011;19(3):443-5.

[3] Sahin MA, Guler A, Kadan M. Popliteal artery injuries. J Clin Anal Med. 2011;2(3):144-8.

[4] Wani ML, Ahangar AG, Ganie FA, Wani SN, Lone GN, Dar AM, et al. Pattern, presentation and management of vascular injuries due to pellets and rubber bullets in a conflict zone. J Emerg Trauma Shock. 2013 July-September;6(3):155-8.

[5] Vascular Injuries, Emergency War Surgery Fourth United States Revision 2013. Borden Institute US Army Medical Department Center and School Fort Sam Houston, Texas Office of The Surgeon General United States Army Falls Church, Virginia. 2013; Chapter 25:357-75.

[6] Pourzand A, Fakhri BA, Azhough R, Hassanzadeh MA, Hashemzadeh S, Bayat AM. Management of high-risk popliteal vascular blunt trauma: clinical experience with 62 cases. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2010;6:613-8.